### University of Alberta

Transcriptome and proteome based survey to identify aluminum-responsive genes in roots of Arabidopsis thaliana

by

Manjeet Kumari

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Plant Biology

Department of Biological Sciences

©Manjeet Kumari Spring 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission

## **Examining Committee**

- Dr. Gregory Taylor, Biological Sciences
- Dr. Michael Deyholos, Biological Sciences
- Dr. Allen Good, Biological Sciences
- Dr. Habibur Rahman (Internal), Agriculture, Food, and Nutrition Sciences (AFNS)
- Dr. Patrick Gulick (External), University of Concordia

## **Dedication**

This thesis is dedicated in memory of my father Late Mr. Gulzari L Bhuttay who always wanted a doctor in the family and to my husband Rajesh for his unconditional support.

#### Abstract

Aluminum (Al) stress is a major limitation to crop productivity on acidic soils. To help understand the cellular mechanisms underlying the toxicity and resistance of plants to Al, this thesis involved a large-scale, transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of roots of Arabidopsis thaliana and reports on comparative analysis of transcriptome and proteome of Al stress responses. Using a microarray representing  $\sim 93\%$  of the predicted genes in Arabidopsis, a relatively small proportion (3%) of transcripts were detected as Alresponsive. More changes in the transcriptome were detected after long-term (48 h; 1,114 genes), than short-term (6 h; 401 genes) with relatively little overlap of transcripts detected for each time point. These results suggest that Al toxicity is progressive over time and poses some unique challenges to plants. Further, using two dimensional differential in gel electrophores is (DiGE), 12 (6 h) and 17 (48 h) proteins were found differentially abundant after Al exposure. Most of the identified proteins were involved in primary metabolism and oxidative stress. Cytosolic-malate dehydrogenase (cyt-MDH) was one of the novel Al-responsive protein identified in this study. Transcript abundance of cyt-MDH correlated well with protein abundance, suggesting that cyt-MDH is regulated in part at transcriptional level. Furthermore, homozygous mdh-1 and mdh-2 mutants were more resistant to Al as compared to WT suggesting that regulation of cyt-MDH could play a role in Al resistance. In general, comparative analysis of proteomics data and transcriptomics data showed a poor correlation for both 6 h ( $r^2 = 0.155$ ) and 48 h  $(r^2 = 0.083).$ 

The potential role of five class III peroxidases (*PER2, PER27, PER34, PER42, PER69*) in resistance of roots to Al was explored using quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR and a reverse genetics approach. A diverse range of patterns of transcript abundance was detected using QRT-PCR in response to Al. Furthermore, *per2, per21, and per69* 

mutants showed greater increases in root lengths as compared to WT after Al stress suggesting that regulation of *PER* might play a role in Al resistance. These results contribute to the identification of candidate genes for the generation of Al-resistant transgenic plants.

#### Acknowledgments

I wish to thanks my co-supervisors Dr. Gregory Taylor and Dr. Mike Deyholos for their valuable suggestions, patience and guidance throughout my program. I am sure that Greg's insistence for perfection and Mike's insistence for efficiency would continue to help me in future. I consider myself fortunate to have two supervisors because it increased my learning process by two fold. I am thankful to Dr. Allen Good his valuable suggestions and thought provoking questions during my committee meetings. I am thankful to Julie Stephen and Urmila Basu for setting my hands to work in right direction in the beginning of my program. Also, I am thankful to all coworkers of Deyholos lab, especially Mary DePauw, and all members of Taylor lab for their helpfulness and generous attitude. I would fail in my duty to thank them if I will not mention their strict adherence to the use of toxic chemicals in fume hood when I was pregnant. I thank Tory Locke for help with QRT-PCR, Paul Semchuk for help with mass spectrometry, Glen Law and his team for their help to maintain my growth chambers. I thank Dr. Heather MacDermid and Dr.Rolf Vinebrook and their immediate staff for supporting my maternity leave. I thank Department of Biological sciences for financial help by offering a teaching assistantship. I am thankful to my family in India, especially, my mother Mrs.Swarn Bhuttay and brothers Kuldeep and Pardeep for instating positive qualities in me that helped me to keep a positive attitude in difficult times. Without the help of my husband Rajesh, I would not be writing this thesis. So many thanks for his unconditional support. In last but not least I thank my daughter Eisha for her patience while I was writing this thesis. She invariably taught me that no matter how many times you fall but as long as you get back on your feet then one day you will be running and difficult to catch!

# Table of contents

Chapter		Dagano
1. Gene	ral introduction	r age no.
	1.1. General	1
	1.2. Aluminum: distribution and complex chemistry of ionization	1
	1.3. Aluminum toxicity: anatomical, physiological, and biochemical basi	s2
	1.3.1. Cellular uptake of aluminum	3
	1.3.2. Inhibition of root length elongation	5
	1.3.3. Cell wall	6
	1.3.4. Plasma membrane	7
	1.3.5. Cytoskeleton	10
	1.3.6. Generation of reactive oxygen species	11
	1.4. Signal Transduction	12
	1.4.1. IP3/DAG pathway	12
	1.4.2. MAPK pathway	13
1	1.5. Amelioration of aluminum toxicity	13
	1.5.1. Calcium	14
	1.5.2. Magnesium	14
	1.5.3. Silicon	15
	1.5.4. Boron	15
	1.6. Aluminum resistance	15
	1.6.1. Detoxification of aluminum by secretion of organic anions	19
	1.6.2. Genetics of aluminum resistance	20
	1.6.2.1. Comparative genetics of aluminum resistance in cereals	20
	1.6.3. Quantitative inheritance of aluminum resistance	

1.7. Proteins regulated by aluminum stress	5
1.8. Genes regulated by aluminum stress	ļ
1.9. Literature cited	5

## 2. Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of Arabidopsis

2.1. Introduction.	63
2.2. Materials and methods	65
2.2.1. Plant growth and exposure to stress	65
2.2.2. Isolation of RNA and microarray hybridization	66
2.2.3. Quantitative reverse-transcription PCR (QRT-PCR) analysis	67
2.3. Results	69
2.3.1. Microarray based expression profiling	69
2.3.2. Cellular pathways and functional categories of transcripts	
responsive to aluminum	72
2.3.2.1. Oxidative stress responses	72
2.3.2.2. Transporters	74
2.3.2.3. Energy and primary metabolism	77
2.3.2.4. Polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism	78
2.3.2.5. Protein metabolism	80
2.3.2.6. Signaling and hormones	81
2.3.2.7. Transcription factors	83
2.3.3. Validation of microarray data	84
2.4. Discussion	86
2.5. Literature cited	110

## 3. Analysis of changes in root proteome in Arabidopsis after aluminum stress

3.1.	Introduction				
------	--------------	--	--	--	--

3.2. Materials and methods	122
3.2.1. Plant material and growth conditions	122
3.2.2. Root elongation.	123
3.2.3. Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (QRT-PCR) analysis	123
3.2.4. PCR to determine homozygous insertion mutations	124
3.2.5. Protein extraction.	124
3.2.6. Protein labeling with Cye yes	125
3.2.7. 1 <sup>st</sup> dimension and 2 <sup>nd</sup> dimension gel electrophoresis	125
3.2.8. Gel scanning, data acquisition and processing	126
3.2.9. Spot identification	127
3.2.10. Cytosolic fractionation and enzyme activity	
3.3. Results	129
3.3.1. DIGE based expression profiling of proteins after aluminum	
stress	129
3.3.1.1. Energy and primary metabolism	130
3.3.1.2. Oxidative stress	131
3.3.1.3. Amino acid and protein metabolism	132
3.3.2. Comparison of proteomic data with transcriptomic data	133
3.3.3. Characterization of role of cyt-MDH under aluminum stress	134
3.4. Discussion	137
3.5. Literature cited	161
. Identifying the role of Class III plant peroxidases under aluminum stress u	ısing

## a reverse genetics approach

4.1. Introduction.	168
4.2. Materials and methods	171

4.2.1. Plant material and growth conditions
4.2.2. Aluminum treatment
4.2.3. Root elongation, shoot area, and dry weight measurements
4.2.4. Isolation of RNA and QRT-PCR174
4.3. Results
4.3.1. Comparison of root elongation of WT and per mutants after
aluminum treatment177
4.3.2. Inhibition of leaf area expansion
4.4. Discussion
4.5. Literature cited
5. General discussion and conclusions
5.1. Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of Arabidopsis203
5.2. Proteome analysis of the aluminum stress response in roots of
Arabidops is
5.3. Reverse genetics approach to identify role of Class III plant peroxidases
under aluminum stress
5.4. Future prospects
5.5. Literature cited

## List of Tables

Table 1.1. Organic anions released from plant species in response to aluminum stress27
Table 1.2. Aluminum-responsive genes identified in various plant species
Table 1.3. Engineering aluminum resistance in plant species using TCA cycle
enzymes
Table 1.4. Engineering aluminum resistance using aluminum induced genes.    34
Table 2.1. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to oxidative stress responses
Table 2.2. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to transporters
Table 2.3. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to energy, primary metabolism,
polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism100
Table 2.4. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to protein metabolism
Table 2.5. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to signaling and hormones 104
Table 2.6. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to transcription factors
Table 2.7. Validation of microarray with QRT-PCR.    109
Table 3.1. Total number of protein spots picked and successfully identified in 6 h
and 48 h gels153
Table 3.2. List of proteins detected as differentially abundant after 6 h exposure
to aluminum154
Table 3.3. List of proteins detected as differentially abundant after 48 h exposure
to aluminum156
Supplemental Table 3.1. List of proteins that were excluded for comparison of
transcriptomic and proteomic data after 6 h and 48 h of aluminum
exposure159
Supplemental Table 3.2. Comparison between root proteomic and transcriptomic data
obtained after 6 h and 48 h exposures to aluminum160
Table 4.1. Classification of peroxidases

 Table 4.2. Selected genes from Class III plant peroxidase family that showed increased or

 decreased abundance at the transcript level after exposure to 6 h and 48 h

 aluminum treatments

## List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Growth of roots and shoots of 14 day old plants in the hydroponic	
system	92
Figure 2.2. Relative root growth increment (RRGI) of Arabidopsis after exposure to	
aluminum	93
Figure 2.3. Number of genes for which transcript abundance increased (up) or	
decreased (dn) by >1.5-fold or >2.0-fold compared to controls when roots	
of Arabidopsis were exposed to 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress	94
Figure 2.4. Functional categorization of genes for which transcript abundance increased	1
(up) or decreased (down) by $>1.5$ fold compared to controls when roots of	
Arabidopsis were exposed to 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress	95
Figure 2.5. Time course study of transcript profiling of five class III peroxidases in	
roots of Arabidops is exposed to 25 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> in hydroponics	96
Figure 3.1. Experimental design for analysis of stress proteome in roots of	
Arabidops is1	41
Figure 3.2. Representative DIGE gels of protein samples obtained after 6 h and 48 h	
of aluminum stress1	42
Figure 3.3. Aluminum induced catalytic proteins involved in glycolysis, TCA, and	
amino acid biosynthesis pathways1	43
Figure 3.4. Comparison of transcriptomic and proteomic data after 6 h and 48 h 1	44
Figure 3.5. Relative transcript abundance of MDH in roots of Arabidopsis after 1 h,	
6 h, 24 h, 48 h and 78 h of exposure to 25 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> 1	44
Figure 3.6. Agrose gel image of PCR products to show confirmation of homozygous	
T-DNA insertions in <i>mdh-1</i> and <i>mdh-2</i> insertion lines as compared to	
WT1	46

Figure 3.7. Confirmation of decreased relative abundance of MDH transcripts in
homozygous T-DNA insertion lines (mdh-1 and mdh-2) as compared
to WT147
Figure 3.8. Effect of aluminum treatment (0 $\mu$ M, 25 $\mu$ M) on growth of WT and two
homozygous T-DNA insertion lines ( <i>mdh-1</i> and <i>mdh-2</i> )148
Figure 3.9. Dry weights of roots, shoots, and, root/shoot ratio of two homozygous T-
DNA insertion lines (mdh-1 and mdh-2) and WT plants after 48 h of
aluminum exposure149
Figure 3.10. Growth of WT and T-DNA insertion lines ( <i>mdh-1</i> and <i>mdh-2</i> ) to compare
aluminum sensitivity
Figure 3.11. Enzyme activities of cyt-MDH in two separate fractions of cytosols 151
Figure 3.12. Diagrammatic representation of the reactions catalyzed by three
differentially abundant proteins (m-MDH, cyt-MDH, and malic enzyme)
involved in the malate metabolism and NADPH biosynthesis
Figure 4.1. Phylogenetic tree of the entire encoded protein sequences of Arabidopsis
peroxidases186
Figure 4.2. Phylogenetic tree of the promoter sequences of Arabidopsis peroxidases
based on the 1,000 bp regions upstream of the ATG codon
Figure 4.3. Distribution and overlapping pattern of 15 distinct PER genes after exposure
to aluminum for 6 h and 48 h
Figure 4.4. The time course of changes in relative transcript abundance of five class III
peroxidases in roots of Arabidopsis exposed to 25 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> 189
Figure 4.5. Localization of expression for PER2, PER21, and PER69 gene based on data
from Birnbaum at al. (2003) presented in eFP format (Winter et al. 2007). 190
Figure 4.6. Location of T-DNA insertion in six <i>per</i> mutants of Arabidopsis

Figure 4.7. Root lengths expressed as percent of control for WT and <i>per</i> mutants after
exposure to aluminum
Figure 4.8. Growth of WT and mutant plants after exposure to different concentrations of
aluminum for seven days193
Figure 4.9. Root lengths of WT and six <i>per</i> mutants after exposure to 150 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> 194
Figure 4.10. Shoot growth of WT and mutant plants under control (0 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> ) and
treatment conditions (150 $\mu$ M AlCl <sub>3</sub> )195
Figure 4.11. Effect of aluminum treatment on the surface area of first rosette leaves of
WT and six <i>per</i> mutants196

## List of Abbreviations

2-3BPGM,	bi-phosphoglycerate mutase
4CL,	4-coumarate:coa ligase
ABC,	ATP cassette binding transporters
AGI,	Arabidops is Genome Initiative
AKT2,	protein kinase B
ALMT1,	aluminum activated malate transporter
ALAAC,	aluminum activated anion channels
ADH,	alcohol dehydrogenase
Al,	aluminum
AP2/EREBP,	apetala-2/ ethylene-responsive element binding proteins
ABRC,	Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center
APX,	ascorbate peroxidase
ABC transporters,	ATP binding cassette transporter
ATCIMS,	cobalamin-independent methionine synthase
BHLH,	basic helix-loop-helix
COMT,	Caffeic acid O-ethyltransferase
CEC,	cation exchange capacity
C2H2	Cys2- His2
cDNA,	complementary DNA
CS,	cysteine synthase
C2C2-GATA,	GATA sequence binding transcription factor
DEZ,	distal elongation zone
DAG,	diacylglycerol
DIGE,	differential in-gel electrophoresis

DLD,	dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase
DSP,	dual Specific Phosphatases
DTT,	dithiothreitol
ECA,	ER-type Ca <sup>2+</sup> pump
eFP,	electronic fluorescent protein
EST,	expressed sequence tag
FDR,	false discovery rate
FBP,	aldolase, fructose biphosphate aldolase
GSH,	tripeptide glutathione
GH,	glycoside hydrolases
HSP,	heat shock protein
HAS,	hydroxyaluminosilicates
IAA,	indole acetic acid
IP <sub>3</sub> ,	inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate
IEF,	isoe lectric Focusing
LTP,	lipid transfer protein
ME,	malic enzyme
MIAME,	minimum information about microarray experiment
MT,	microtubule
m-MDH,	mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase
MDHAR,	monodehydroascorbate reductase
OASTL,	o-acetylserine thiol lyase enzyme
OA,	organic anion
PER,	class III plant peroxidase
PME,	pectin methylesterase
PPP,	pentose phosphate pathway

PPX-1,	phosphoprotein phosphatase
PA,	phosphatidic acid
PIP <sub>2</sub> ,	phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate
PLC,	phospholipase C
PL,	phospholipids
PM,	plasma membrane
PMSF,	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PP2C,	protein phosphatase 2C
PDC,	pyruvate dehydrogenase complex.
PVPP,	polyvinylpyrrolidone
QRT-PCR,	quantitative reverse transcription PCR
QTL,	quantitative trait loci
RIL,	recombinant inbred line
ROS,	reactive oxygen species
ST,	serine/threonine phosphatases
SL,	steryl lipids
SCS,	succinyl-coa ligase
SOD,	superoxide dismutase
TCA,	tricarboxylic acid
T-DNA,	transfer-DNA
TEMED,	tetramethylethylenediamine
TRX,	thioredoxins
TZ,	transition zone
UBC,	ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme
UTR,	un-translated region
WAK,	wall-associated receptor kinase

- WAK1, wall associated kinase-1
- WAKL, WAK-like kinase
- WU-BLAST, Washington university BLAST
- XTHs, xyloglucan endotransglycosylases

## 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. General

Abiotic and biotic stresses are integral components of natural ecosystems. Plants have unique abilities to cope with various stresses, despite being sessile. Although plants have evolved mechanisms to avoid or tolerate abiotic stresses, these still remain a major factor limiting crop yields (Boyer 1982, Bray et al. 2000). Fifty percent of world's agricultural soils are acidic (Von Uexküll and Mutert 1995). In these soils, acidity, aluminum (Al) toxicity, and reduced availability of some essential nutrients can reduce crop yields (Matsumoto 2000, Kochian et al. 2004). With changes in climate expected in the future, further reductions in crop yields may be anticipated (Olesen and Bindi 2002; Brouder and Volenec 2008). Therefore, development of stress resistant plants by engineering resistant genotypes has attracted much attention. Development of high throughput technologies such as microarrays has helped to characterise genome-wide screening of genes in responses to various stresses (Vij and Tyagi 2007). Similarly, proteomics based tools, such as 2D gel electrophoresis (DiGE), have helped to characterize proteins associated with stress and development processes in plants (Amme et al. 2006, Chivasa et al. 2006, Hotte and Deyholos 2008). In this thesis, these tools have been selected to identify transcriptomic and proteomic based responses to Al stress in roots of Arabidopsis (chapter 2 and chapter 3). These two data sets helped to focus on some candidate genes (chapter 3 and chapter 4) to better understand Al toxicity and resistance.

#### 1.2. Aluminum: distribution and complex chemistry of ionization

Aluminum is the most abundant metal present in the earth's crust. Most Al in the earth's crust occurs naturally as aluminosilicates and bauxite and has low bioavailability.

However, upon acidification, Al ionizes to a toxic form  $Al^{3+}$  that is absorbed by plant roots. At pH 7.4 and above,  $Al(H_20)_2(OH)_4$  dominates, upon acidification the relative ly insoluble  $Al(H_20)_3(OH)_3$  becomes predominant. As pH further decreases,  $Al(H_20)_4(OH)_2^+$ and  $Al(H_20)_5(OH)^{2+}$  predominate. At pH <5.0, Alexists as octahedral hexahydrate  $Al(H_2O)_6^{3+}$ , conventionally called  $Al^{3+}$  or monomeric Al (Kinraide 1991). When solution is partially neutralized, polynuc lear species of Al can also form such as triska ideaaluminum ( $AlO_4Al_{12}(OH)_{24}(H_2O_2)_{12}^{7+}$ ; commonly known as  $Al_{13}$  (Bertsch and Anderson 1989).

Kinraide and Parker (1989) demonstrated that Al solutions contain mononuclear species if  $[Al^{3+}]/[H^+] \le 10^{8.8}$ . At values above  $10^{8.8}$ , significant formation of  $Al_{13}$  or precipitation occurs. Monomeric Al can bind to oxygen donor ligands such as carboxylate, phosphate, and sulfate groups. Thus,  $Al^{3+}$  forms low molecular weight complexes with organic acid anions (OAs), inorganic phosphate, polyphosphate, and sulfate. Equilibrium constants are available for many the prominent reactions involving Al. Computer programs such as eALCHEMI, GEOCHEM, MINEQL<sup>+</sup> (Schecher and Driscoll 1987, Schecher and McAvoy 1992, Parker *et al.* 1995) use these equilibrium constants to predict concentrations and activities of Al species in a defined solution.

A considerable body of research has sought to determine which form(s) of Al, is (are) the most rhizotoxic species (Alva *et al.* 1986, Parker *et al.* 1988, Kinraide and Parker 1989). Kinraide (1991) concluded that Al toxic ity might be limited to polyvalent Al ions with charge  $\geq 2$  suggesting that Al<sup>3+</sup> and Al<sub>13</sub> are the most rhizotoxic forms of Al.

#### 1.3. Aluminum toxicity: anatomical, physiological, and biochemical basis

Exposure and uptake of Al in plants results in interaction of Al with the cell wall,

plasma membrane and several symplastic targets including the cytoskeleton, proteins and DNA. These interactions result in rapid inhibition of root elongation.

**1.3.1. Cellular uptake of aluminum:** There has been considerable debate about the movement of Al at the cellular level. Several authors have speculated that Al may not appear in the protoplasm immediately upon exposure (Rengel and Elliot 1992, Marienfeld *et al.* 1993). The cell wall was considered to be a large sink for Al that restricted the access of polyvalent ions to the membrane surface. In addition, it was suggested that cationic Al species may not move readily across the plasma membrane. Thus, the importance of extracellular injury in plant response to Al was speculated (Reid *et al.* 1996). Also, there has been debate over the passive or active binding of Al in the apoplasm. Most authors suggest that Al binds passively. Uptake of Al, in contrast, has also been suggested to include metabolism dependent binding of Al in the apoplasm (Zhang and Taylor 1990).

Direct evidence of Al transport across a plasma membrane came from the pioneering work of Taylor *et al.* (2000). These authors reported that Al is capable of crossing biological membranes within minutes of exposure using the rare <sup>26</sup>Al isotope. Aluminum was reported to accumulate in to the vacuole after 30 min of exposure and Al uptake saturated in the cell wall, avacuolate protoplasm, and vacuole within 12 to 24 h of exposure. One hypothesis suggests that entry of Al into the symplast occurs through weakly selective ion channels. For instance cationic Al<sup>3+</sup> is similar in ionic radius to Fe<sup>3+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>, therefore it has been postulated that Al can enter the symplasm through cation channels that would normally permeate Fe<sup>3+</sup> or Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Martin 1988). This hypothesis is supported by the observation that exposure to Al inhibits Mg<sup>2+</sup> transport (MacDiarmid and Gardner 1998). In bacterial systems, Al is thought to be transported via siderophores

(high-affinity iron chelating compounds), which can absorb and transport  $Al^{3+}$  (Winkler *et* al. 1986). Another possible mechanism of uptake of Al is through endocytosis (Akenson et al. 1989a and 1989b). Aluminum can be adsorbed tightly to the surface of plasma membrane which may result in depolarization and flipping of membrane (Akenson et al. 1989a, 1989b). Ezaki et al. (2007) recently showed that inhibition of endocytosis in root hair cells of Arabidopsis results in Al resistance using an enhancer-tagged mutant line, over- expressing the F9E10.5 gene. F9E10.5 gene encodes an auxilin-like protein related to the clathrin uncoating process in endocytosis. These studies provide some insight into the mechanism of Al uptake; however in the absence of direct evidence, these mechanisms remain speculative. Previous reports have suggested that the majority of absorbed Al (45-99.9%) is located in the apoplast (Zhang and Taylor 1989 and 1990, Tice et al. 1992, Rengel and Reid 1997, Taylor et al. 2000). The greatest accumulation of Al is proposed to occur in the first 30 µm (two to three cell layers), and elevated levels of Al can reach at least 150 µm inward from root border (Lazof et al. 1994, 1996). Recently, Babourina and Rengel (2009) used fluorescent lifetime imaging analysis to demonstrate that the primary sites for  $Al^{3+}$  entry in roots of Arabidops is are the meristem and distal elongation zones. They reported that intracellular concentrations of Al can increase from  $0.4 \,\mu\text{M}$  to 100  $\mu\text{M}$  Al within the first 3 h of exposure. Since substantial accumulation of Al in the root cell layers can occur as early as 30 min, these results correlate with direct measurement studies of Al uptake (Taylor et al. 2000) and with early effects of Al, such as inhibition of cell extension and cell division, that occur within several minutes after exposure.

**1.3.2. Inhibition of root elongation**: Aluminum begins to inhibit root elongation within minutes after exposure. In maize, Al-induced inhibition of root elongation occurs within

4

30 min (Llugany et al. 1995). Ryan et al. (1993) reported that exposure of the distal 2-3 mm of the root (root cap and meristem) is sufficient to inhibit root elongation. Although the root cap was hypothesized to be involved in signal perception and hormone distribution in response to Al (Bennet and Breen 1991), decapped roots were found to be equally sensitive to Al as intact roots (Ryan *et al.* 1993), suggesting the importance of the root meristem in Al toxicity (Delhaize and Ryan 1995). Sivaguru and Horst (1998) improved upon the experiments of Ryan et al. (1993), exposing 1 mm apical root zones of intact maize seedling to Al. In addition to measuring growth, they measured induction of callose formation and accumulation of Al in 1 mm sections along the root apex. They found that the 1 to 2 mm root zone had the highest levels of Al accumulation and Alinduced callose formation. Both observations were independent of whether Al was applied to individual apical root zones or uniformly to the whole-root apex (Sivaguru and Horst 1998). In maize, the 1-2 mm apical region corresponds to transition zone / distal elongation zone (TZ/DEZ) where the cells undergo a preparatory phase for rapid elongation (Baluska et al. 1996). Sivaguru and Horst (1998) concluded that the TZ/DEZ is the most sensitive region of root apex, however they did not rule out the importance of the meristematic zone in contributing to Al toxicity as suggested by Ryan *et al.* (1993), although it accumulated less Al. The reason for preferential Al accumulation in the TZ compared with the meristmatic zone (0-1 mm) and elongation zone is not known (Sivaguru and Horst 1998), however, reduced Al uptake by the meristmatic zone might be due to excretion of mucilage, which strongly binds Al (Archambault et al. 1996).

Considerable debate has focused on the question of whether Al mediated inhibition of root growth is due to inhibition of cell division or inhibition of cell elongation. Several reports indicate that Al inhibits cell division. For example, Clarkson (1965) reported that blockage of cell division is the primary mode of Al toxicity, which was suggested by the

close relationship between cessation of root elongation and disappearance of mitotic figures. Cell division, however, is a slow process (cell cycles in plant roots take about 24 h) and cell division accounts for only 1-2% of the overall root elongation. Since inhibition of root elongation occurs within 1-2 hours of Al treatment, it has been suggested that both cell division and cell elongation are affected. Sasaki *et al.* (1997) reported that cell length decreased and diameter of the roots increased after wheat roots were exposed to Al. This was accompanied by reduced viability of cells in the elongation zone. Also, lignin deposition and disruption of microtubules were detected in cells whose elongation was inhibited (Sasaki *et al.* 1996). These studies imply that inhibition of cell elongation is an important component of Al stress.

**1.3.3. Cell wall**: To better understand the mechanism of Al toxicity, it is important to determine whether the primary target of Al is apoplastic (cell wall and periplasmic space) or symplastic (plasma membrane and components of cytosol). The cell wall has a negative charge that contributes to cation exchange capacity (CEC) on the root surface. The carboxy group of pectin (Blamey *et al.* 1993, Horst *et al.* 1999) and apoplastic phosphate (Marienfeld and Stelzer 1993, Zheng 2005) thus act as barriers to the movement of Al into roots (Millard 1990). Van *et al.* (1994) reported an increase in the pectin-fraction of cell walls after Al exposure, suggesting a protective mechanism. In contrast, immuno-localization studies in maize (Eticha *et al.* 2005) and rice (Yang *et al.* 2008) detected higher proportions of low methylated pectins in Al-sensitive cultivars compared to Al-resistant cultivars. Furthermore, Yang *et al.* (2008) detected higher activity of pectin methylesterase (PME) in the cell wall of an Al-sensitive cultivar of rice compared to a resistant cultivar. Higher activity of PME indicates a higher degree of demethylesterification and thus the presence of higher proportion of free pectic acid

residues in the cell wall that should result in a binding of Al in sensitive cultivars. Blamey *et al.* (1990) reported that less Al accumulates in a resistant variety of *Lotus* (compared to a sensitive variety) that was characterised by low CEC of the cell wall. Blamey *et al.* (1993) reported an instantaneous decrease in water permeability of an artificial Capectate membrane after exposure to Al. Binding of Al to Ca-pectate in cell walls makes the cell wall more rigid. Ma *et al.* (2004) reported that Al caused a significant decrease in both the viscous and elastic extensibility of cell walls of the root apices of Al-sensitive cultivar of wheat. Also, binding of Al made cell walls brittle as the "break load" of the cell was decreased with Al exposure. To reduce cell wall extensibility, it was concluded, that Al must interact with the cell walls of actively elongating cells. Slow elongating cells did not show Al-dependent decrease in cell wall extensibility (Ma *et al.* 2004). This supports the previous reports that exposure of Al to DEZ (distal elongation zone) alone is sufficient to reduce root elongation (Sivaguru and Horst 1998). Together these reports suggest that constituents of the cell wall, activity of cell wall modifying enzymes (PME) and maintenance of cell wall extensibility play important role in Al stress resistance.

**1.3.4. Plasma membrane**: Although most absorbed Al is associated with apoplastic regions of the root, a small proportion enters into the symplasm and interacts with the plasma membrane (PM) and other intercellular targets (Taylor *et al.* 2000). Binding of Al to phospholipids on the PM may decrease fluidity of membrane (Deleers *et al.* 1985, Shi and Haug 1988, Akeson *et al.* 1989b). Zhang *et al.* (1997) showed increases in phospholipids (PL), and decreases in steryl lipids (SL) in Al resistant plants after Al stress. These changes were reported as specific to the resistant genotype, thus suggesting that if a decrease in membrane lipid fluidity is one of the toxic lesions induced by Al,

then Al-induced changes that are capable of improving membrane fluidity (such as increase in PC and decrease in SL) may constitute an adaptive response to Al stress.

Exposure to Al is known to depolarize plasma membranes (Olivetti et al. 1995, Takabatake and Shimmen 1997). This may be due to binding of Al to membrane surfaces (Akeson *et al.* 1989b). For instance, 5  $\mu$ M Al<sup>3+</sup> was reported to neutralize the surface charge of the plasma membrane and cause a shift in surface potential from -30 to +1 lmV. Kinraide et al. (1994) developed a model to predict interactions between Al and other cations on the plasma membrane. This model suggests that the negatively charged membrane surface provides a strong attractive force for trivalent cations such as  $Al^{3+}$ . This altered charge of cell walls and membranes (due to binding of  $Al^{3+}$ ) was proposed to decreased infux of cations (such as  $Ca_2^+$ ,  $NH_4^+$ , and  $K^+$ ) and increased influx of anions (such as  $NO_3^-$ , and  $PO4_3^-$ ), which has been observed in an Al sensitive cultivar of barley after exposure to Al (Nichol et al. 1993). In contrast to accumulation of Al in the cell wall and protoplasm, (where accumulation of Al is strongly influenced by the concentration and speciation of Al in uptake solutions), no clear relationship was reported between the rate of transport across the plasma membrane and predicted Al<sup>3+</sup> in exposure solutions (Taylor et al. 2000). However, increased rates of transport of Al reported in the presence of SO<sub>4</sub> and citrate suggest that their complexes with Al (AlSO<sub>4</sub>, Al:citrate) may be readily transported across the plasma membrane (Taylor et al. 2000). Several authors have suggested that Al:citrate may provide a means by which Al may pass through biological membranes (Martin 1988, Kochian, 1995).

Interestingly, the lipid composition of the plasma membrane may play an important role in Al resistance. Changes in the spingholipid composition of cell membranes is proposed to protect plants from Al stress (Ryan *et al.* 2007). Recently, an Al sensitive cultivar of rice showed increased permeability of the PM and greater Al

uptake as compared to a resistant cultivar. However, comparison of the composition of the PM showed a lower ratio of phospholipids to delta(5)-sterols in the resistant cultivar (Khan *et al.* 2009). Altering this ratio using inhibitors of delta(5)-sterols biosynthesis makes resistant plants susceptible to Al stress, suggesting that lipid composition of the PM is a factor underlying variations in Al resistance among rice cultivars (Khan *et al.* 2009), which could not be explained by efflux of organic anions from root apices to chelate toxic  $Al^{3+}$  in the rhizosphere (Ma *et al.* 2002).

One prospective physiological marker for measuring A1 toxic ity is A1-induced callose ((1-3)  $\beta$ -D-glucan) formation in root apices (Wissemeier *et al.* 1992, Bhuja *et al.* 2004, Hirano *et al.* 2006). Callose is synthesized by (1-3)  $\beta$ -D-glucan synthase located on the plasma membrane. One of the prerequisites for the induction of callose formation is an increase in cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup>, which acts as signal to activate (1-3)  $\beta$ -D-glucan synthase. Interestingly, exposure to A1 increases cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels in root hairs of Arabidops is (Jones *et al.* 1998) and roots apices of wheat (Zhang and Rengel 1999). Aluminum induced depolarization of the plasma membrane along with increased Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels results in A1-induced callose synthesis in wheat (Bhuja *et al.* 2004) and tobacco (Sivaguru *et al.* 2005). Deposition of callose is a rapid process (Stass and Horst 1995), which is positively related to A1 concentration under both laboratory and field conditions in coniferous trees (Wissemeier *et al.* 1998, Hirano *et al.* 2004, Nagy *et al.* 2004). Deposition of callose, in wheat root apices, was several fold higher in DEZ and was found localized in the plasmodesmata (PD), which could block symplastic transport and cell-to-cell communication (Sivaguru *et al.* 2000).

**1.3.5.** Cytoskeleton: Inhibition of root elongation and the swelling of root tips and root hairs indicate a possible alteration in cytoskeletal structures of root cells upon exposure to

Al. Cytoskeleton proteins include microfilaments (comprised of actin), intermediate filaments, and microtubules (MT; made up of tubulin). Microtubules orient transversely in elongating cells. Disruption of MTs (using MT blocking agent) results in lateral expansion, while inhibiting longitudinal expansion. Sasaki et al. (1997b) observed a disappearance of cortical MTs in elongating cells of wheat after exposure to Al in a timedependent manner that was correlated with reductions in root growth. Cortical MTs help to orient cellulose microfibrils, therefore their disruption may affect the rate of cell growth due to changes in cell wall properties (Matsumoto 2000). Sivaguru et al. (1999a, b) found that alterations of MTs and microfibrils were most prominent in cells of distal transition zone. Interestingly, this is also the most Al sensitive region of the root apex (Sivaguru and Horst 1998) as meristematic cells leave the division phase and undergo actin-dependent rapid cell elongation (Baluska et al. 1992). It appears that the growth phase of cells is important in Al-mediated destabilization of components of the cytoskeleton. For instance, de-polymerization of spindle MTs and cortical MTs was observed in log-phase cells only and was correlated closely with Al-induced inhibition of growth and rapid callose formation (Sivaguru et al. 1999). Besides destabilization of microtubules, Al treatment results in increased rigidity within the microfilament network in soybean (Grabski and Schindler 1995). The effect of Al on rigidity and tension of microfilaments has been proposed to occur through displacement of  $Mg^{2+}$  by  $Al^{3+}$  in Mg<sup>2+</sup>-ATP and Mg<sup>2+</sup>-GTP to form complexes that hydrolyse poorly. *In vitro* measurements of A1<sup>3+</sup>-GTP-microtubule complexes demonstrated that such complexes were stable and resistant to calcium mediated depolymerisation (Grabski and Schindler 1995). Since plant cells require dynamic actin- and tubulin-based networks for processes such as cell division and differentiation and cell-wall biosynthesis, Al mediated

disruption and rigidification of cytoskeleton may play important role in cell death (Amenos *et al.* 2009).

**1.3.6.** Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS): Aluminum is not a transition metal and therefore cannot directly catalyze redox reactions. Aluminum-induced lipid peroxidation and increased activities of enzymes related to ROS detoxification were first shown by Cakmak et al. (1991). Later, Al-induced lipid peroxidation was proposed to be mediated by Fe (Yamamoto et al. 2003). Further research suggested oxidative stress to be a component of Al toxicity because Al exposure triggered accumulation of ROS such as superoxide anions ( $O_2$ ) and hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ; Kobayashi et al. 2004, Hossain et al. 2005). Plants can scavenge ROS via enzymatic and non-enzymatic mechanisms. For example, reduced glutathione (GSH) can scavenge ROS non-enzymatically, whereas enzymatic scavenging of ROS is mediated by superoxide dismutase (reduction of  $O_2^{-2}$  to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), and catalase, peroxidase, and ascorbate peroxidase (detoxification of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to H<sub>2</sub>O). Transgenic plants over-expressing genes of ROS-scavenging enzymes (peroxidase; Ezaki et al. 2000, superoxide dismutase; Basu et al. 2001) showed improved root elongation under Al stress. In addition, amelioration of Al toxicity by addition of antioxidants provided evidence that inhibition of root elongation could be due to Alinduced oxidative stress (Yamamoto et al. 2003). However, time-course experiments showed that inhibition of root elongation could be detected earlier than oxidative stress (Boscolo et al. 2003, Liu et al. 2008). Therefore, Al-induced oxidative stress could be a secondary response to Al toxicity (Liu et al. 2008).

11

#### 1.4. Signal transduction

Responses to Al stress in roots can occur within minutes after Al exposure, but it remains unknown how an Al signal might be perceived and transduced. The cell wall-associated receptor kinase (WAK) and WAK-like kinase (WAKL) gene family members are good candidates as putative effectors of an Al signal, due to their anchorage between the cell wall and the cytoplasmic compartment (Horst *et al.* 1999, Sivaguru *et al.* 2003, Hou *et al.* 2005). Sivaguru *et al.* (2003) identified an Al-induced wall associated kinase-1 (WAK1) as an early Al-responsive gene whose over-expression enhanced Al resistance. Furthermore, elevated levels of WAK proteins were reported after 6 h Al stress and were found localized abundantly to peripheries of cortex cells within the elongation zone of the root apex. Other reports have suggested versatile roles for WAK-Like proteins in Arabidopsis mineral nutrition responses (Hou *et al.* 2005).

**1.4.1. IP<sub>3</sub>/DAG pathway:** Phospholipase C (PLC) is involved in different signaling processes. This enzyme hydrolyzes membrane bound phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>) to inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacylglycerol (DAG). While DAG remains bound to the membrane, IP<sub>3</sub> is released as a soluble substance into the cytosol where it binds to IP<sub>3</sub> receptors such as Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Lemtiri-Chlieh *et al.* 2003), to aid in Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from intracellular stores. Additionally, DAG is phosphorylated by diacylglycerol kinase to form phosphatidic acid (PA) that acts as lipid second messenger in both animal and plants. It has been suggested that Al affects the concentration of PIP<sub>2</sub> (Ramos-Díaz 2007). PIPs are required for the activation of plant shaker-type channels and Al applied to the cytoplasmic side of the membrane binds to PIPs to block the activation of these channels (Liu *et al.* 2005). Also, PLC activity was shown to be inhibited by Al<sup>3+</sup>

(Jones and Kochian1995, Verstraeten *et al.* 2003). Several reports have suggested that alteration of cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, as result of Al<sup>3+</sup> exposure, occurs via PLC and IP<sub>3</sub> (Delhaize and Ryan *1995*, Jones and Kochian *1995*, Piña-Chable and Hernández-Sotomayor 2001; Martínez-Estevez *et al.* 2003). Recently, Ramos-Diaz *et al.* (2007) have shown inhibition of PA formation through the inhibition of PLC activity after Al exposure. One of the major PA binding proteins is PEPC (Testerink *et al.* 2004), whose over-expression results in Al resistance in rice (Begum *et al.* 2009).

**1.4.2. MAPK pathway**: Recently,  $Al^{3+}$  has been shown to activate a MAPK-like protein in coffee cells (Arroyo-Serralta *et al.* 2005). It has been speculated that membrane receptors can bind to Al and act as effectors of signal (Sivaguru 2003), and perhaps via protein phosphorylation this signal is transduced to activate efflux of organic anions (Osawa and Matsumoto 2001, Zhang *et al.* 2001), which is an important component of Al resistance.

#### 1.5. Amelioration of Al toxicity

Toxic monomeric forms of Al bind to negatively-charged ligands such as organic compounds, PM, and the cell wall. Kinraide and Parker (1987) proposed two categories of effective amelioration treatment. The first is the addition of Al-complexing ligands and the second is amelioration by cations. Both of these reduce the activity of Al in solution. The toxicity of Al<sup>3+</sup> is ameliorated by cations in the following order of effectiveness: H+ $\approx$  $C^{3+}>C^{2+}>C^+$ . For instance, trivalent Al can displace Ca<sup>2+</sup>, whereas other polyvalent cation ( $\geq C^{3+}$ ) can compete and displace Al<sup>3+</sup>. The exception is the monovalent cation, H<sup>+</sup>. The higher effectiveness of H<sup>+</sup> could be due in part to the small ionic radius of H<sup>+</sup> as well as high-affinity binding for H<sup>+</sup> to apoplast, which would further reduce negative surface charges, thereby reducing  $A1^{3+}$  enrichment on the cell surface. In amelioration by divalent cations,  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  are particularly effective.

**1.5.1. Calcium** (Ca) homoeostasis in the cytoplasm is disrupted upon exposure to Al (Rengel 1992) due to inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (Huang *et al.* 1992) and blockage of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Rengel and Elliot 1992). In isolated cell walls equilibrated with 50  $\mu$ M Ca<sup>2+</sup> (pH 4.4), Al (100  $\mu$ M) displaced more than 80% of bound Ca<sup>2+</sup> within 25 min (Reid *et al.* 1995). However the displacement of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and its reduced influx are not the main cause of Al toxicity (Matsumoto 2000). External supplementation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> is known to alleviate Al toxicity in plants (Brady *et al.* 1993, Kinraide 1998, Hossain *et al.* 2005) by maintaining [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>cyt</sub>, thus preventing disturbance of numerous ion transporters that are under Ca<sup>2+</sup> control (e.g. K+ channels; Tester and MacRobbie 1990, Babourina *et al.* 2005). High supplementation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> also decreases the negative charge on the surface of the root cell, which can decrease the interaction between Al and the apoplast (Kinraide 1998; Kinraide 2004).

**1.5.2. Magnesium** (Mg) Aluminum severely affects Mg uptake (Rengel and Robinson 1989, Fowler *et al.* 1999) and translocation in rapidly dividing and expanding cells of the root apex (Silva *et al.* 2001). Over expression of a magnesium transport gene in yeast (ALR; MacDiarmid and Gardner 1998) and tobacco (AtMGT1; Deng *et al.* 2006,) has been shown to alleviate Al toxicity. Silva *et al.* (2001b) argued that the superior effectiveness of Mg<sup>2+</sup> over Ca<sup>2+</sup> in terms of alleviating Al toxicity cannot be explained by competition with Al, and speculated presence of other mechanisms. Later, it was found that supplementation of Mg increased the production and exudation of citrate in roots of soybean (Silva *et al.* 2001a) and rice (Yang *et al.* 2007) after exposure to Al. Addition of Mg also increases the activity of PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase, and helps to maintain the Mg and Ca contents in root apices (Yang 2007).

**1.5.3. Silicon** (Si) is the second most abundant element in the earth's crust. Some Al occurs as non-toxic hydroxyaluminosilicates (HAS; Exley *et al.* 2002, Excely 2003, Quintal-Tun *et al.* 2007). It has been reported that treatment with Si reduces Al uptake, thereby reducing inhibition of root elongation (Corrales *et al.* 1997). Supplementation with Si also increases the efflux of organic anions as well as flavnoid type phenolics (Barcelo *et al.* 1993, Kidd 2001). However, Wang *et al.* (2004) showed that Si supplements did not affect the Al-induced exudation of organic anions and phenols, but instead lead to the formation of HAS in the apoplasm, which would immobilise and detoxify Al.

**1.5.4. Boron** (B) is also an essential plant nutrient. Amelioration of A1 toxicity by supplementation of B has been reported (LeNoble *et al.* 1996a, 1996b, Wojcik 2003, Hossain 2003, Yu *et al.* 2009). Recently, Corrales *et al.* (2008) reported supplementation of B enhanced levels of GSH in roots and reduced A1-induced cell death mediated by oxidative stress.

#### **1.6. Aluminum resistance**

Plants have developed resistance mechanisms against Al. Taylor (1991, 1995) proposed two broad categories of Al resistance mechanisms. The first category of resistance is based upon external mechanisms (those which operate within the apoplasm) and the second category of resistance is based upon internal resistance mechanisms (those which operate within the symplasm).

External resistance, also defined as exclusion mechanisms, include processes that limit the rate of entry of A1 into the cytosol including: 1) immobilization of A1 at the cell wall or low cell wall CEC, 2) selective permeability of the plasma membrane, 3) formation of a plant-induced pH barrier in the rhizosphere or root apoplasm, 4) exudation of Al-chelator ligands, 5) exudation of phosphate, and 6) Al efflux. On the other hand, suggested internal resistance mechanisms include: 1) chelation in the cytosol, 2) compartmentation in the vacuole, 3) evolution of Al-resistance enzymes, or 4) elevated enzyme activity. Detoxification of Al by secretion of organic anions (Al-chelator ligands) is the most well studied mechanism of Al resistance.

The first Al-resistance gene identified in plants was *TaALMT1*. This gene is expressed specifically and constitutively in the root apices of Al-resistant variety of wheat (Sasaki et al. 2004). The ALMT1 gene was isolated by subtractive hybridization of cDNA prepared from Al-resistant (ET8) and Al-sensitive (ES8) cultivars of wheat (Sasaki et al. 2004). The cDNA was 1,517 bp long and the protein was predicted to be hydrophobic membrane protein with 8 putative trans-membrane regions. Sasaki et al. (2004) also reported differences in the sequences of the ALMT at both cDNA level (6 nucleotides) and protein level (2 amino acids) from ET8 (named ALMT1) and ES8 (named ALMT12) cultivars of wheat. The association of ALMT1 with inheritance of Al-resistance was clarified by analysis of F<sub>2</sub> progenies derived from a cross between near isogenic lines of ET8 and ES8. The Al resistance was measured as increased elongation of root lengths of seedlings in Al containing medium. This was followed by QRT-PCR to quantify ALMT1 transcript levels in all seedlings. Interestingly, Al-resistant seedlings (showing increased root lengths) expressed either ALMT1 or both ALMT1 and ALMT2, but all Al-sensitive seedlings expressed only ALMT2, suggesting that Al-resistant phenotype correlate with ALMT1 expression (Sasaki et al. 2004). Electrophysiological measurements of currents in Xenopus laevis injected with ALMT1cRNA provided evidence that ALMT1 is a membrane transporter. In these experiments, the addition of Al in bathing solution activated an inward current (consistent with anionic efflux) in oocytes that were injected

with *ALMT1* cRNA and malate, but not in control oocytes that were injected with water and malate. Further it was shown that except for Al, other trivalent cations did not activate this inward current. Also, replacing malate with citrate did not activate Aldependent inward current (Sasaki *et al.* 2004). Together, these results provided evidence that *ALMT1* encodes and Al-activated malate transporter. Furthermore, the transgenic tobacco culture cells, over-expressing ALMT1, accumulated less Al than control cells and also had a greater capacity for re-growth after A1 treatment (Sasaki *et al.* 2004). Further, in transgenic barley (harboring the *ALMT1* gene), treatment with A1<sup>3+</sup> produced almost no lesions on the root apex (Delhaize *et al.* 2004). This was pioneering work in the field because it represented the identification of the first major Al resistance gene in crop plants and opened new avenues of research in the field (Kochian *et al.* 2004).

The second Al-resistance gene isolated in plants was an Al-activated citrate transporter in barley and sorghum (Furukawa *et al.* 2007, Magalhaes *et al.* 2007). This gene was identified using a fine mapping approach.

In barley, Ma *et al.* (2004) identified a major quantitative trait locus (QTL) for Al-induced secretion of citrate. This QTL was flanked by microsatellite markers Bmac310 and Bmag353 on the long arm of chromosome 4H. Additionally, this locus for Al-induced secretion of citrate was found to map to the same region that was previously identified as Al-resistance locus (*Alp*; Minella and Sorrells 1992). These data suggested that Al resistance in barley is primarily controlled by the secretion of citrate. By genotyping  $F_4$  lines derived from a cross between sensitive and resistant plants of barley, Furukawa *et al.* (2007) delimited the region between microsatellite markers Bmac310 and Bmag353 to an equivalent to approximately 140 kb of the rice genome containing 21 annotated gene models. Further, they performed a microarray analysis with Barley 1 GeneChip (Affymetrix) that contained 25 mapped genes between the markers Bmac310
and Bmag353. Among these 25 genes only one gene was up-regulated by >20-fold in the resistant cultivar, irrespective of Al treatment. This gene was later cloned and named aluminum-activated citrate transporter (*HvAACT*). Using the approach of Sasaki *et al.* (2004), Furukawa *et al.* (2007) showed that oocytes expressing HvAACT1 had enhanced efflux activity for citrate compared with oocytes not expressing HvAACT1, and HvAACT1 had transport activity for citrate, but not for malate. Also, over-expression of this gene in tobacco resulted in enhanced Al-activated secretion of citrate and Al resistance.

In sorghum, a major aluminum resistance locus, AltSB, was mapped to the terminal region of chromosome 3 (Magalhaes *et al.* 2004). Using high-resolution mapping, Magalhaes *et al.* (2007) localized the AltSB locus to a 24.6-kb region of a sorghum BAC 181g10 where only three predicted candidate ORFs were present. One of the ORF represented members of the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) transporter family. Sequence comparison showed that the *SbMATE* was not related to the *ALMT* family of membrane proteins and thus was a new candidate resistance gene. *SbMATE* was found to be Al inducible and expressed primarily in the root apices of Altolerant lines. Furthermore, over-expression of *SbMATE* in transgenic Arabidopsis plants conferred a significant increase in Al resistance and root citrate exudation.

In Arabidopsis, *AtALMT1* (a functional homologue of *TaALMT*) facilitates Alactivated malate exudation (Hoekenga *et al.* 2006, Magalhaes *et al.* 2006). A putative zinc finger transcription factor, STOP1, is found to regulate several Al responsive genes (Sawaki *et al.* 2009) and Al resistance (Iuchi *et al.* 2007). It has been demonstrated that both Al-activated citrate exudation (facilitated by AtMATE), and Al activated malate exudation (facilitated by AtALMT1) have evolved independently of each other in Arabidopsis, and together confer expression of Al resistance (Liu 2009). Previously, it was speculated that <u>Al-a</u>ctivated <u>anion c</u>hannels (ALAAC) are ABC proteins (Ryan *et al.* 2001; Zhang *et al.* 2001); however, recent reports suggest these are members of the MATE class of membrane proteins (Liu *et al.* 2009).

1.6.1. Detoxification of Al by secretion of organic anions : Detoxification of Al by secretion of OAs was first suggested by Kitagawa et al. (1986) and the first convincing data on the relationship between Al resistance and OA secretion was presented by Delhaize *et al.* (1993). Secreted organic anions are believed to chelate and detoxify  $Al^{3+}$ at the root apex, which is considered the most sensitive region for Al stress. Exudation of organic anions is cultivar and species-specific (Table 1.1) and the most common organic anions secreted in response to Al stress include citrate, malate, and oxalate (Basu et al. 1994, Ma et al. 1997, Ma 2000, Ma et al. 2001, Ryan et al. 2001, Kochian et al. 2004, Kinraide et al. 2005). These di/tri-carboxylic organic anions form stable complexes with  $Al^{3+}$ , thus reducing the availability, concentration, and toxic effects of Al. The complex of Al-citrate (1:1) and Al-oxalate (1:3) have been identified in Hydrangea and buckwheat; respectively (Ma 2000). Although oxalate can form three different complexes with Al (1:1, 1:2, and 1:3), it is the 1:3 Al-oxalate complex that is the most stable. Its stability constant (12.4) is higher than that of Al-ATP, meaning that the formation of the 1:3 Aloxalate complex can prevent binding of Al to cellular components (Ma et al. 1998). Ma (2000) proposed two patterns of Al-induced secretion of OAs: In pattern I, organic anions are released immediately after exposure to Al. In pattern II, there is a lag between the addition of Al and the inception of OA release. The delay in external release of OA in pattern II could be due to transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of genes involved in synthesis of organic acids, whereas the immediate release of OA (pattern I) could reflect activation of OA transporters.

Although exudation of OAs is considered an important resistance mechanism, emerging evidence suggests that other uncharacterized mechanisms of Al resistance exist as well. For instance, Wenzl *et al.* (2001) demonstrated that OA secretion does not account for Al resistance in the highly resistant species of signal grass (*Brachiaria decumbens*). Similarly, citrate efflux could not explain the difference in Al resistance in some maize cultivars (Piñeros *et al.* 2005). In buckwheat, where oxalic acid secretion contributes to the high resistance to Al, the variation in Al resistance between sensitive and resistant cultivars of buckwheat is not dependent on oxalic acid (Zheng *et al.* 2005).

**1.6.2. Genetics of aluminum resistance**: Genetic inheritance of Al resistance in crop plants has been an important area of research for many years. Resistance to Al toxicity varies widely among cereal crops, with barley and durum wheat considered the most susceptible cereal crop (Garvin and Carver 2003). The Al resistance order, has been reported as maize>rye>triticale>wheat>barley (Polle and Konzak 1985), rye>oats>millet>bread wheat>barley>durum wheat (Bona *et al.* 1993), and rice>maize>pea>barley (Ishikawa *et al.* 2000).

# **1.6.2.1.** Comparative genetics of aluminum resistance in cereals:

Whe at (*Triticum aestivum*): Aluminum resistance in wheat cultivars has been found to be under the control of a single dominant locus (Delhaize *et al.* 1993, Riede and Anderson 1996, Luo and Dvorak 1996) whereas in other crosses, segregation patterns suggest that two loci are responsible for resistance (Garvin and Carver 2003, Kochian 2004). The loci identified to date are *Alt1* and *Alt2*. Delhaize *et al.* (1993) demonstrated that the *Alt1* locus explains most of the differences in Al resistance between isogenic wheat lines. The *Alt2* locus had been mapped to the long arm of chromosome 4D (Luo

and Dvorak 1996, Riede and Anderson 1996). The recently identified *ALMT1* gene (Sasaki *et al.* 2004) is suggested to correspond to *Alt1* (Raman *et. al.* 2005, Jardim 2007). The majority of variation in Al resistance observed between wheat cultivars has been suggested to exist within a single physiological mechanism of root OA secretion (Kochian *et al.* 2004).

**Rye** (*Secale cereale*): Four separate loci are related to Al resistance in rye. These are: *Alt1*, *Alt2*, *Alt3*, *and Alt4* located on chromosome 6RS, 3RS, 4RL, and 7RS respectively (Aniol and Gustafson, 1984, Gallego *et al.* 1998, Miftahudin *et al.* 2005, Matos *et al.* 2005). Recently, a wheat *ALMT1* homolog in rye (*ScALMT1*) was cloned and mapped to the previously identified locus *Alt4* (Fontecha *et al.* 2007). In rye, the *ScALMT1* gene cosegregates with the Al resistance phenotype.

**Sorghum** (*Sorghum bicolour*): In sorghum, a major A1 resistance locus, *Alt<sub>SB</sub>* was mapped to chromosome 3. Its position is not orthologous to Triticeae chromosomal 4 (which is the region of the *Alt1* gene in wheat), instead it maps to a homeologous region of wheat chromosome 3, and chromosome 1 in rice (Jardim 2007). QTLs associated with Al resistance have also been mapped on these chromosomes (Magalhaes *et al.* 2004). **Barley** (*Hordeum vulgare*): Barley also contains a A1 resistance locus, *Alp*, on chromosome 4 (Minella and Sorrells 1992). However, unlike wheat and rye, barley is very sensitive to A1 toxicity. The major A1 resistance locus, *Alp* perhaps imparts resistance to only low levels of stress (Minella and Sorrells 1992). Although *Alp*, *Alt3* (rye), and *Alt2* (wheat) are suggested to be orthologous loci, it remains to be determined how a wide range of A1 resistance phenotypes is achieved within these species (Kochian *et al.* 2004).

21

## **1.6.3.** Quantitative inheritance of aluminum resistance

**Rice** (*Oryza sativa*): Molecular mapping of genes conferring Al resistance in rice suggested that Al resistance is a complex multigenic trait. Quantitative Resistance Loci (QTL) have been identified on all 12 rice chromosomes (Wu et al. 2000, Nguyen et al. 2001, 2002, 2003, Mao et al. 2004). The major QTLs were detected on chromosomes 1 and 12 (Wu et al. 2000), on chromosomes 1, 2, and 6 (Ma et al. 2002), or on chromosomes 1 and 8 (Nguyen et al. 2002). However, chromosome 1, which was common to all these studies, does not contain Al genes that had been mapped in other species (Nguyen et al. 2001) mainly because chromosome 4 of the Triticeae (where Al resistant loci were identified) is homeologous to chromosome 3 in rice. However, in later work a major QTL explaining 24.9% of the phenotypic variation was found on chromosome 3 of rice, which is conserved across cereal species (Nguyen *et al.* 2003). Oats (Avena strigosa): In oats, four QTLs were identified for Al resistance explaining 55% of phenotypic variation (Wight et al. 2006). The major QTL was associated with a marker linked to the *Alt2* locus in wheat. Therefore, it is likely that this genomic region in oats contains the gene that is ortholog to the main Al resistance gene identified in the Triticeae (Jardim 2007).

**Arabidopsis** (*Arabidopsis thaliana*): Arabidopsis is a recent entry to the genetics of inheritance of Al resistance. Two independent studies (Kobayashi and Koyama 2002, and Hoekenga *et al.* 2003) used quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping to identify genes important for Al resistance using L*er* x Col Recombinant Inbred Lines (RIL). Both used malate exudation and relative root growth as measures of physiological status. Kobayashi and Koyama (2002) reported two significant single factor QTLs detected by RRL on chromosomes 1 and 4. Howkenga *et al.* (2003) also identified a factor on chromosome 1 (QTL 1) as the major resistance locus, however, the remainder of the

QTLs did not agree with those identified by Kobayashi and Koyama (2002). The authors speculated that these differences were due to different physiological conditions of growth used in two different studies (Howkenga *et al.* 2003). More recently, Koyama's group again used QTL mapping to identify Al resistant loci in Arabidopsis. In this study they used RILs obtained from ecotypes carrying similar levels of Al resistance and malate release (Col x Kas) to possibly identify additional loci. They detected a QTL that overlapped the chromosomal position of a previously identified major QTL not associated with Al-responsive malate release (Ikka *et al.* 2008).

## 1.7. Proteins regulated by Al stress

Compared to transcriptome-based gene discovery, there has been slower progress in search of proteins responsive to Al stress. Basu *et al.* (1994) found two 51 kD root proteins induced in response to Al, which were later identified as the  $\beta$ -subunit of vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (V-ATPase) and the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits of the mitochondrial ATP synthase (Hamilton *et al.* 2001). Sharma and Dubey (2007) identified increases in the activities of several antioxidant proteins, including superoxide dismutase (SOD), guaiacol peroxidase, ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase, and glutathione reductase, whereas activities of catalase and chloroplastidic APX decreased after in response to Al treatment.

Recently, proteomics-based approaches have been used in rice (Fukuda *et al.* 2007, Yang *et al.* 2007), soybean (Zhen *et al.* 2007), and tomato (Zhou *et al.* 2009) to identify differentially abundant proteins after exposure to Al. Yang *et al.* (2007) identified 16 proteins regulated in response to Al stress using a resistant cultivar of rice (Xiangnuo), whereas Fukuda *et al.* (2007) identified 31 proteins classified into mainly

carbon metabolism, nitrogen metabolism, nucleotide related and, oxidation-reduction related. Two of these studies (Fukuda et al. 2007, Zhen et al. 2007) identified several metabolism-related proteins indicating regulation of primary metabolism could be an important component to combat Al stress. However, there was a little overlap between the identified pools of proteins. For instance, Al-responsive proteins in soybean (Zhen et al. 2007) included thiamine pyrophosphokinase, sucrose synthase, monoglyceride lipase, acetone cynohydrin lyase, NAD(P)H dependent 6'deoxychalcone synthase, sulfotransferase, and entkaurene oxidase, whereas the majority Al-responsive proteins identified in rice (Fukuda et al. 2007) were related to primary energy metabolism (proteins of glycolysis and TCA cycle). These differences in the proteome profile may be partly due to the different plant species and exposure conditions. With an objective to study the proteome involved in long-term survival (10 d) of tomato plants under Al stress, Zhou et al. (2009) identified 88 protein spots where 61 spots increased and 27 spots decreased in abundance. Most of the identified proteins were associated with changes in oxidative stress, detoxification, organic acid metabolism, methyl flow, cell proliferation, and cell death (Zhou et al. 2009).

#### **1.8.** Genes regulated by Alstress

Several physiological- and reverse genetics-based approaches have identified genes involved in Al stress resistance. Several reports have identified genes or transcripts through analysis of expressed sequence tag (EST) libraries (Milla *et al.* 2002), cDNA libraries (Snowden and Gardner 1993, Cruz-Ortega *et al.* 1997, Hamel *et al.* 1998, Richards *et al.* 1998, Sasaki *et al.* 2004, Guo *et al.* 2007), differential display (Ermolayev *et al.* 2003), cDNA-AFLP (Mao *et al.* 2004), mutant populations, and transgenic overexpression studies (Tesfaye *et al.* 2001, Anoop *et al.* 2003). Several of these genes (Table 1.2) have been previously linked with responses to other abiotic and biotic stresses. Thus it is difficult to determine if these responses are specific to Al stress and therefore responsible for Al resistance. However, it can be implied that Al stress shares common stress responsive pathways with other abiotic stresses (Cheong *et al.* 2002, Chinnusamy *et al.* 2004, Mahajan and Tuteja 2005).

Since OAs play an important role in detoxification of A1, several successful attempts have been made to engineer A1 resistance by over expression of the key enzymes of TCA cycle (Table 1.3). For instance, over expression of citrate synthase (in tobacco, carrot, and canola) and malate dehydrogenase (in alfalfa) imparts A1 resistance to transgenic plants. Arabidopsis seems to be a preferred choice for over-expression studies as several A1 responsive genes (besides OA metabolism) have been over-expressed and shown to impart resistance (Table 1.4). These include blue copper binding protein (*BCB*), Auxilin-like gene, GDP dissociation inhibitor (*GDI*), anionic peroxidase (*POX*), Glutathione S-transferase, and wall-associated kinase (*WAK-1*). Transgenic canola and tobacco harboring a superoxide dismutase and phosphatidylserine synthase, respectively; also showed increased resistance to A1 stress.

During the past decade (Chandran *et al.* 2008, Houde and Diallo 2008, Kumari *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008, Goodwin and Sutter 2009, Zhao *et al.* 2009), there has been a progressive increase in the characterization of Al-responsive genes, most recently exploring changes in expression that occur at the whole genome level. The emergence of high throughput technologies (such as microarrays) has provided a valuable tool to plant physiologists to identify and characterize individual genes and gene families (Wullschleger and Difazio 2003). Recently, microarrays have been used to identify Al responsive genes in various plant species such as Arabidopsis (Kumari *et al.* 2008, Zhao

*et al.* 2009, Goodwin and Sutter 2009), maize (Maron *et al.* 2008), alfalfa (Chandran *et al.* 2008) and wheat (Houde and Diallo 2008).

To conclude, a considerable amount of research during the last two decades has helped to understand Al toxic ity and resistance in plants. Nonetheless, we have a better understanding of physiological aspects of Al toxicity than molecular basis of Al resistance in plants. As described above, several reports have used a transgenic approach (mostly focused on one aspect of resistance) to generate Al resistance in plants. However, some true limitations to develop Al-resistant transgenic plants is the poor understanding of other, but still unknown mechanisms of resistance.

To complement the current understanding, I set out to use high throughput technologies such as microarrays for genome-wide screening of differentially abundant genes in responses to Al stress (Chapter 2). This technique has been used successfully to identify genome wide screening of transcriptional profiling in response to various stresses (Vij and Tyagi 2007). Similarly, proteomics based tools such as 2D gel electrophoresis (DiGE), have been used to characterize proteins associated with stress and development processes in plants (Amme *et al.* 2006, Chivasa *et al.* 2006, Hotte and Deyholos 2008). I used DiGE technology to identify differentially abundant proteins in response to Al stress (Chapter 3). Further, I have compared these two data sets to detect if changes in transcript level are also reflected at biologically relevent level of proteins (Chapter 3). Based on the genes and proteins identified in my two screening approaches, I further focused on cyt-MDH (Chapter 3) and Class III plant peroxidases (Chapter 4) to help understand their role in response to Al stress.

This study will not only provide a platform to select gene (s) whose modified expression would help to generate Al resistant plants, but will also help to identify future research directions.

OA released	Plant	Re fe re nces
Citrate	Maize (Zea mays)	Pellet et al. 1996
Citrate	Tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum)	Delhaize et al. 2001
Citrate	Sickle senna (Cassia tora)	Ishikawa <i>et al</i> . 2000
Citrate	Soybean (Glycine max)	Silva et al. 2001
Citrate, malate	Oat (Avena sativa)	Zheng et al. 1998
Citrate, malate	Rye (Secale cereale)	Li et al. 2000
Citrate, malate	Triticale (Triticale ssp)	Ma et al. 2000
Citrate, malate Citrate, malate	Sunflower ( <i>Helianthus annuus</i> ) Radish ( <i>Raphanus sativus</i> )	Saber <i>et al.</i> 1999 Zheng <i>et al.</i> 1998
Citrate, malate	Rape (Brassica napus)	Zheng et al. 1998
Citrate, malate	Leguminous shrub (Lespedeza bicolor)	Dong <i>et al</i> . 2008
Citrate, malate, aconitate	Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor)	Magalhaes <i>et al.</i> 2007, Goncalves <i>et al.</i> 2005
Malate, citrate	Wheat (Triticum aestivum)	Delhaize <i>et al.</i> 1993, Ryan <i>et al.</i> 2009
Malate, citrate	Arabidopsis (Arabidopsis thaliana)	Kobayashi and Koyama 2003, Liu <i>et al</i> . 2009
Malate, citrate	Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata)	Jemo et al. 2007
Oxalate	Taro (Colocasia esculenta)	Ma and Miyasaka 1998
Oxalate	Buckwheat (Fagopyrum esculentum)	Zheng et al. 1998
Oxalate, citrate	Poplar (Populus tremula)	Qin et al. 2007
Oxalate	Rice (Oryza sativa)	Begum <i>et al.</i> 2009

Table 1.1. Organic anions released from plant species in response to aluminum stress.

Table 1.2. Aluminum-responsive genes identified in various species.

Gene Description	GENE	Plant	Re fe re nces
Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase	PEP	Medicago sativa	Tesfaye et al. 2001
	CARBOXYLASE		
Malate dehydrogenase	MDH	Medicago sativa	Tesfaye et al. 2001
Glutathione peroxidase	PHGPX	Arabidopsis thaliana	Sugimoto et al. 1997
Phototropic response transducer	PEARLI8	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Pro-rich hydrophobic protein	PEARLI1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Unknown	PEARLI2	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Aldolase chloroplast	ALD	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Pro-rich hydrophilic protein	PEARLI4	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Berberine bridge enzyme	PEARLI5	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Blue copper-binding Protein	BCB	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Peroxidase	PER	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Alanine aminotransferase	ALA	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Chlorophyll A/B-binding protein	CAB	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase	CZSOD	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Catalase	CAT	Arabidopsis thaliana	Richards et al. 1998
Tobacco glutathione s-transferase	PARB	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki et al. 2000
Tobacco peroxidase	NtPOX	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 2000
GDP-dissociation inhibitor	NtGDI1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki et al. 2000
Cell Wall-associated receptor kinase 1	WAK1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Sivaguru et al. 2003
Glutathione s-transferase	AtGST1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki et al. 2004
Glutathione s-transferase	AtGST11	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki et al. 2004
Cell Wall-Associated Receptor Kinase	WAKL4	Arabidopsis thaliana	Hou et al. 2005
Aluminum Sensitive ABC Transporter-Like Protein	ALS3	Arabidopsis thaliana	Larsen et al. 2005
Glutamate Receptors	AtGLR3.4,	Arabidopsis thaliana	Meyerhoff et al. 2005

Sensitive to proton rhizotoxicity-1	STOP-1	Arabidopsis thaliana	Iuchi et al. 2007
Auxilin-like protein	F9E10.5	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ezaki et al. 2007
Mg Transporter	ATMGTI	Arabidopsis thaliana	Li, 2001
Malate transporter	ALMT1	Hordeum vulgare	Delhaize et al. 2004
Al activated citrate transporter	AACT1	Hordeum vulgare	Furukawa et al. 2007
Manganese super oxide dismutase-mito	Mn-SOD	Brassica napus	Basu et al. 2001
Citrate synthase	CS	Brassica napus	Anoop <i>et al.</i> 2003
Aconitase	ACO	Brassica napus	Anoop et al. 2003
Isocitrate dehydrogenase	IDH	Brassica napus	Anoop et al. 2003
mito-Citrate synthase	CS	Daucus carota	Koyama <i>et al</i> . 1999
Superoxide Dismutase	SOD	Citrus reshni	Chen et al. 2005
Ascorbate Peroxidase	APX	Citrus reshni	Chen et al. 2005
Monodehydroascorbate Reductase	MDAR	Citrus reshni	Chen et al. 2005
Glutathione Reductase	GR	Citrus reshni	Chen et al. 2005
Catalase	CAT	Citrus reshni	Chen et al. 2005
Similarity: tomato alcohol dehydrogenase	SADA	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Similarity: tomato alcohol dehydrogenase	SADB	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Similarity: tomato alcohol dehydrogenase	SADC	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Alcohol dehydrogenase short-chain	SAD	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Polyubiquitin	PU1	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Chalcone synthase	CHS	Pisum sativum	Brosché and Strid 1999
Disease resistance protein 230	PsDRR230	Pisum sativum	Sävenstrand et al. 2000
Leu-rich repeat protein	PsLRRP	Pisum sativum	Sävenstrand et al. 2000
Extensin	PsEXT	Pisum sativum	Sävenstrand et al. 2000
mito- Citrate Synthase	MCS	Paraserian the sfalcataria	Osawa and Kojima. 2006
Copper Chaperone	ССН	Populus alba	Lee et al. 2005
B. Napus Al-Activated malate transporter	<b>BnALMT1</b>	Brassica napus	Ligaba et al. 2006
B. Napus Al-Activated malate transporter	BnALMT2	Brassica napus	Ligaba <i>et al</i> . 2006
MT class II	RICMT	Oryza sativa	Yu et al. 1998
Dihydrolipoamide s-acetyltransferase	OsAR1	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004

2-Oxoglutarate dehydrogenase	OsAR2	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Aspartate aminotransferase	OsAR3	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
4-Coumarate:CoA ligase isoform 2	OsAR4	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase	OsAR5	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Cinnamyl-alcohol dehydrogenase-putataive	OsAR6	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
P-Coumarate 3-hydroxylase	OsAR7	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Beta-1,3-glucanase	OsAR10	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
UDP-N-Acetylglucosamine pyrophosphorylase	OsAR11	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
O-Deacetylbaccatin iii-10-o-acetyl transferase	OsAR12	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Quinone oxidoreductase	OsAR13	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Proteinase inhibitor	OsAR14	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Elongation factor EF-2	OsAR15	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Sumo-1	OsAR16	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
MCT-1 protein-like	OsAR17	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Rice KN1-like proteins	OsAR18	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Putative Retroelement Pol Polyprote in	OsAR19	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Histone H4	OsAR20	Oryza sativa	Mao et al. 2004
Tonoplast aquaporin	AQP	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Ubiquitin-Like Protein SMT3	SMT3	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Glutathione Peroxidase	GPX	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al.</i> 2002
Glucose-6-phosphate-dehydrogenase	GAPDH	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Ascorbate peroxidase	APX	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Iron deficiency specific proteins	IDS1, IDS3A,B	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al.</i> 2002
S-Adenosyl methionine synthase	SAM	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Methionine synthase	MS	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Pathogenesis-related protein 1.2,	PR	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Heme oxygenase	HY	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002
Epoxide hydrolase	EH	Secale cereale	Milla <i>et al</i> . 2002

Alunium Tolerance Locus	ALT3	Secale cereale	Miftahudin et al. 2004
	$ALT_{SB}$	Sorghum bicolor	Magalhaes <i>et al.</i> 2004
Multidrug and toxic compound extrusion family	SbMATE	Sorghum bicolor	Magalhaes <i>et al.</i> 2007
Auxin down-regulated ADR6	SALI3-2	Glycine max	Ragland and Soliman 1997
Auxin down-regulated adr6	SALI5-4a	Glycine max	Ragland and Soliman 1997
Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase	PEPC	Glycine max	Ermolayev et al. 2003
Translationally controlled tumour proteins	TCTP	Glycine max	Ermolayev et al. 2003
Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenases	IMPDH	Glycine max	Ermolayev et al. 2003
Plasma Membrane H+-Atpase	$H^+$ -ATPASE	Glycine max	Shen et al. 2005
Auxin-regulated protein	PAL111	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 1995
Glutathione S-transferase	PAL142	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 1995
Cys-Rich Domain Protein	PAL139	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al.</i> 1995
Unknown	PAL141	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al.</i> 1995
Anionic Peroxidase	PAL 201	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 1995
GDP-dissociation inhibitor	GDI	Nicotiana tabacum	Ezaki <i>et al.</i> 1995
Manganese superoxide dismutase	MnSOD	Nicotiana tabacum	Devi et al. 2003
Arabidops is Magnesium Transport Family	ATMGT1	Nicotiana tabacum	Deng et al. 2006
Glycero-phosphodiesterase-like protein	NtGPDL	Nicotiana tabacum	Choi <i>et al</i> . 2007
MT Class I	WALI 1	Triticum aestivum	Snowden and Gardner 1993
Cys-Rich Protein	WALI 2	Triticum aestivum	Snowden and Gardner 1993
Proteinase inhibitor	WALI 3	Triticum aestivum	Snowden and Gardner 1993
Phe-ammonia lyase	WALI 4	Triticum aestivum	Snowden and Gardner 1993
Proteinase inhibitor	WALI 5	Triticum aestivum	Snowden and Gardner 1993
Proteinase inhibitor	WALI 6	Triticum aestivum	Richards et al. 1994
Unknown	WALI 7	Triticum aestivum	Richards et al. 1994
S-adenosyl homocysteine hydrolase	SHH	Triticum aestivum	Richards and Gardner 1994
Histone H3	НЗ	Triticum aestivum	Richards and Gardner 1994
Histone H4	H4	Triticum aestivum	Richards and Gardner 1994

Heat shock protein 70	HSP70	Triticum aestivum	Richards and Gardner 1994
1,3-beta-glucanase	GLC1	Triticum aestivum	Cruz-Ortega et al. 1997
Cytoskeletal fimbrin-like actin bundling proteins	WFIM1	Triticum aestivum	Cruz-Ortega et al. 1997
Wheat aluminum-regulated (war): peroxidase	WAR4.2	Triticum aestivum	Hamel et al. 1998
Cysteine proteinase	WAR5.2	Triticum aestivum	Hamel et al. 1998
Phenylalanine-ammonia lyase	WAR7.2	Triticum aestivum	Hamel et al. 1998
Oxalate oxidase	WAR 13.2	Triticum aestivum	Hamel et al. 1998
Vacuolar H <sup>+</sup> -ATPase	V-ATPASE	Triticum aestivum	Hamilton et al. 2001
Alpha-Beta subunits mito- ATP synthase	F1F0-ATPASE	Triticum aestivum	Hamilton et al. 2001
Multidrug resistance similar to ABC	TaMDR1	Triticum aestivum	Sasaki et al. 2002
Aluminum-Activated Malate Transporter Lupinus albus Multi Drug And Toxin Effux Uptake system for mg2+ and other divalent cations	ALMTI LaMATE ALRI	Triticum aestivum Lupinus albus Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Sasaki <i>et al.</i> 2004 Uhde-Stone <i>et al.</i> 2005 MacDiarmid, 1998
Uptake system for mg2+ and other divalent cations	ALR2	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	MacDiarmid, 1998
Blue copper binding	BCB	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 1999
GDP dissociation inhibitor of tobacco	NTGDII	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Ezaki <i>et al.</i> 1999
Phosphatidylserine synthase	TAPSS1	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Delhaize et al. 1999
Mg Transporter	ATMGT10	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Li et al. 2001
Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione- peroxidase	PHGPX	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Basu et al. 2004
Glutathione S-transferase	GST	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Basu et al. 2004
Long-Chain Base Desaturase	LCB8E/Z- DESATURASE	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	da Silva et al. 2006

<b>T</b> 11 1 2 <b>T</b> ' '		• . •	1 .	•	• •		1
Table I & Engineering	0 101001000	roundance in	nlont a	1000100	noma	$11^{\prime}\mathbf{\Lambda}^{\prime}\mathbf{\Lambda}$	volo onzumos
	a iun nu nu nu	TEMMATICE III	DIALIL	いしてしてい	using	IC A U	
The first bigins of the	**		P				,

Gene	Origin	Recipient	Al resistance	References
Citrate synthase	P. aeruginosa	Tobacco ( <i>Nicotiana tabacum</i> )	Increased	De la Fuente <i>et al.</i> 1997
Citrate synthase	A. thaliana	Carrot (Daucus carota)	Increased	Koyama <i>et al</i> . 1999
Citrate synthase	P. aeruginosa	Tobacco (N. tabacum)	No-change	Delhaize et al. 2001
Citrate synthase	A. thaliana	Canola (Brassica napus)	Increased	Anoop <i>et al.</i> 2003
Citrate synthase	P. aeruginosa	Alfalfa (M. sativa)	Increased	Barone et al. 2008
Malate dehydrogenase	M. sativa	Alfalfa (M. sativa)	Increased	Tesfaye et al. 2001

Table 1.4. Engineering aluminum resistance using aluminum induced ge	nes.
--	------

Gene	Description	Origin	<b>Recipient</b>	Resistance	References
AtBCB	Blue copper binding protein	A. thaliana	A. thaliana	Increased	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 2000
F9E10.5	Auxilin-like gene	A. thaliana	A. thaliana	Increased	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 2006
NtGDI	GDP dissociation inhibitor	N. tabacum	A. thaliana	Increased	Ezaki et al. 2000
NtPOX	Anionic peroxidase	N. tabacum	A. thaliana	Increased	Ezaki et al. 2000
PARB	Glutathione S-transferase	N. tabacum	A. thaliana	Increased	Ezaki <i>et al</i> . 2000
WAK1	Wall-associated kinase	A. thaliana	A. thaliana	Increased	Sivaguru et al. 2003
ALR1	Mg transporter	S. cerevisiae	S. cerevisiae	Increased	MacDiarmid and Gardner 1998
Mn-SOD	Mangnese super oxide dismutase	T. aestivum	B. napus	Increased	Basu et al. 2001
PSS	Phosphatidylserine synthase	T. aestivum	N. tabacum	Increased	Delhaize et al. 1999
PEPC	Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase	Z. mays	O. sativa	Increased	Begum et al. 2009
TaALMT	Aluminum activated malate transporter	T. aestivum	H. vulgare	Increased	Delhaize et al. 2004

## 1.9. Literature cited

- Akenson MA and Munns DN (1989a) Lipid bilayer permeation by neutral aluminum citrate and by three alpha hydroxyl carboxylic acid. Biochim. Biophys Acta 984:200-6
- **Akeson MA, Munns DN, Burau RG** (1989b) Adsorption of Al<sup>3+</sup> to phosphatidylcholine vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta **986**:33-40
- Alva AK, Edwards DG, Asher CJ and Blarney FPC (1986) Relationships between root length of soybean and calculated activities of aluminum monomers in nutrient solution. Soil Sci Soc Am J 50:959-62.
- Amenos M, Corrales I, Poschenrieder C, Illes P, Baluska F, Barcelo J (2009) Different effects of aluminum on the actin cytoskeleton and brefeldin Asensitive vesicle recycling in root apex cells of two maize varieties differing in root elongation rate and aluminum tolerance. Plant Cell Physiol 50:528-40
- Amme S, Matros A, Schlesier B, Mock HP (2006) Proteome analysis of cold stress response in Arabidopsis thaliana using DIGE-technology. J Exp Bot 57:1537-46
- Aniol A, Gustafson JP (1984) Chromosome location of genes controlling aluminum tolerance in wheat, rye and triticale. Can J Genet Cytol 26:701-5
- Anoop VM, Basu U, McCammon MT, McAlister-Henn L, Taylor GJ (2003) Modulation of citrate metabolism alters aluminum tolerance in yeast and transgenic canola overexpressing a mitochondrial citrate synthase. Plant Physiol 132:2205-17
- Archambault DJ, Zhang G, Taylor GJ (1996) Accumulation of Al in root mucilage of an Al-resistant and an Al-sensitive cultivar of wheat. Plant Physiol **112**:1471-78

- Arroyo-Serralta GA, Kú-González Á, Hernández-Sotomayor SMT, Zúñiga-Aguilar
   JJ (2005) Exposure to toxic concentrations of aluminum activates a MAPK-like
   protein in cell suspension cultures of *Coffea arabica*. Plant Physiol Biochem
   43:27-35
- Babourina O, Rengel Z (2009) Uptake of aluminium into Arabidopsis root cells measured by fluorescent lifetime imaging. Ann Bot 104:189-95
- **Babourina O, Voltchanskii K, Newman I, Rengel Z** (2005) Ca<sup>2+</sup> effects on K<sup>+</sup> fluxes in Arabidopsis seedlings exposed to Al<sup>3+</sup>. Soil Sci Plant Nutr **51**:733-36
- Balus ka F, Parker JS, Barlow PW (1992) Specific patterns of cortical and endoplasmic microtubules associated with cell-growth and tissue differentiation in roots of maize (*Zea mays L*). J Cell Sci 103:191–200
- Balus ka F, Volkmann D, Barlow PW (1996) Specialized zones of development in roots. View from the cellular level. Plant Physiol 112: 3-4
- **Barcelo J, Guevara P, Poschenrieder C** (1993) Silicon amelioration of aluminum toxicity in teosinte (*Zea mays* 1 ssp mexicana) Plant Soil **154**:249-55
- Basu U, Basu A, Taylor GJ (1994) Differential exudation of polypeptides by roots of aluminum-resistant and aluminum-sensitive cultivars of *Triticum aestivum L*. in response to aluminum stress. Plant Physiol 106:151-58
- **Basu U, Godbold D and Taylor GJ** (1994) Aluminum resistance in *Triticum aestivum* associated with enhanced exudation of malate. J Plant Physiol **144**:747-53
- Basu U, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Transgenic *Brassica napus* plants overexpressing aluminum-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminum. Plant Cell Environ 24:1269–78
- **Basu U, Southron JL, Stephens JL, Taylor GJ** (2004) Reverse genetic analysis of the glutathione metabolic pathway suggests a novel role of PHGPX and URE2 genes

in a luminum resistance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Genet Genomics **271**:627-37

- Barone P, Rosellini D, Lafayette P, Bouton J, Veronesi F, Parrott W (2008) Bacterial citrate synthase expression and soil aluminum tolerance in transgenic Alfalfa. Plant Cell Rep 27:893-901
- Begum HH, Osaki M, Watanabe T, Shinano T (2009) Mechanisms of Al tolerance in phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase transgenic rice. J Plant Nutri **32**:84-96
- Bennet RJ, Breen CM (1991) The aluminum signal new dimensions to mechanisms of aluminum tolerance. Plant Soil **134**:153-66
- Bertsch PM, Anderson MA (1989) Speciation of aluminum in aqueous solutions using ion chromatography. Anal Chem 61:535-39
- Bhuja P, McLachlan K, Stephens J, Taylor GJ (2004) Accumulation of 1,3-beta-Dglucans, in response to aluminum and cytosolic calcium in *Triticum aestivum*. Plant Cell Physiol 45:543-49
- Blamey FPC, Wheeler DM, Christie RA, Edmeades DC (1990) Variation in aluminum tolerance among and within lotus lines. J. Plant Nutr **13**:745-55
- Blamey FPC, Asher CJ, Kerven Gl, Edwards DG (1993). Factors affecting aluminum sorption by calcium pectate. Plant Soil **149**:87-94
- Bona L, Wright RJ, Baligar VC, Matuz J (1993) Screening wheat and other small grains for acid soil tolerance. Landscape and Urban Planning **27**:175-78.
- Boscolo PRS, Menossi M, Jorge RA (2003) Aluminum-induced oxidative stress in maize. Phytochemistry 62:181-89
- Boyer JS (1982) Plant Productivity and Environment. Science 218:443-48
- **Brady DJ, Edwards DG, Asher CJ, Blamey FPC** (1993) Calcium amelioration of aluminum toxicity effects on root hair development in soybean (*Glycine max*).

New Phytologist 123:531-38

- Bray EA, Baile y-Serres J, Were tilnyk E (2000) Responses to abiotic stresses. In: Gruissem W, Buchannan B, Jones R (eds) Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants. American Society of Plant Physiologists, Rockville, MD, pp 1158-1249
- Brosche M, Strid A (1999) Cloning, expression, and molecular characterization of a small pea gene family regulated by low levels of ultraviolet B radiation and other stresses. Plant Physiol 121:479-87
- Brouder SM, Volenec JJ (2008) Impact of climate change on crop nutrient and water use efficiencies. Physiol Plant 133:705-24.
- Cakmak I, Horst WJ (1991) Effect of aluminium on lipid peroxidation, superoxide dismutase, catalase, and peroxidase activities in root tips of soybean (*Glycine max*). Physiol. Plant. 93:463-68
- Chandran D, Sharopova N, Ivashuta S, Gantt JS, Vandenbosch KA, Samac DA (2008) Transcriptome profiling identified novel genes associated with aluminum toxicity, resistance and tolerance in *Medicago truncatula*. Planta 228:151-66
- Chen LS, Qi YP, Liu XH (2005) Effects of aluminum on light energy utilization and photoprotective systems in citrus leaves. Ann Bot 96:35-41
- **Cheong YH, Chang HS, Gupta R, Wang X, Zhu T, Luan S** (2002) Transcriptional profiling reveals novel interactions between wounding, pathogen, abiotic stress, and hormonal responses in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **129**:661-77
- Chinnusamy V, Schumaker K, Zhu JK (2004) Molecular genetic perspectives on cross-talk and specificity in abiotic stress signalling in plants. J Exp Bot 55:225-36
- Chivasa S, Hamilton JM, Pringle RS, Ndimba BK, Simon WJ, Lindsey K, Slabas

**AR** (2006) Proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins in fungal elicitor-treated Arabidopsis cell cultures. J Exp Bot **57**:1553-62

- Choi CS, Sano H (2007) Abiotic-stress induces demethylation and transcriptional activation of a gene encoding a glycerophosphodiesterase-like protein in tobacco plants. Mol Genet Genomics 277:589-600
- Clarks on DT (1965) The effect of aluminum and some other trivalent metal cations on cell division in root apices of *Allium cepa*. Ann Bot **29**:309-15
- **Corrales I, Poschenrieder C, Barcelo J** (2008) Boron-induced amelioration of aluminium toxicity in a monocot and a dicot species. J Plant Physiol **165**:504-13
- **Corrales I, Poschenrieder C, Barceló J** (1997) Influence of silicon pretreatment on aluminium toxicity in maize roots. Plant Soil **190**:203-09
- Cruz-Ortega R, Cushman JC, Ownby JD (1997) cDNA clones encoding 1,3-betaglucanase and a fimbrin-like cytoskeletal protein are induced by Al toxicity in wheat roots. Plant Physiol **114**:1453-60
- da Silva AL, Sperling P, Horst W, Franke S, Ott C, Becker D, Stass A, Lorz H,
  Heinz E (2006) A possible role of sphingolipids in the aluminium resistance of yeast and maize. J Plant Physiol 163:26-38
- **Deleers M** (1985) Cationic atmosphere and cation competition binding at negatively charged membranes - pathological implications of Al. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol **49**:277-94
- Degenhardt J, Larsen PB, Howell SH, Kochian LV (1998) Aluminum resistance in the Arabidopsis mutant alr-104 is caused by an aluminum-induced increase in rhizosphere pH. Plant Physiol **117**:19-27
- de la Fuente JM, Ramirez-Rodriguez V, Cabrera-Ponce JL, Herrera-Estrella L (1997) Aluminum tolerance in transgenic plants by alteration of citrate synthesis.

Science 276:1566-68

- Delhaize E, Hebb DM, Richards KD, Lin JM, Ryan PR, Gardner RC (1999) Cloning and expression of a wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) phosphatidylserine synthase cDNA. Overexpression in plants alters the composition of phospholipids. J Biol Chem 274:7082-88
- Delhaize E, Hebb DM, Ryan PR (2001) Expression of a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* citrate synthase gene in tobacco is not associated with either enhanced citrate accumulation or efflux. Plant Physiol **125**:2059-67
- Delhaize E, Ryan PR (1995) Aluminum toxicity and tolerance in plants. Plant Physiol 107:315-21
- Delhaize E, Ryan PR, Hebb DM, Yamamoto Y, Sasaki T, Matsumoto H (2004) Engineering high-level aluminum tolerance in barley with the *ALMT1* gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:15249-254
- Delhaize E, Ryan PR, Randall PJ (1993) Aluminum tolerance in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) (II. aluminum-stimulated excretion of malic acid from root apices). Plant Physiol 103:695-702
- Deng W, Luo K, Li D, Zheng X, Wei X, Smith W, Thammina C, Lu L, Li Y, Pei Y (2006) Overexpression of an Arabidopsis magnesium transport gene, AtMGT1, in *Nicotiana benthamiana* confers Al tolerance. J Exp Bot **57**:4235-43
- Devi SR, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (2003) An intracellular mechanism of aluminum tolerance associated with high antioxidant status in cultured tobacco cells. J Inorg Biochem 97:59-68
- Dong XY, Shen RF, Chen RF, Zhu ZL, Ma JF (2008) Secretion of malate and citrate from roots is related to high Al-resistance in *Lespedeza bicolor*. Plant Soil 306:139-47

Ermolayev V, Weschke W, Manteuffel R (2003) Comparison of Al-induced gene expression in sensitive and tolerant soybean cultivars. J Exp Bot **54**:2745-56

Eticha D, Stass A, Horst WJ (2005) Cell-wall pectin and its degree of methylation in the maize root-apex: significance for genotypic differences in aluminium resistance. Plant Cell Environ 28: 1410-1420

Exley C (2003) A biogeochemical cycle for aluminium? J Inorg Biochem 97:1-7

- Exley C, Schneider C, Doucet FJ (2002) The reaction of aluminium with silicic acid in acidic solution: An important mechanism in controlling the biological availability of aluminium. Coord. Chem. Rev 228:127-35
- Ezaki B, Kiyohara H, Matsumoto H, Nakashima S (2007) Overexpression of an auxilin-like gene (F9E10.5) can suppress Al uptake in roots of Arabidopsis. J Exp Botany 58:497-506
- Ezaki B, Gardner RC, Ezaki Y, Matsumoto H (2000) Expression of a luminuminduced genes in transgenic Arabidopsis plants can ameliorate a luminum stress and/or oxidative stress. Plant Physiol 122: 657-665
- Ezaki B, Sivaguru M, Ezaki Y, Matsumoto H, Gardner RC (1999) Acquisition of aluminum tolerance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by expression of the BCB or NtGDI1 gene derived from plants. FEMS Microbiol Lett **171**:81-87
- Ezaki B, Suzuki M, Motoda H, Kawamura M, Nakashima S, Matsumoto H (2004)
  Mechanism of gene expression of Arabidopsis glutathione S-transferase,
  AtGST1, and AtGST11 in response to aluminum stress. Plant Physiol
  134:1672-82
- Ezaki B, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (1995) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNAs induced by aluminum treatment and Pi starvation in cultured tobacco cells. Physiol Plant 93: 11-18

- Ezaki B, Kiyohara H, Matsumoto H, Nakashima S (2007) Overexpression of an auxilin-like gene (F9E10.5) can suppress Al uptake in roots of Arabidopsis. J Exp Bot 58:497-506
- Fontecha G, Silva-Navas J, Benito C, Mestres MA, Espino FJ, Hernandez-Riquer MV, Gallego FJ (2007) Candidate gene identification of an aluminum-activated organic acid transporter gene at the Alt4 locus for aluminum tolerance in rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Theor Appl Genet 114:249-60
- Fowler KM, MacDiarmid CJW, Richards K, Gardner R (1999) Magnesium transport and aluminum tolerance. In Plant Nutrition - Molecular Biology and Genetics. Edited by Gissel-Nielsen, G. and Jensen, A. pp. 327-332. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Fukuda T, Saito A, Wasaki J, Shinano T, Osaki M (2007) Metabolic alterations proposed by proteome in rice roots grown under low P and high Al concentration under low pH. Plant Science 172:1157-65
- Furukawa J, Yamaji N, Wang H, Mitani N, Murata Y, Sato K, Katsuhara M, Takeda K, Ma JF (2007) An aluminum-activated citrate transporter in barley. Plant Cell Physiol 48:1081-91
- Gallego FJ, Calles B, Benito C (1998). Molecular markers linked to the aluminium tolerance gene alt1 in rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Theor. Appl. Genet **97**:1104-9
- Garvin DF, Carver BF (2003) Role of the genotype in tolerance to acidity and aluminum toxicity. In Handbook of Soil Acidity, ed. Z Rengel, Marcel Dekker: NewYork pp. 387-406.
- Goncalves JFD, Cambraia J, Mosquim PR, Araujo EF (2005) Aluminum effect on organic acid production and accumulation in sorghum. J Plant Nutr 28:507-20

Goodwin SB, Sutter TR (2009) Microarray analysis of Arabidopsis genome response

to aluminum stress. Biologia Plantarum 53:85-99

- Grabski S, Schindler M (1995) Aluminum induces rigor within the actin network of soybean cells. Plant Physiol **108**:897-901
- Guo P, Bai G, Carver B, Li R, Bernardo A, Baum M (2007) Transcriptional analysis between two wheat near-isogenic lines contrasting in aluminum tolerance under aluminum stress. Mol Genet Genomics 277:1-12
- Hamel F, Breton C, Houde M (1998) Isolation and characterization of wheat aluminum-regulated genes: possible involvement of aluminum as a pathogenesis response elicitor. Planta 205:531-38
- Hamilton CA, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Induction of vacuolar ATPase and mitochondrial ATP synthase by aluminum in an aluminum-resistant cultivar of wheat. Plant Physiol 125:2068-77
- Hirano Y, Pannatier EG, Zimmermann S, Brunner I (2004) Induction of callose in roots of Norway spruce seedlings after short-term exposure to aluminum. Tree Physiol 24:1279-83
- Hirano Y, Walthert L, Brunner I (2006) Callose in root apices of European chestnut seedlings: a physiological indicator of aluminum stress. Tree Physiol **26**:431-40
- Hoekenga OA, Maron LG, Pineros MA, Cancado GM, Shaff J, Kobayashi Y, Ryan
  PR, Dong B, Delhaize E, Sasaki T, Matsumoto H, Yamamoto Y, Koyama H,
  Kochian LV (2006) AtALMT1, which encodes a malate transporter, is
  identified as one of several genes critical for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis.
  Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9738-43
- Hoekenga OA, Vision TJ, Shaff JE, Monforte AJ, Lee GP, Howell SH, Kochian LV (2003) Identification and characterization of aluminum tolerance loci in Arabidopsis (*Landsberg erecta* x Columbia) by quantitative trait locus mapping.

A physiologically simple but genetically complex trait. Plant Physiol 132:936-48

- Horst WJ, Schmohl N, Kollmeier M, Baluska F, Sivaguru M (1999) Does aluminium affect root growth of maize through interaction with the cell wall-plasma membrane-cytoskeleton continuum? Plant Soil **215**:163-74
- Hossain AKMZ, Hossain MA, Koyama H, Hara T (2003), Effects of aluminum and boron supply on growth of seedlings among 15 cultivars of wheat *Triticum aestivum* L. grown in Bangladesh. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 50:189-95
- Hossain AKMZ, Ohno T, Koyama H, Hara T (2005) Effect of enhanced calcium supply on aluminum toxicity in relation to cell wall properties in the root apex of two wheat cultivars differing in aluminum resistance. Plant Soil **276**:193-04
- Hotte NS, Deyholos MK (2008) A flax fibre proteome: identification of proteins enriched in bast fibres. BMC Plant Biol 8:52
- Hou XW, Tong HY, Selby J, De Witt J, Peng XX, He ZH (2005) Involvement of a cell wall-associated kinase, WAKL4, in Arabidopsis mineral responses. Plant Physiol 139:1704-16
- Houde M, Diallo AO (2008) Identification of genes and pathways associated with aluminum stress and tolerance using transcriptome profiling of wheat near-isogenic lines. BMC Genomics 9:400
- Huang JW, Shaff JE, Grunes DL, Kochian LV (1992) Aluminum effects on calcium fluxes at the root apex of aluminum-tolerant and aluminum-sensitive wheat cultivars. Plant Physiol 98:230-37
- Ikka T, Kobayashi Y, Tazib T, Koyama H (2008) Aluminum-tolerance QTL in Columbia/Kashmir inbred population of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is not associated with aluminum-responsive malate excretion. Plant Science 175:533-38

Ishikawa S, Wagamatsu T, Sasaki R, Manu PO (2000) Comparison of the amount of

citric and malic acids in Al media of seven plant species and two cultivars each in five plant species. Soil Sci Plant Nutr **46**:751-58.

- Iuchi S, Koyama H, Iuchi A, Kobayashi Y, Kitabayashi S, Kobayashi Y, Ikka T, Hirayama T, Shinozaki K, Kobayashi M (2007) Zinc finger protein STOP1 is critical for proton tolerance in Arabidopsis and coregulates a key gene in aluminum tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:9900-05
- Jardim SN (2007) Comparative genomics of grasses tolerant to aluminum. Genet Mol Res 6:1178-1189
- Jemo M, Abaidoo C, Nolte C, Horst WJ (2007) Aluminum resistance of cowpea as affected by phosphorus-deficiency stress. J Plant Physiol 164: 442-51
- Jones DL, Gilroy S, Larsen PB, Howell SH, Kochian LV (1998) Effect of aluminum on cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis in root hairs of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Planta 206:378-87
- Jones DL, Kochian LV (1995) Aluminum inhibition of the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate signal transduction pathway in wheat roots: a role in aluminum toxicity? Plant Cell **7**:1913-22
- Khan MS, Tawaraya K, Sekimoto H, Koyama H, Kobayashi Y, Murayama T,
  Chuba M, Kambayashi M, Shiono Y, Uemura M, Ishikawa S, Wagatsuma T
  (2009) Relative abundance of Delta(5)-sterols in plasma membrane lipids of
  root-tip cells correlates with aluminum tolerance of rice. Physiol Plant 135:73-83
- Kidd PS, Llugany M, Poschenrieder C, Gunse B, Barcelo J (2001) The role of root exudates in aluminium resistance and silicon-induced amelioration of aluminium toxicity in three varieties of maize (*Zea mays* L.). J Exp Bot 52:1339-52
- Kinraide TB, Parker DR (1989) Assessing the phytotoxicity of mononuclear hydroxyaluminum. Plant Cell Environ 12:479-87

- Kinraide TB (1994) Use of a gouy-chapman-stern model for membrane-surface electrical potential to interpret some features of mineral rhizotoxicity. Plant Physiol 106:1583-92
- **Kinraide TB** (1998) Three mechanisms for the calcium alleviation of mineral toxicities. Plant Physiol **118**:513-20
- Kinraide TB (1991) Identity of the rhizotoxic aluminium species. Plant Soil 134: 167-78
- **Kinraide TB** (2004) Possible influence of cell walls upon ion concentrations at plasma membrane surfaces. Toward a comprehensive view of cell-surface electrical effects upon ion uptake, intoxication, and amelioration. Plant Physiol **136**:3804-13
- **Kinraide TB, Parker DR** (1987) Cation amelioration of aluminum toxicity in wheat. Plant Physiol **83**:546-51
- Kinraide TB, Parker DR, Zobel RW (2005) Organic acid secretion as a mechanism of aluminium resistance: a model incorporating the root cortex, epidermis, and the external unstirred layer. J Exp Bot 56:1853-65
- Kitagawa T, Morishita T, Tachibana Y, Namai H, Ohta Y (1986) Jpn. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr 57: 352-58.
- Kobayashi Y, Koyama H (2002) QTL analysis of Al tolerance in recombinant inbred lines of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Cell Physiol **43**:1526-33

Kochian LV (1995) Cellular mechanisms of aluminum toxicity and resistance in plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol **46**:237-60

Kochian LV, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA (2004) How do crop plants tolerate acid soils? - Mechanisms of aluminum tolerance and phosphorous efficiency. Ann Rev Plant Biol 55:459-93

- Koyama H, Takita E, Kawamura A, Hara T, Shibata D (1999) Over expression of mitochondrial citrate synthase gene improves the growth of carrot cells in Alphosphate medium. Plant Cell Physiol 40:482-88
- Kumari M, Taylor GJ, Deyholos MK (2008) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol Genet Genomics 279:339-57
- Larsen PB, Geisler MJB, Jones CA, Williams KM, Cancel JD (2005) ALS3 encodes a phloem-localized ABC transporter-like protein that is required for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant J 41:353-63
- Lazof DB, Goldsmith JG, Rufty TW, Linton RW (1994) Rapid uptake of aluminum into cells of intact soybean root tips (a microanalytical study using secondary ion mass spectrometry). Plant Physiol 106:1107-14
- Lazof DB, Goldsmith JG, Rufty TW, Linton RW (1996) the early entry of al into cells of intact soybean roots (a comparison of three developmental root regions using secondary ion mass spectrometry imaging). Plant Physiol 112:1289-300
- Lee H, Lee JS, Bae EK, Choi YI, Noh EW (2005) Differential expression of a poplar copper chaperone gene in response to various abiotic stresses. Tree Physiol 25:395-401
- Lemtiri-Chlieh F, MacRobbie EA, Webb AA, Manison NF, Brownlee C, Skepper JN, Chen J, Prestwich GD, Brearley CA (2003) Inositol hexakisphosphate mobilizes an endomembrane store of calcium in guard cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10091-95
- LeNoble ME, Blevins DG, Miles RJ (1996a), Prevention of aluminium toxicity with supplemental boron. 2. Stimulation of root growth in an acidic, high-aluminium subsoil. Plant Cell Environ **19**:1143-48
- Le Noble ME, Blevins DG, Sharp RE, Cumbie BG (1996b) Prevention of aluminium

toxicity with supplemental boron. 1. Maintenance of root elongation and cellular structure. Plant Cell Environ **19**:1132-42

- Li XF, Ma JF, Matsumoto H (2000) Pattern of aluminum-induced secretion of organic acids differs between rye and wheat. Plant Physiol **123**:1537-44
- Li L, Tutone AF, Drummond RS, Gardner RC, Luan S (2001) A novel family of magnesium transport genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 13:2761-75
- Ligaba A, Katsuhara M, Ryan PR, Shibasaka M, Matsumoto H (2006) The BnALMT1 and BnALMT2 genes from rape encode aluminum-activated malate transporters that enhance the aluminum resistance of plant cells. Plant Physiol 142:1294-03
- Liu J, Magalhaes JV, Shaff J, Kochian LV (2009) Aluminum-activated citrate and malate transporters from the MATE and ALMT families function independently to confer Arabidopsis aluminum tolerance. Plant J **57**:389-99
- Liu K, Li L, Luan S (2005) An essential function of phosphatidylinositol phosphates in activation of plant shaker-type K<sup>+</sup> channels. Plant J **42**:433-43
- Liu Q, Yang JL, He LS, Li YY, Zheng SJ (2008) Effect of aluminum on cell wall, plasma membrane, antioxidants and root elongation in triticale. Biol Plant 52:87-92
- Llugany M, Poschenrie der C, Barcelo J (1995) Monitoring of aluminum-induced inhibition of root elongation in 4 maize cultivars differing in tolerance to aluminum and proton toxicity Physiol Plant **93**:265-71
- Luo M, Dvorak J. 1996. Molecular mapping of an aluminum tolerance locus on chromosome 4D of chinese spring wheat. Euphytica **91**:31-5
- MaJF (2000) Role of organic acids in detoxification of aluminum in higher plants. Plant Cell physiol **41**:383-90

- Ma Z, Miyasaka SC (1998) Oxalate exudation by taro in response to Al. Plant Physiol 118:861-65
- Ma JF, Nagao S, Sato K, Ito H, Furukawa J, Takeda K (2004) Molecular mapping of a gene responsible for Al-activated secretion of citrate in barley. J Exp Bot 55:1335-41
- Ma JF, Ryan PR, Delhaize E (2001) Aluminium tolerance in plants and the complexing role of organic acids. Trends Plant Sci 6:273-78
- Ma JF, Shen R, Zhao Z, Wissuwa M, Takeuchi Y, Ebitani T, Yano M (2002) Response of rice to Al stress and identification of quantitative trait Loci for Al tolerance. Plant Cell Physiol **43**:652-59
- Ma JF, Zheng SJ, Matsumoto H (1997) Specific secretion of citric acid induced by A1 stress in *Cassia tora* L. Plant Cell Physio **38**:1019–25
- Ma JF, Shen RF, Nagao S, Tanimoto E (2004) Aluminum targets elongating cells by reducing cell wall extensibility in wheat roots. Plant Cell Physiol 45:583-89
- MacDiarmid CW, Gardner RC (1998) Overexpression of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae magnesium transport system confers resistance to aluminum ion. J Biol Chem 273:1727-32
- Magalhaes JV (2006) Aluminum tolerance genes are conserved between monocots and dicots. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9749-50
- Magalhaes JV, Garvin DF, Wang Y, Sorrells ME, Klein PE, Schaffert RE, Li L, Kochian LV (2004) Comparative mapping of a major a luminum tolerance gene in sorghum and other species in the poaceae. Genetics 167:1905-14
- Magalhaes JV, Liu J, Guimaraes CT, Lana UG, Alves VM, Wang YH, Schaffert RE, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA, Shaff JE, Klein PE, Carneiro NP, Coelho CM, Trick HN, Kochian LV (2007) A gene in the multidrug and toxic

compound extrusion (MATE) family confers aluminum tolerance in sorghum. Nat Genet **39**:1156-61

- Mahajan S, Tuteja N (2005) Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Arch Biochem Biophys **444**:139-58
- Mao C, Yi K, Yang L, Zheng B, Wu Y, Liu F, Wu P (2004) Identification of aluminium-regulated genes by cDNA-AFLP in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): aluminium-regulated genes for the metabolism of cell wall components. J Exp Bot 55:137-43
- Mao CZ, Yang L, Zheng BS, Wu YR, Liu FY, Yi KK, Wu P (2004) Comparative mapping of QTLs for Al tolerance in rice and identification of positional Alinduced genes. J Zhejiang Univ Sci 5:634-43
- Marienfeld S, Stelzer R (1993) X-ray microanalyses in roots of Al-treated Avena sativa plants. J Plant Physiol 141:569-73
- Maron LG, Kirst M, Mao C, Milner MJ, Menossi M, Kochian LV (2008) Transcriptional profiling of aluminum toxicity and tolerance responses in maize

roots. New Phytol **179**:116-28

- Martin, R.B. (1988) Aluminum and its role in biology. In metal ions in biological systems. Edited by Sigel, H. and Sigel, A. Marcel Dekker, New York Vol. 24: pp.1-57
- Martine z-Esteve z M, Racagni-Di Palma G, Munoz-Sanche z JA, Brito-Argae z L,
   Loyola-Vargas VM, Hernande z-Sotomayor SM (2003) Aluminium
   differentially modifies lipid metabolism from the phosphoinositide pathway in
   *Coffea arabica* cells. J Plant Physiol 160:1297-03
- Matos M, Camacho MV, Perez-Flores V, Pernaute B, Pinto-Carnide O, Benito C (2005) A new aluminum tolerance gene located on rye chromosome arm 7RS.

Theor Appl Genet 111:360-69

- Matsumoto H (2000) Cell biology of aluminum toxicity and tolerance in higher plants. Int Rev Cytol **200**:1-46
- Meyerhoff O, Muller K, Roelfsema MR, Latz A, Lacombe B, Hedrich R, Dietrich P, Becker D (2005) AtGLR3.4, a glutamate receptor channel-like gene is sensitive to touch and cold. Planta 222:418-27
- Miftahudin SGJ, Gustafson JP (2004) Development of PCR-based codominant markers flanking the Alt3 gene in rye. Genome 47:231-38
- Miftahudin, Chikmawati T, Ross K, Scoles GJ, Gustafson JP (2005) Targeting the aluminum tolerance gene *Alt3* region in rye, using rice/rye micro-colinearity. Theor Appl Genet 110:906-13
- Milla MA, Butler E, Hue te AR, Wilson CF, Anderson O, Gustafson JP (2002) Expressed sequence tag-based gene expression analysis under aluminum stress in rye. Plant Physiol **130**:1706-16
- Millard MM, Foy CD, Coradetti CA, Reinsel MD (1990) X-Ray photoelectron spectroscopy surface analysis of aluminum ion stress in barley roots. Plant Physiol 93:578-83
- Minella E, Sorrells ME (1992) Aluminum tolerance in barley genetic relationships among genotypes of diverse origin. Crop Sci 32:593-98
- Nagy NE, Dalen LS, Jones DL, Swensen B, Fossdal CG, Eldhuset TD (2004) Cytological and enzymatic responses to aluminium stress in root tips of Norway spruce seedlings. New Phytol **163**:595-07
- Nguyen BD, Brar DS, Bui BC, Nguyen TV, Pham LN, Nguyen HT (2003) Identification and mapping of the QTL for aluminum tolerance introgressed from the new source, *Oryza Rufipogon* Griff., into indica rice (*Oryza sativa* L.).

Theor Appl Genet 106:583-93

- Nguyen VT, Burow MD, Nguyen HT, Le BT, Le TD, Paterson AH (2001) Molecular mapping of genes conferring aluminumtolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Theor Appl Genet **102**:1002-10
- Nguyen VT, Nguyen BD, Sarkarung S, Martinez C, Paterson AH, Nguyen HT (2002) Mapping of genes controlling aluminum tolerance in rice: comparison of different genetic backgrounds. Mol. Genet. Genomics **267**:772-80
- Nichol BE, Oliveira LA, Glass A, Siddiqi MY (1993) The effects of aluminum on the influx of calcium, potassium, ammonium, nitrate, and phosphate in an aluminum-sensitive cultivar of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* 1.). Plant Physiol 101:1263-66
- **Olesen and Bindi** (2002) Consequences of climate change for european agricultural productivity, land use and policy. Euro J Agron 16:239-62
- **Olivetti GP, Cumming JR, Etherton B** (1995) Membrane-potential depolarization of root cap cells precedes aluminum tolerance in snapbean. Plant Physiol **109**:123-9
- Osawa H, Kojima K (2006) Citrate-release-mediated aluminum resistance is coupled to the inducible expression of mitochondrial citrate synthase gene in *Paraserianthes falcataria*. Tree Physiol **26**:565-74
- Osawa H, Matsumoto H (2001) Possible involvement of protein phosphorylation in aluminum-responsive malate efflux from wheat root apex. Plant Physiol 126:411-20
- Parker D R, Kinraide T B and Zelazny L W (1988) Aluminum speciation and phytotoxicity in dilute hydroxyaluminum solutions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 52:438-44
- Parker DR, Norvell WA, Chaney RL (1995), GEOCHEM-PC: a chemical speciation program for IBM compatible computers. In: Chemical equilibrium and reaction

models. soil society of america special publication vol. 42, Ed R.H. Loeppert, A.P. Schwab and S. Goldberg, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI Pg:253-69

- Pellet DM, Papernik LA, Kochian LV (1996) Multiple aluminum-resistance mechanisms in wheat (roles of root apical phosphate and malate exudation). Plant Physiol 112:591-97
- Piña-Chable ML, Hernández-Sotomayor SMT (2001) Phospholipase C activity from Catharanthus roseus transformed roots: aluminum effect. Prostaglandins other Lipid Mediat 65:45-56
- Pineros MA, Shaff JE, Manslank HS, Alves VM, Kochian LV (2005) Aluminum resistance in maize cannot be solely explained by root organic acid exudation. A comparative physiological study. Plant Physiol 137:231-41
- Polle E, Konzak CF (1985). A single scale for determining Al tolerance levels in cereals. Agron Abstr 1985:67
- **Qin RJ, Hirano Y, Brunner I** (2007) Exudation of organic acid anions from poplar roots after exposure to Al, Cu and Zn. Tree Physiol **27**: 313-20

# Quintal-Tun F, Munoz-Sanchez JA, Ramos-Diaz A, Escamilla-Bencomo A, Martinez-Estevez M, Exley C, Hernandez-Sotomayor SM (2007) Aluminium-induced phospholipid signal transduction pathway in *Coffea arabica* suspension cells and its amelioration by silicic acid. J Inorg Biochem 101:362-69

- Ragland M, Soliman KM (1997) Two genes induced by aluminum in soybean roots.
  Plant Physiology 114:395
- Ramos-Diaz A, Brito-Argaez L, Munnik T, Hernandez-Sotomayor SM (2007) Aluminum inhibits phosphatidic acid formation by blocking the phospholipase C pathway. Planta 225:393-401
- Reid RJ, Tester MA, Smith FA (1995) calcium aluminum interactions in the cell-wall and plasma-membrane of *Chara*. Planta **195**:362-68
- Reid RJ, Rengel Z, Smith FA (1996) Membrane fluxes and comparative toxicities of aluminum, scandium and gallium. J Exp Bot 47: 1881-88
- **Rengel Z** (1992) Disturbance of cell Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis as a primary trigger of al toxicity syndrome. Plant Cell Environ **15**:931-38
- **Rengel Z, Elliott DC** (1992) Mechanism of aluminum inhibition of net Ca uptake by amaranthus protoplasts. Plant Physiol **98**:632-38
- **Rengel Z, Reid RJ** (1997) Uptake of Al across the plasma membrane of plant cells. Plant Soil **192**:31-35
- Rengel Z, Robinson DL (1989) Competitive Al inhibition of net Mg uptake by intact Lolium multiflorum roots: I. Kinetics. Plant Physiol 91:1407-13
- Richards KD, Gardner RC (1994) The effect of aluminum treatment on wheat rootsexpression of heat-shock, histone and SHH genes. Plant Science **98**:37-45
- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiol **116**:409-18
- Richards KD, Snowden KC, Gardner RC (1994) Wali6 and wali7. Genes induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) roots. Plant Physiol **105**:1455-56
- **Riede CR, Anderson JA** (1996) Linkage of RFLP markers to an aluminum tolerance gene in wheat. Crop Sci **36**:905-9
- Ryan P, Delhaize E, Jones D (2001) Function and mechanism of organic anion exudation from plant roots. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 52:527-60
- Ryan PR, Ditomaso JM, Kochian LV (1993) Aluminum toxicity in roots an investigation of spatial sensitivity and the role of the root cap. J Exp Bot 44: 437-46

- Ryan PR, Kochian LV (1993) Interaction between aluminum toxicity and calcium uptake at the root apex in near-isogenic lines of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) differing in aluminum tolerance. Plant Physiol **102**:975-82
- Ryan PR, Liu Q, Sperling P, Dong B, Franke S, Delhaize E (2007) A higher plant Delta 8 sphingolipid desaturase with a preference for (Z)-isomer formation confers aluminum tolerance to yeast and plants. Plant Physiol **144**:1968-77
- Ryan PR, Raman H, Gupta S, Horst WJ, Delhaize E (2009) A second mechanism for aluminum resistance in wheat relies on the constitutive efflux of citrate from roots. Plant Physiol 149:340-51
- Saber N, Abdel-Moneim A, Barakat S (1999) Role of organic acids in sunflower tolerance to heavy metals. Biol Plant 42:65–73
- Sasaki T, Ezaki B, Matsumoto H (2002) A gene encoding multidrug resistance (MDR)-like protein is induced by aluminum and inhibitors of calcium flux in wheat. Plant Cell Physiol 43:177-85
- Sasaki M, Yamamoto Y, Ma JF, Matsumoto H (1997) Early events induced by aluminum stress in elongating cells of wheat roots. Soil Sci.Plant Nutr 43:1009-14
- Sasaki M, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (1996) Lignin deposition induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots. Physiol Plant **96**:193-98
- Sasaki M, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (1997b) Aluminum inhibits growth and stability of cortical microtubules in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 43:469-72
- Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y, Ezaki B, Katsuhara M, Ahn SJ, Ryan PR, Delhaize E, Matsumoto H (2004) A wheat gene encoding an aluminum-activated malate transporter. Plant J **37**:645-53

- Sawaki Y, Iuchi S, Kobayashi Y, Kobayashi Y, Ikka T, Sakurai N, Fujita M, Shinozaki K, Shibata D, Kobayashi M, Koyama H (2009) STOP1 regulates multiple genes that protect Arabidopsis from proton and aluminum toxicities. Plant Physiol 150:281-94
- Schecher WD and Driscoll CT (1987) An evaluation of uncertainty associated with aluminum equilibrium calculations. Water Resour Res 23:525-34
- Schecher WD, McAvoy DC (1992) MINEQL+: a software environment for chemical equilibrium modelling. Comp Environ Urban Syst 16:65-76.
- Savenstrand H, Brosche M, Angehagen M, Strid A (2000) Molecular markers for ozone stress isolated by suppression subtractive hybridization: specificity of gene expression and identification of a novel stress-regulated gene. Plant Cell Environ 23:689-700
- Sharma P, Dubey RS (2007) Involvement of oxidative stress and role of antioxidative defense system in growing rice seedlings exposed to toxic concentrations of aluminum. Plant Cell Rep 26:2027-38
- Shen H, He LF, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y, Zheng SJ, Ligaba A, Yan XL, Ahn SJ, Yamaguchi M, Sasakawa H, Matsumoto H (2005) Citrate secretion coupled with the modulation of soybean root tip under aluminum stress. Up-regulation of transcription, translation, and threonine-oriented phosphorylation of plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase. Plant Physiol **138**:287-96
- Shen R, Ma JF, Kyo M, Iwashita T (2002) Compartmentation of aluminium in leaves of an Al-accumulator, *Fagopyrum esculentum Moench*. Planta **215**:394-98.
- Shi B, Haug A (1988) Uptake of aluminum by lipid vesicles. Toxicol Environ Chem 17:337-49

### Silva IR, Smyth TJ, Israel DW, Raper CD, Rufty TW (2001a) Magnesium

ameliorates aluminum rhizotoxicity in soybean by increasing citric acid production and exudation by roots. Plant Cell Physiol **42**:546-54

- Silva IR, Smyth TJ, Israel DW, Raper CD, Rufty TW (2001b) Magnesium is more efficient than calcium in alleviating aluminum rhizotoxicity in soybean and its ameliorative effect is not explained by the Gouy-Chapman-Stern model. Plant Cell Physiol 42:538-45
- Sivaguru M, Baluska F, Volkmann D, Felle HH, Horst WJ (1999a) Impacts of aluminum on the cytoskeleton of the maize root apex. Short-term effects on the distal part of the transition zone. Plant Physiol 119:1073-82
- Sivaguru M, Ezaki B, He ZH, Tong H, Osawa H, Baluska F, Volkmann D, Matsumoto H (2003) Aluminum-induced gene expression and protein localization of a cell wall-associated receptor kinase in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 132:2256-66
- Sivaguru M, Fujiwara T, Samaj J, Baluska F, Yang Z, Osawa H, Maeda T, Mori T, Volkmann D, Matsumoto H (2000) Aluminum-induced 1-->3-beta-D-glucan inhibits cell-to-cell trafficking of molecules through plasmodesmata. A new mechanism of aluminum toxicity in plants. Plant Physiol 124:991-06
- Sivaguru M, Horst WJ (1998) The distal part of the transition zone is the most aluminum-sensitive apical root zone of maize. Plant Physiol **116**:155-63
- Sivaguru M, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (1999b) Differential impacts of aluminium on microtubule organisation depends on growth phase in suspension-cultured tobacco cells. Physiol Plant **107**:110-19
- Sivaguru M, Yamamoto Y, Rengel Z, Ahn SJ, Matsumoto H (2005) Early events responsible for aluminum toxicity symptoms in suspension-cultured tobacco cells. New Phytol 165:99-09

Snowden KC, Gardner RC (1993) Five genes induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) roots. Plant Physiol **103**:855-61

- Stass A, Horst WJ (1995) Effect of aluminum on membrane-properties of soybean (*Glycine max*) cells in suspension-culture. Plant Soil **17**1:113-18
- Sugimoto M, Sakamoto W (1997) Putative phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase gene from Arabidopsis thaliana induced by oxidative stress. Genes Genet Syst 72:311-16
- Takabatake R, Shimmen T (1997) Inhibition of electrogenesis by aluminum in characean cells. Plant Cell Physiol 38:1264-71
- Taylor GJ (1991) Current views of the aluminum stress response: The physiological basis of tolerance. Curr Top Plant Biochem Physiol 10:57-93
- **Taylor GJ** (1995) Overcoming barriers to understanding the cellular basis of aluminium resistance Plant and Soil **171**:89-03
- **Taylor GJ** (1988) The physiology of aluminum tolerance in higher-plants. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal **19**:1179-94
- Taylor GJ, McDonald-Stephens JL, Hunter DB, Bertsch PM, Elmore D, Rengel Z, Reid RJ (2000) Direct measurement of aluminum uptake and distribution in single cells of *Chara corallina*. Plant Physiol 123:987-96
- Tesfaye M, Temple SJ, Allan DL, Vance CP, Samac DA (2001) Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa enhances organic acid synthesis and confers tolerance to aluminum. Plant Physiol 127:1836-44
- Tester M, Macrobbie E (1990) Cytoplasmic calcium affects the gating of potassium channels in the plasma-membrane of *Chara corallina* - a whole-cell study using calcium-channel effectors. Planta 180:569-81
- Testerink C, Dekker HL, Lim ZY, Johns MK, Holmes AB, Koster CG, Ktistakis

**NT, Munnik T** (2004) Isolation and identification of phosphatidic acid targets from plants. Plant J **39**:527-36

- Tice KR, Parker DR, Demason DA (1992) Operationally defined apoplastic and symplastic aluminum fractions in root tips of aluminum-intoxicated wheat. Plant Physiol 100:309-18
- Uhde-Stone C, Liu J, Zinn KE, Allan DL, Vance CP (2005) Transgenic proteoid roots of white lupin: a vehicle for characterizing and silencing root genes involved in adaptation to P stress. Plant J 44:840-53
- Van HL, Kuraishi S, Sakurai N (1994) Aluminum-induced rapid root inhibition and changes in cell-wall components of squash seedlings. Plant Physiol **106**:971-76
- Vazque z MD, Poschenrie der C, Corrales II, Barcelo J (1999) Change in apoplastic aluminum during the initial growth response to aluminum by roots of a tolerant maize variety. Plant Physiol 119:435-44
- Verstraeten SV, Villaverde MS, Oteiza PI (2003) Al<sup>3+</sup> mediated changes on membrane fluidity affects the activity of PI-PLC but not of PLC. Chem Phys Lipids 122:159-63
- Vij S, Tyagi AK (2007) Emerging trends in the functional genomics of the abiotic stress response in crop plants. Plant Biotechnol J 5:361-80
- Von Uexküll HR and Mutert E (1995). Global extent, development and economic impact of acid soils. Plant Soil 71:1-15.

Von Uexküll HR, Mutert E (1995) Global extent, development and economic impact of acid soils. In: Date RA, Grundon NJ, Raymet GE, Probert ME(eds) Plant-Soil Interactions at Low pH: Principles and Management. The Neth:Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, pp. 5-19

Wang Y, Stass A, Horst WJ (2004) Apoplastic binding of aluminum is involved in

silicon-induced amelioration of aluminum toxicity in maize. Plant Physiol **136**:3762-70

- Wenzl P, Patino GM, Chaves AL, Mayer JE, Rao IM (2001) The high level of aluminum resistance in signalgrass is not associated with known mechanisms of external aluminum detoxification in root apices. Plant Physiol 125:1473-84
- Wight CP, Kibite S, Tinker NA, Molnar SJ (2006) Identification of molecular markers for aluminium tolerance in diploid oat through comparative mapping and QTL analysis. Theor Appl Genet 112:222-31
- Winkler S, Ockels W, Budzikie wicz H, Korth H, Pulverer G (1986) 2-hydroxy-4methoxy-5-methylpyridine-N-oxide: an aluminum complexing metabolite from *Pseudomonas*. Cepacia. Z.Naturforsch. Teil C **41**:807-8
- Wissemeier AH, Diening A, Hergenroder A, Horst WJ, Mixwagner G (1992) Callose formation as parameter for assessing genotypic plant tolerance of aluminum and manganese. Plant Soil 146:67-75
- Wisse meier AH, Hahn G, Marschner H (1998) Callose in roots of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) is a sensitive parameter for aluminium supply at a forest site (Hoglwald). Plant Soil **199**:53-57
- **Wojcik P** (2003) Impact of boron on biomass production and nutrition of aluminiumstressed apple rootstocks. J Plant Nutr **26**:2439-51
- Wu P, Liao CY, Hu B, Yi KK, Jin WZ (2000) QTLs and epistasis for aluminum tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) at different seedling stages. Theor Appl Genet 100:1295-03
- Wullschleger SD, Difazio SP (2003) Emerging use of gene expression microarrays in plant physiology. Comp Funct Genomics 4:216-24
- Yamamoto Y, Kobayashi Y, Devi SR, Rikiishi S, Matsumoto H (2003) Oxidative

stress triggered by aluminum in plant roots. Plant Soil 255:239-43

- Yang JL, You JF, Li YY, Wu P, Zheng SJ (2007) Magnesium enhances aluminuminduced citrate secretion in rice bean roots (*Vigna umbellata*) by restoring plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity. Plant Cell Physiol 48:66-73
- Yang JL, Li YY, Zhang YJ, Zhang SS, Wu YR, Wu P, Zheng SJ (2008) Cell wall polysaccharides are specifically involved in the exclusion of aluminum from the rice root apex. Plant Physiol 146:602-11
- Yang Q, Wang Y, Zhang J, Shi W, Qian C, Peng X (2007) Identification of aluminum-responsive proteins in rice roots by a proteomic approach: cysteine synthase as a key player in Al response. Proteomics 7:737-49
- Yu M, Shen RF, Xiao HD, Xu MM, Wang HZ, Wang HY Zeng QL, Bian JF (2009) Boron alleviates aluminum toxicity in pea (*Pisum sativum*). Plant Soil **314**:87-98
- Yu LH, Umeda M, Liu JY, Zhao NM, Uchimiya H (1998) A novel MT gene of rice plants is strongly expressed in the node portion of the stem. Gene **206**:29-35
- Zhang WH, Rengel Z (1999) Aluminium induces an increase in cytoplasmic calcium in intact wheat root apical cells. Aust J Plant Physiol 26: 401-09
- Zhang GC, Slaski JJ, Archambault DJ, Taylor GJ (1997) Alteration of plasma membrane lipids in response to aluminum stress. Physiol Plant 99:302-08
- Zhang G, Taylor GJ (1989) Kinetics of aluminum uptake by excised roots of aluminum-tolerant and aluminum-sensitive cultivars of *Triticum aestivum* L. Plant Physiol 91:1094-99
- Zhang G, Taylor GJ (1990) Kinetics of aluminum uptake in triticum aestivum l: identity of the linear phase of aluminum uptake by excised roots of aluminumtolerant and aluminum-sensitive cultivars. Plant Physiol 94:577-84

Zhang WH, Ryan PR, Tyerman SD (2001) Malate-permeable channels and cation

channels activated by aluminum in the apical cells of wheat roots. Plant Physiol **125**:1459-72

- Zhao CR, Ikka T, Sawaki Y, Kobayashi Y, Suzuki Y, Hibino T, Sato S, Sakurai N, Shibata D, Koyama H (2009) Comparative transcriptomic characterization of aluminum, sodium chloride, cadmium and copper rhizotoxicities in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. BMC Plant Biol 9:32
- Zhen Y, Qi JL, Wang SS, Su J, Xu GH, Zhang MS, Miao L, Peng XX, Tian D, Yang YH (2007) Comparative proteome analysis of differentially expressed proteins induced by Al toxicity in soybean. Physiol Plant 131:542-54
- Zheng SJ, Ma JF, Matsumoto H (1998) Continuous secretion of organic acids is related to aluminum resistance during relatively long-term exposure to aluminum stress. Physiol Plant 103:209–14
- Zheng SJ, Yang JL, He YF, Yu XH, Zhang L, You JF, Shen RF, Matsumoto H (2005) Immobilization of aluminum with phosphorus in roots is associated with high aluminum resistance in buckwheat. Plant Physiol **138**:297-03
- Zhou S, Sauve R, Thannhauser TW (2009) Proteome changes induced by aluminium stress in tomato roots. J Exp Bot 60:1849-57

# 2. Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of Arabidopsis thaliana

# 2.1. Introduction

Aluminum (Al) is the most abundant metal and the third most common element in the earth's crust. When soil pH is less than 5.0, Al ionizes to form phytotoxic ions  $(Al^{3+})$  that are readily absorbed by plant roots (Kinraide 1990), inhibiting elongation of roots and reducing yields of crops (Kochian 1995, Matsumoto 2000). Because approximately 50% of the world's potentially arable land is acidic (Von Uexküll and Mutert 1995), Al toxicity is one of the major limitations to global crop productivity.

Alterations of root architecture (Doncheva *et al.* 2005) and inhibition of root elongation (Matsumoto 2000) are considered primary symptoms of Al toxicity. The majority of Al associated with roots is bound in the apoplasm; only a relatively small fraction enters into the symplasm where it can interact with intracellular targets (Taylor *et al.* 2000). Aluminum exposure results in alterations to the plasma membrane surface, disruption of cytoskeletal dynamics (Sivaguru *et al.* 2003), changes in Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis and signaling (Jones *et al.* 1998), peroxidative damage to membranes, induction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and mitochondrial dysfunction leading to Al-mediated inhibition of root growth (Yamamoto *et al.* 2002).

Although most plant species are sensitive to Al, genetic variation in resistance to Al has been reported for many crops. As proposed by Taylor (1991), Al resistance can be based on two types of mechanisms: one based upon exclusion of Al from the root symplasm, and the other based upon resistance to Al once it has entered the symplasm. One well-characterized exclusion mechanism depends on exudation of organic anions (OA) from the root apex (Ma *et al.* 2001, Kochian *et al.* 2004). Other proposed exclusion mechanisms include secretion of proteins (Basu *et al.* 1994), increasing rhizosphere pH (Degenhardt *et al.* 1998), and efflux of phosphate (Pellet *et al.* 1996). Genetic mapping has identified loci contributing to Al resistance in many crop species including wheat, rye, barley, sorghum, rice, and maize. These studies have identified loci associated with increased exudation of organic anions. A major Al-resistance locus in Arabidopsis was mapped at the top of chromosome 1 by quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis of recombinant inbred lines created using Al sensitive (Landsberg) and Al resistant (Columbia) ecotypes (Kobayashi and Koyama 2002, Hoekenga *et al.* 2003).

Several reports have identified genes or transcripts related to Al responses through analysis of expressed sequence tag (EST) libraries (Milla *et al.* 2002), cDNA libraries (Snowden and Gardner 1993, Cruz-Ortega *et al.* 1997, Hamel *et al.* 1998, Richards *et al.* 1998, Sasaki *et al.* 2004, Guo *et al.* 2007), differential display (Ermolayev *et al.* 2003), cDNA-AFLP (Mao *et al.* 2004), mutant populations, and transgenic overexpression studies (Anoop *et al.* 2003). Many of the previously identified Al-responsive genes can be grouped into the following functional groups: i) oxidative stress pathways (Sugimoto and Sakamoto 1997, Devi *et al.* 2003, Basu *et al.* 2004, Chen *et al.* 2005); ii) membrane transporters (Hamilton *et al.* 2001, Sasaki *et al.* 2004, Shen *et al.* 2005, Larsen *et al.* 2005, Deng *et al.* 2006); iii) energy and primary metabolism (Tesfaye *et al.* 2001, Anoop *et al.* 2003); iv) polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism (Mao *et al.* 2004); v) protein metabolism (Brosche and Strid 1999); vi) signaling, hormones and vii) transcription factors (Sivaguru *et al.* 2003).

Completion of genome sequencing projects and the commercial availability of unique oligonucleotide probes have given rise to the development of high throughput technologies (e.g microarrays) to study genome-wide transcriptomic responses to various stresses (Vij and Tyagi 2007). To date, genome-scale microarray analysis of Al stress responses has not been reported, despite the potential for this technique to identify large numbers of stress-responsive transcripts (Deyholos and Galbraith 2001). Here, I present a comprehensive transcriptomic analysis of Al stress responses in plants. This gene discovery effort will help expand our understanding of cellular responses to Al treatment, and will identify candidate genes for enhancement of Al resistance in crops.

#### 2.2. Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1. Plant growth and exposure to stress

Seeds of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Col-0, Lehle Seeds) were surface sterilized (2.25% NaClO, 0.05% Tween-20), rinsed, and sown on agar plugs (Murashige & Skoog medium, 0.3% phytagel, Sigma) within floating rafts. Each raft was fashioned by drilling approximately 100 holes (3-4 mm diameter) in a Sintra® plastic disk (130 mm diameter; 3 mm thick) and covering each hole with nylon mesh (0.5 mm). After stratification (2 days at 4° C), rafts were transferred onto the surface of 1 liter of sterilized Richard's medium (pH 5.75; Richards *et al.* 1998) in black, polyethylene tanks. Plants were grown for 14 days at 22° C day and 19° C night temperature on a 16 h light/8 h dark cycle in a growth chamber with approximately 160  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> photosynthetic photon flux density and 65% relative humidity.

Aluminum (Al) stock solutions (25 mM) were prepared by adding AlCl<sub>3</sub> to water that had been adjusted to pH 3.0 with HCl. Aluminum exposure solutions were prepared in CaCl<sub>2</sub> (200  $\mu$ M, pH 4.33) to avoid precipitation of Al. The use of alkali was avoided while adjusting the pH of exposure solutions to prevent the formation of non toxic polymeric Al species (Kinraide and Parker 1987). Aluminum treatments were conducted by transferring rafts containing 14 day old plants to exposure solutions containing AlCl<sub>3</sub> in 200  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> and grown for two more days. For controls, plants were transferred to exposure solutions with no Al. For dose response analyses, AlCl<sub>3</sub> concentrations ranged from 0 to 100  $\mu$ M. Increases in the root length were measured from day 14 to day 16 and a Relative Root Growth Increment (RRGI) was calculated as (RL treated Day16 - RL treated Day14) / (RL control Day16 - RL control Day14) × 100, where RL refers to root length. For microarray analyses, exposure solutions contained 0 or 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> at pH 4.33. After 6 h and 48 h of exposure, roots were harvested using a sterile razor blade and immersed in liquid nitrogen. Roots were then ground with a mortar and pestle and stored at -80°C.

# 2.2.2. Isolation of RNA and microarray hybridization

Root tissues from more than 120 plants from three independently maintained hydroponic tanks were pooled together to comprise a single sample. Eight independent samples (grown at separate times) were analyzed for each time point and treatment condition. At each time point, untreated controls were harvested in parallel with treated roots to control for the influence of developmental or circadian effects. Total RNA (50 µg) was extracted from each sample using a silica membrane-based RNA isolation kit (Qiagen), and was labeled with Cy dyes using a 3DNA array 50 Kit (Genisphere), with oligo dT and Superscript III (Invitrogen). A total of 26,090 probes that were 70 oligonucleotides long (Array-Ready Oligo Set<sup>™</sup> for *Arabidopsis thaliana* genome Version 1.0 from Qiagen Operon) were deposited with additional probes for quality control on superamine aminosilane-coated slides (Telechem). An SDS-based hybridization buffer was used to hybridize cDNA to spotted probes. After 12 hours of incubation at 45° C, slides were washed under high stringency conditions as per the manufacturer's protocol. Cy3 and Cy5 capture reagent, complementary to the capture

sequence incorporated in the cDNA, was hybridized to slides for 4 hours at 55°C. To avoid dye-based bias due to differences in labeling efficiencies as well as different efficiencies in the detection of the fluorescent signals, I adopted an experimental design where labeling of the dye was reversed. Specifically, for 4 out of the total 8 independent samples (replicates) at each time point, I reversed the labeling of cDNA samples. TM4 software suite (Saeed et al. 2003) was used for acquisition and processing of microarray data where background-subtracted spot intensities were measured by Spotfinder Ver 3.0, and normalized by the Loess method in MIDAS Ver 2.19. Spots were defined as detectable above background if their signal intensity was greater than two standarddeviations above the mean signal intensities of all blank and randomized negative control spots and were detectable in more than fifty percent of arrays for each time point. Fold change was defined as the ratio of treated:control spot intensities. Significance analysis of microarrays (SAM; Tusher et al. 2001) was applied to identify genes for which the fold change differed significantly from 1 at either one or two time points in a multiclass test (with computed values at time point 0), using a false discovery rate (FDR) of approximately 5%. Microarray data are available in the ArrayExpress database as accessions E-MEXP-1071. Microarray data has been submitted according to MIAME recommendations.

#### 2.2.3. Quantitative reverse-transcription PCR (QRT-PCR) analysis

QRT-PCR primers were designed using Primer3 (Rozen and Skaletsky 2000) or PrimerExpress 2.0 software (Applied Biosystems) so that at least one primer of each pair covered an exon-exon junction to prevent amplification of genomic DNA. The specificity of each primer pair was checked against the Arabidopsis genome using WU- BLAST 2.0 (<u>http://www.Arabidopsis.org/wublast/index2.jsp</u>). The primer sequences were as follows: At4g36430 F: CTAGCCCCAATGCCACTGA, R: GCCTCCACAAATGCATTGAA; At3g01190 F: ACTCGGAGTACGCCGCTAAG, R: TTGAAACTCCCCGGATCCA; At5g39580 F: TTTCCTTGGCATCGAACGTT, R: AGGCGAAAAGCGGAGAATTT; At5g64100 F: CTCTTGTTGGCGGACACA, R: GTCGATTGATGGGTCAGGTT; At1g05250 F: GATGCCGTGGCAGTGAT, R: CTTTATGTCGGCGAAAGGAG; At1g02930 F: GCAAGGACATGGCGATCATA, R: GGTCAAACTCATGCGACTCA; At2g29460 F: AGAAGGAAGTCACTGGAAAAGAT, R: CCTGCGACCAAGTCCAAAA; At1g07810 F: GAGAGAGTGAGGCAGTGAGCAA, R:

CCTGCAAACACCATGCATTT;

At5g54510 F: GCTTGGTCAGGAGTACGAGCTT, R:

ACCAGCCACGCTTAGGACAT;

At3g15360 F: GCTGCTCCGTCGGTTTCA, R: TCACCAAACTCCGCGAAGAC; At5g25760 F: CTTAACTGCGACTCAGGGAAT, R: GGCGAGGCGTGTATACATTT.

All RNA samples were treated with DNA*free* (Ambion). I quantified cDNAs in an Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-Time PCR System, with a SYBR green dye detection assay, and ROX passive reference, in 10 µl reactions as follows: Stage 1, 1 cycle at 95° C for 2 min; Stage 2, 40 cycles at 95° C for 0.15 min and 60° C for 1 min; Stage 3, 95.0° C for 0.15 min; Stage 4, 60.0° C for 1 min; and Stage 5, 95.0° C for 0.15 min. C<sub>t</sub> values generated for each primer pair set over a range of dilutions were used to calculate the  $\Delta C_t$ (C<sub>t</sub> target – C<sub>t</sub> reference).  $\Delta C_t$  values were then plotted against log input amount. If the slope of the  $\Delta C_t$  vs. log input was < 0.1 then the relative abundance of each transcript was estimated using the  $\Delta \Delta C_t$  (Livak and Schmittgen 2001).

#### 2.3. Results

I conducted microarray analysis to identify transcripts in Arabidopsis roots that changed in abundance following exposure to Al in a hydroponic system. In this system, plants were germinated on agar plugs within floating plastic rafts. The design of these rafts permitted rapid transfer of plants between treatment conditions, and allowed for measurement of pH and electric conductivity with minimal disturbance (Fig. 2.1). Unlike some previously described hydroponics systems, mine was capable of sustaining plant growth through a complete life cycle and avoided substrates such as rock wool or filter paper, which can sequester Al.

To select an appropriate concentration of Al for stress treatments, I conducted a dose response analysis (Fig. 2.2a). I observed that exposure of plants to 5  $\mu$ M Al for 48 h reduced primary root elongation to 59% of control, but did not have marked effect on lateral root formation. When the concentration of Al was increased to 45  $\mu$ M, primary root elongation was further reduced to 34% of control and lateral root formation was fully inhibited. Exposure of plants to 100  $\mu$ M Al for 48 h resulted in complete inhibition of primary root elongation and lateral root formation. However, at 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>, I observed inhibition of primary root elongation in root elongation with an overall induced reduction of growth of plants (Fig. 2.2b). I found that juvenile plants treated with 25  $\mu$ M Alcontinued to grow to maturity and produce seeds. I therefore selected 25  $\mu$ M Al as my exposure concentration because it induced physiological stress responses, but was not acutely lethal.

69

#### 2.3.1. Microarray based expression profiling

I used microarrays to measure the effects of exposure to Al(6 h and 48 h) on the transcriptome of Arabidopsis roots. At each time point, untreated controls were harvested in parallel with treated roots to control for the influence of developmental or circadian effects. A total of 23,686 distinct genes were represented by the probes spotted on my microarrays. After filtering out spots with signal intensities below background cut-off criteria and probes that could not be associated with a specific AGI (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative) identifier, I defined 7,413 spots as detectable at the 6 h time point and 7,673 as detectable at the 48 h point. By applying the SAM algorithm (Statistical Analysis of Microarrays; Tusher *et al.* 2001) to these filtered data, I identified 5,693 genes in which the mean signal intensity of treated and control samples differed significantly (False Discovery Rate, FDR <5%) at either one or both time points. I focused my attention on the subset of these transcripts that differed by  $\geq$  1.5-fold between treated and untreated tissues, and that were also detectable above background intensity at each time point. In summary, I used following four criteria to select Al-responsive genes: above the background cut-off, AGI identifier, FDR <5%, and, fold change  $\geq$  1.5-fold.

By using these criteria, transcripts for a total of 401 distinct genes, where 170 increased and 231 decreased in abundance, were found Al-responsive after 6 h exposure (Fig. 2.3). Similarly, transcripts for 1,114 distinct genes, where 601 increased in abundance and 513 decreased in abundance; were found Al-responsive after 48 h exposure. Among the 401 distinct genes responding after 6 h, 42% (170) showed increased abundance of transcripts, while 54% (601) of the 1,114 distinct genes responding after 48 h showed increased abundance of transcripts. Similar trends were observed when a 2- fold cut off was used. A greater number of responsive genes were observed after 48 hours (733) compared to 6 h (127) and transcripts for 42% (53) and

57% (419) of responsive genes showed increased abundance after 6 h and 48 h (respectively).

I also calculated the proportion of common genes present at both time points (Fig. 2.3). Among the 170 genes that increased in transcript abundance after 6 h, only 12% of these also increased after 48 h treatment, compared to 20% that decreased in transcript abundance after 48 h treatment (1.5-fold cutoff). Similarly, among the 231 transcripts that decreased in transcript abundance after 6 h, only 15% of these also decreased in abundance after 48 h compare to 19% that increased in abundance after 48 h exposure. A similar pattern was observed for data from the 2-fold cutoff.

Although 70 mer sequences printed on arrays normally represent unique regions within each gene, transcripts belonging to genes from large gene families occasionally share high sequence identities and therefore could result in cross-hybridization. As a consequence, some of the genes identified by this research as AI-stress responsive may not in fact be associated with AI stress. Analysis of data from both the 1.5-fold and 2.0-fold cutoffs reveal relatively little overlap between the identities of transcripts that increased or decreased at each time point. Moreover, the proportions of transcripts that had the same pattern of expression at each time point were similar to the proportion of transcripts that had the opposite pattern of expression at subsequent time points. Thus, remodeling of the transcriptome following A1 treatment appears to be a dynamic process with distinct features at early (6 h) and late (48 h) time points following exposure. Given the similar overall patterns of response detected using the 1.5-fold and 2.0-fold cut off thresholds, my subsequent analysis of results focuses only on 1.5-fold data.

71

# 2.3.2. Cellular pathways and functional categories of transcripts responsive to aluminum

I categorized my transcriptional profiling results according to inferred function or structural similarity to other genes, as defined by resources including the Gene Ontology consortium and The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR), as well as previous descriptions of the physiological and molecular effects of Al treatment. The majority of Al responsive transcripts with known functions could be assigned to one of the following seven functional categories (Fig. 2.4) : i) oxidative stress responses; ii) transporters; iii) energy and primary metabolism; iv) polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism; v) protein metabolism; vi) signaling and hormones; and vii) transcription factors.

# 2.3.2.1. Oxidative stress responses

The metabolic balance of cells is disrupted by many biotic and abiotic stresses, resulting in enhanced production of reactive oxygen species (ROS; Mittler 2002). Increased ROS levels are an important component of Al stress (Richards *et al.* 1998, Basu 2001, Yamamoto *et al.* 2002). A set of 152 genes has been defined as comprising the ROS response network in Arabidopsis (Mittler *et al.* 2004). Among the 138 ROS response network genes spotted on my arrays, transcripts from 50 genes were detected above background for 6 h, and transcripts from 59 genes were detected above background for 48 h (Table 2.1). I observed increased abundance of transcripts for ascorbate peroxidase (At3g09640), glutathione reductase (At3g24170) and superoxide dismutase (At4g25100) after 48 h exposure. In contrast, I observed decreased abundance of transcripts for other genes nominally associated with oxidative stress responses, including alternative oxidase (At3g22370 and At5g64210), glutaredoxin (At1g03850), peroxiredoxin (At1g60740), monodehydroascorbate reductase (At5g03630; *MDAR*) and

thioredoxins (At4g35460). Interestingly, some genes (e.g. *MDAR* and thioredoxins) encoding similar protein sequences had opposite responses to treatment within or between the two time points measured. This may point towards the existence of different mechanisms of regulation of expression within the same class of genes, perhaps reflecting differential spatial expression or functional diversification.

Class III peroxidases are involved in diverse functions including the formation of ROS, cross-linking of cell wall constituents, and catabolism of lignin and certain hormones (Bakalovic et al. 2006). These heme-containing peroxidases constitute another family of genes for which I observed contrasting patterns of increased and decreased abundance of individual transcripts following 6 h and 48 h of treatment (Table 2.1). Among the 73 class III peroxidase genes predicted in the Arabidopsis genome, 71 were printed on my array, I detected transcripts of 36 and 41 genes above background for 6 h and 48 h respectively. In contrast to the genes in the ROS network, for which differences in transcript abundance were more commonly detected after 48 h of exposure, differences in transcript abundance for Class III peroxidases were more commonly detected after 6 h of exposure. Transcripts for ten Class III peroxidase genes increased after 6 h, while four of these decreased at the same time point. A nearly opposite pattern was observed for the 48 h profile, in which transcripts for only one gene increased and three others decreased. Because Class III peroxidases are a multifunctional class of proteins (Passardi et al. 2005), the various patterns of expression could represent a wide range of peroxide-related responses to Al stress.

Transcripts for Glutathione-S-transferase (GST) also showed diverse responses to Al stress. GST enzymes conjugate toxins to glutathione and form S-glutathionylated products, which are transported to the vacuole through the action of ATP Binding Cassette (ABC) transporters (Rea 1999). These enzymes also help to protect cells from oxidative damage. Among the 53 GST genes in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed 49 different GST probes on my arrays and detected transcripts for 28 and 23 genes above background for 6 h and 48 h respectively. Transcripts for a total of three genes increased in abundance and eight decreased in abundance after 6 h exposure to Al (Table 2.1), whereas transcripts for two genes (At1g10370, At1g78380) were more abundant and transcripts for one gene (At5g62480) was less abundant at 48 hours. Approximately, 50% of the GSTs identified as Al responsive belonged to the Tau sub-family. This points towards the important role of Tau class of GSTs under stress conditions (Kilili *et al.* 2004).

# 2.3.2.2. Transporters

Regulated movement of solutes and various macro-molecules across cell membranes is an important component of stress responses. I observed differential abundance of transcripts for several types of transporters following Al treatment (Table 2.2). These included ABC transporters, aquaporins, sugar transporters, and antiporters. The ABC group of transporters, which belong to large gene family with diverse functions, are also known to facilitate the movement of glutathionylated toxins and other substrates across biological membranes (Rea 1999). Among the 94 ABC transporters in the Arabidops is genome, I printed probes for 88 different transporter genes on my arrays (Table 2.2). I found reduced levels of transcript for a single gene after 6 h, whereas transcripts for a total of 3 genes increased in abundance and 4 genes decreased in abundance after 48 h stress. These results indicate that ABC transporters, which work in conjunction with other detoxifying systems, were associated primarily with later stages of Al stress.

74

Aquaporins transport water, gases, uncharged solutes, and micronutrients across the plasma membrane or tonoplast (Tyerman *et al.* 2002). Among the 35 aquaporin genes in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed 33 different probes on my arrays. I found transcripts for 9 genes increased in abundance after 6 h exposure to Al, whereas transcripts for one aquaporin gene increased (At2g21020) and transcripts for another aquaporin (At4g17340) decreased in abundance after 48 h (Table 2.2). These observations suggest that the regulation of water or solute movement by aquaporins may be an important early response to Al stress.

Plant sugar transporters are responsive to many stresses, including pathogen infection and wounding (Lalonde *et al.* 1999). I detected differences in transcript abundance for several sugar transporters following Al exposure. Among the 48 sugar transporter genes present in the Arabidops is genome and 47 printed on my arrays, I detected increased abundance of transcripts for a hexose transporter (At5g61520) and an uncharacterized sugar transporter (At1g08900) after 48 h of Al treatment. Conversely, transcripts for a sugar transport protein (*STP13*; At5g26340) and sugar-porter family protein1 gene (*SFP1*; At5g27350) decreased in abundance after 6 h and 48 h exposure respectively. *STP13* is tightly related to programmed cell death where as *SFP1* is similar to a major monosaccharide transporter known to be induced by higher sugar concentration, and during leaf senescence (Quirino *et al.* 2001). More recently, over-expression of *STP13* has been reported to improve plant growth and nitrogen use in Arabidopsis (Schofield *et al.* 2009).

Among the 70 antiporter genes in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed 66 different antiporter probes on my arrays. I observed decreased abundance of transcripts encoding one Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter (At2g01980) after 6 h and 48 h exposures, while transcripts for a gene encoding a Ca<sup>2+</sup>/Na<sup>+</sup> antiporter (*CAX7*; At5g17860) were decreased in abundance

after 6 h and then increased in abundance after 48 h of Al exposure. The  $Ca^{2+}/H^{+}$  exchanger family contains 11 members that have been named *CAX1* to *CAX11* and some members have been identified to play a role in sequestration of metals and calcium into the vacuole (Pardo *et al.* 2006).

I also observed differential regulation of two other genes encoding  $Ca^{2+}$ transporters. Transcript abundance patterns varied depending upon their sub-cellular location. Transcripts of a plasma membrane or plastid envelope  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase gene; *ACA1* (At1g27770), decreased by more than 50 fold; whereas transcripts for an ER-type  $Ca^{2+}$ -pumping ATPase; *ECA1* (At1g07810) increased by 50 fold. Since internal concentration of  $Ca^{2+}$  is a primary signal of a stress, transporters responsible for this  $Ca^{2+}$  influx may represent one sensor of stress (Xiong *et al.* 2002).

Exposure to Al reduces movement of ions across the plasma membranes of roots (Matsumoto 2000). I observed differential abundance of transcripts encoding various proteins involved in regulating intracellular concentrations of potassium, nitrogen, sulfur, sodium, and calcium. In addition to the genes identified in Table 2.2, I detected decreases in transcript abundance for three different K<sup>+</sup> channels genes, namely *AKT2* (At4g22200), K<sup>+</sup> channel beta subunit *KAB1* (At1g04690), and *KEA3* (At4g04850). However, I also observed a consistent increase in abundance of transcripts for a gene (At2g24240) encoding a K<sup>+</sup> channel tetramerization domain protein. I found changes in transcript abundance for two NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> transporters: ammonium transporter1, member3 (*AMT1.3;* At3g24300) increased in abundance, while transcripts for a similar protein (At3g24290) decreased following Al exposure. I also found increased levels of transcripts for three nitrate transporter genes (At1g08100, At3g45060 and At1g08090) after 6 h, and two sulfate transporter genes (At1g77990 and At5g10180) after 48 h. Sulfur is a constituent

of the amino acid cysteine, which is required for glutathione biosynthesis, which in turn is a major component of plant defenses against oxidative stress.

# 2.3.2.3. Energy and primary metabolism

Among the 70 glycolysis and 56 TCA genes in the Arabidopsis genome, I deposited probes for 64 glycolysis and 52 TCA cycle related genes on my array (Table 2.3). Seven glycolysis or TCA-related transcripts showed differential abundance following Al treatment. Within the glycolytic pathway, transcripts for fructosebisphosphate aldolase (At2g16940) increased after 6 h of stress, while transcripts for another fructose-bisphosphate aldolase isoform (At2g36460) decreased after 48 h. Transcript levels for three genes encoding pyruvate kinase (At5g63680, At3g04050, At3g49160) increased after 48 h exposure, suggesting that pyruvate synthesis may be a favored process when roots experience Al stress. In addition to glycolysis related genes, I observed increased abundance of transcripts encoding pyruvate dehydrogenase (after 48 h Al treatment) that carries out oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate to form acetyl CoA (an initial substrate for the TCA cycle). Among all TCA cycle genes, transcripts for only one gene, a mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase [Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide] (MDH, At1g53240), increased in abundance after 48 h. A role for MDH in Al resistance is consistent with the Al-resistant phenotype observed (Tesfaye et al. 2001) in a transgenic line of alfalfa (Medicago sativa) over-expressing MDH.

The pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) is the major generator of reducing power (NADPH) in roots (Esposito *et al.* 2003). Among the 32 PPP genes present in the Arabidops is genome, I deposited probes for 31 genes on my array (Table 2.3). Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (G6PDH) and 6-phophogluconate dehydrogenase are two important components of the PPP. I found increased abundance of transcripts for two

genes encoding 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (At1g64190 and At5g41670) at 6 h and 48 h exposures respectively whereas, transcripts for a similar protein (At1g17650) decreased in abundance after 6 h and then increased after 48 h exposure. It is possible that because Al generates a burst of ROS, roots enhance the generation of NADPH to maintain a high ratio of reduced forms of antioxidants such as glutathione for the proper scavenging of ROS in cells.

#### 2.3.2.4. Polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism

Glycoside hydrolases (GH) are a diverse group of enzymes organized into 31 families. These enzymes hydrolyze specific bonds involving one or more saccharides (Coutinho and Henrissat, 1999). Among the 289 GH probes printed on my microarrays, I detected hybridization to 78 of these above background (Table 2.3). I detected increased abundance of transcripts for six GH genes and decreased abundance of transcripts for seven GH genes after 6 h of exposure. However, after 48 h of stress, transcripts for more genes increased (14) than decreased (3) in abundance. I observed a predominance of families GH16 (containing xyloglucan endotransglycosylases; XTHs) and GH28 (containing polygalacturonases) among the Al-responsive transcripts related to glycoside hydrolases. Notably, transcripts for three Al-responsive XTH (GH16) genes decreased in abundance, after 6 h exposure including ATXTH19 (At4g30290), ATXTH18 (At4g30280) and MERI5B/BRU (At4g30270). In contrast, all of the Al-responsive transcripts of polygalacturonases (GH28) increased in transcript abundance after 48 h. Decreased abundance of XTH at 6 h and increased abundance of polygalacturonases at 48 h suggest a role for physiological and structural changes in the root cell wall during early and late phases of Al stress responses.

78

Glycosyl transferases (GTs) catalyze the transfer of sugar moieties from activated donor molecules to specific acceptor molecules, thereby forming glycosidic bonds (Coutinho *et al.* 2003). Among the 279 GT-related genes in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed probes for 269 genes on my arrays. I observed differential abundance of transcripts for 11 genes encoding GTs, primarily after 48 h (Table 2.3). This indicates that glycosylation processes, including synthesis of cell wall components, post-translational modification of proteins, and conjugation of other molecules could be an important component of cellular response towards Al stress. The activity of GTs is required for cell wall synthesis and hence may affect the thickening and rigidification of cell walls, and the inhibition of longitudinal cell expansion that have been reported under Al stress (Sasaki *et al.* 1996, Jones *et al.* 2006).

Among the other 152 cell wall-related genes represented on my arrays, I detected transcripts for 48 and 56 genes (6 h and 48 h respectively; Table 2.3), and the abundance of 4 and 7 genes were affected by Al stress after 6 and 48 h respectively. Caffeic acid O-methyltransferase (COMT) and 4-coumarate:CoA ligase (4CL) play important roles in lignification of cell walls. I observed increased abundance of transcripts for a COMT-like gene (At1g76790) and decreased abundance for a 4CL family gene (Table 2.3). Among three expansin genes detected in my data, transcripts for two genes (At3g45970 and At4g01630) increased whereas transcripts for another gene (At3g45970) decreased in abundance. Some Lipid Transfer Proteins (LTP) also play a role in cell wall extension (Nieuwland *et al.* 2005). I found increases (At3g18280 and At2g48140) and decreases (At3g22600; 6 h and At1g32280; 48 h) in the abundance of transcripts for LTP-encoding genes. Collectively, these results may highlight the importance of dynamic changes in cell wall structure during the Al-stress response.

#### 2.3.2.5. Protein metabolism

Among the 228 ribosome proteins in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed probes for 200 genes on my arrays (Table 2.4). I observed increase in transcript abundance for five ribosomal genes after 6 h treatment, and did not observe any decrease in transcript abundance for ribosomal genes during this time period. However, after 48 h exposure, transcripts for five ribosomal genes increased and transcripts for three genes decreased in abundance, indicating that there may be increased demand for specific ribosomal components during Al exposure. This contrasts with reports of more generally decreased abundance of transcripts for ribosomal proteins in roots of Arabidopsis under conditions of salt stress (Jiang and Deyholos 2006).

Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs) are important in stabilizing, folding, and degrading damaged proteins. Among the 70 HSP-related genes found in the Arabidopsis genome, I printed probes for 68 on my arrays. I found increased abundance of transcripts for a gene encoding a chloroplastidic form of *HSP101* (At5g57710) after 48 h, whereas, transcript for two other genes (*HSP101*; At1g74310 and Aha-1 domain containing protein; At3g12050) decreased in abundance (Table 2.4).

Nutrient recycling and proteome modification require peptidases. The Arabidopsis genome contains at least 678 endo-peptidases, which have been grouped into seven super families (Rawlings *et al.* 2004). I printed probes for 524 genes on my arrays. Four endopeptidase super families were predominately represented on my arrays: aspartic peptidases, cysteine peptidases, metallopeptidases and serine peptidases (Table 2.4), with serine peptidases most frequently detected, followed by aspartic acid peptidases. Among the four aspartic acid peptidase encoding genes whose transcripts increased after Al exposure, transcripts for one gene (At3g61820) increased by over 200-fold after 48 h.

80

The ubiquitin proteosome pathway confers specificity to prote in degradation (in contrast to the less specific peptidases described above) by tagging targeted proteins with ubiquitin (Moon *et al.* 2004). The 26S proteasome is a multi subunit complex that consists of a cylindrical 20S core protease with a 19S regulatory particle cap on both ends. I found transcripts from three genes encoding for 19S regulatory subunit to be differentially abundant in Al stressed roots after 48 h (Table 2.4). Approximately 90% of the genes specific to the Ub/26S pathway encode subunits of E3 ubiquitin ligases, which confer substrate specificity to the pathway (Smalle and Vierstra 2004). A large number of E3 ligases were found Al responsive after 48 h of stress. Interestingly, transcripts for an E3 ligase-RING encoding gene (At1g19310) decreased after 6 h, and increased over 100 fold after 48 h. However, transcripts for another E3 ligase-RING encoding gene (At2g34000) increased for both 6 h and 48 h exposures, with over 50 fold increase after 48 h stress. My data suggest that degradation of specific proteins may be regulated by transcriptional control of E3 ligases upon perception of Al stress (Scarafia *et al.* 2000).

# 2.3.2.6. Signaling and hormones

Perception and transmission of stress signals are likely to be important aspects of plant response to Al toxicity. Several components of signaling pathways detected on my arrays were responsive to Al, including protein kinases, protein phosphatases and genes related to hormone synthesis or perception, as well as transcription factors.

The Arabidops is genome contains an estimated 979 protein kinases classified into 5 classes and 81 families. Of the 921 genes (protein kinases and protein phosphatases) represented on my arrays, I detected transcripts of 271 and 275 genes above background after 6 h and 48 h of stress, respectively (Table 2.5). I found transcripts of 1 gene increased in abundance, and transcripts of 11 genes decreased in abundance at after 6 h exposure. After 48 h of Al exposure, transcripts for 21 kinase or phosphatase genes increased and transcripts for 15 decreased in transcript abundance. Most of the kinases that I detected belonged to the two largest classes namely, Class 1/ PPC 1(transmembrane receptor kinase and related non-transmembrane kinase), and Class 4/ PPC 4 (nontransmembrane protein kinase). Increased abundance of transcripts for a transmembrane receptor gene (At1g29740) belonging to S-domain kinase family were detected after 6 h as well as 48 h of exposure. Transcripts for three additional transmembrane receptor genes belonging to the leucine-rich repeat protein kinase family (At5g59660 and At2g24230) and CRPKIL-1(At2g23200) protein kinases were also abundant after 48 h of Al stress. Transmembrane receptor kinases can play an important role in stress perception and transmission from one cell to another. Differential abundance of transcripts for a number of different transmembrane receptor kinases after 48 h exposure to Al suggested that multiple receptors belonging to different classes may have unique regulatory mechanisms.

Protein phosphatases are divided into three groups: Serine/Threonine phosphatases (ST), Dual Specific Phosphatases (DSPs), and Protein Phosphatase 2C (PP2C; Tchieu *et al.* 2003). Among the 125 protein phosphatase specific genes in the Arabidops is genome, I printed 116 on my arrays and detected 40 and 42 above background after 6 and 48 h respectively. I did not observe any protein phosphatase transcripts that increased in abundance after 6 h of stress treatment (Table 2.5). However, after 48 h I found increased abundance of transcripts for three protein phosphatases, namely: a ST phosphatase (phosphoprotein phosphatase, PPX-1; At4g26720), a PP2C gene (At2g33700), and a calcineurin-like phosphoesterase family protein (At3g09970). Interestingly, PPX-1 has been reported to be localized in the epidermal plastids of roots (Pujol *et al.* 2000). Hormones play an important role in signaling. My results indicated that transcripts putatively related to auxin, ethylene, and cytokinin metabolism were affected under Al treatment (Table 2.5). Among the 20 IAA (auxin) biosynthesis genes present in genome of Arabidopsis, I printed probes for 19 genes. I detected transcripts encoding an auxin biosynthesis gene, *NITRILASE* 2 (At3g44300), decreased in abundance after 48 h of stress. Transcripts for *PIN*7 (At1g23080), an auxin efflux carrier, decreased sharply after 48 h of stress. Also, transcripts for IAA amido synthase (At5g54510) increased by approximately 130-fold. IAA-amido synthase conjugates Ala, Asp, Phe, and Trp to auxin and controls auxin homeostasis. These changes at the transcript level may reduce auxin activity and transport and may be part of the mechanism limiting lateral root growth under Al stress. I found decreases in transcript abundance for two genes involved in the ethylene biosynthesis pathway after 48 h of exposure to Al. Specifically, transcripts for two genes encoding a key enzyme for ethylene biosynthesis, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate synthase (ACC synthase, At4g08040, At5g64330) decreased in abundance by approximately 200 fold after 48 h of Al-exposure.

# 2.3.2.7. Transcription factors

The Arabidopsis genome contains approximately 1,922 genes encoding transcription factors (TFs) divided into 62 groups (Guo *et al.* 2005). Among the 1,613 transcription factors represented on my microarray, 426 and 445 genes were detected above background for 6 h and 48 h respectively (Table 2.6). The majority of Al responsive transcripts belonged to Apetala-2/EREBP (AP2/EREBP), <u>Myelob</u>lastosis (MYB), basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) and <u>Cys2- H</u>is2 (C2H2) families. These are also some the largest TF families present in the Arabidopsis genome. Among TFs represented by transcripts that were highly enriched following Al-treatment (primarily after 48 h of

treatment), I observed members of the following families: C2C2-GATA (At4g24470 and At5g56860); TAZ (At5g63160); E2F/DPE2FC (At5g03415); GARP-G2-like (At1g13300) and SBP (At2g33810). Transcripts for some of the genes found highly abundant belonged to GRAS family (At1g50600, 250 fold) and bZIP family (At1g32150, 28 fold). Also, some TF encoding genes showed opposite transcript abundance patterns for 6 h and 48 h Al treatment. For example, transcripts for AP2/EREBP family gene (At5g67180) and MYB family gene (At1g17950) decreased by 2 fold at 6 h but increased by over 250 fold after 48 h of Al exposure.

#### 2.3.3. Validation of microarray data

To validate the results of my microarray analysis, I conducted quantitative reverse transcription PCR (QRT-PCR). I selected ten transcripts representing a variety of expression patterns and biological functions, including five closely related members of the class III peroxidase family (Table 2.7). In addition, I selected ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (UBC; At5g25760) as a reference gene (Czechowski *et al.* 2005) and confirmed its stable expression pattern in root tissue from eight independent samples collected after 6 h and 48 h exposures (data not shown). I measured the abundance of these transcripts in each of three biologically independent replicates for each time point (6 h or 48 h) and each treatment (0 or 25  $\mu$ M Al), where at least one replicate in each case was independent of samples used for microarray hybridization. For nine of the ten transcripts analyzed, the general pattern of Al-treatment responses I observed was the same whether measured by QRT-PCR or microarray, although the magnitude of the changes in transcript abundance differed in most cases between the analytical techniques. Since most of the genes selected for validation of microarray belonged to large gene families, the selected primer

pairs for some of these gene may also to bind to related genes. A WU-BLAST analysis predicted that while *PER69*, *PER62*, *PER27*, *GSTF6*, IAA-amido synthase, and thioredoxin primers are gene specific, other primers: *PER2*, *GSTU4*, and *ECA1* primers could bind at least one other closely related gene. However, the dissociation curve of QRT-PCR for all of the products reported was consistent with a homogeneous amplification product. Also, primer pairs designed originally for *PER49* aligned with sequence *PER34/PER33* (At3g49110/At3g49120) instead of *PER49* indicating perhaps an error in naming the primer. Notwithstanding these limitations the changes in transcript abundance that I described using microarray analysis appeared to be reproducible independent of the analytical technique (Table 2.7). The sole exception was At3g15360 (thioredoxin) for which different responses were observed at 6 h using the microarray and QRT-PCR techniques.

To further detect dynamic changes in transcriptome beyond the two time points (6 h and 48 h) selected for microarray, I exposed hydroponically grown roots of Arabidopsis to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h of A1 treatments. I measured the transcript abundance of five peroxidase genes (*PER2*, *PER27*, *PER34*, *PER62*, and *PER 69*) in three biologically independent samples for each time point using QRT-PCR. Interestingly, I detected dynamic changes in the transcript abundance for all peroxidases with changes detected as early as 1 h for most of them (Fig. 2.5). To determine if sequence identity correlated with similar transcript abundance patterns, I looked for the similarities and the differences in temporal expression profiles of peroxidases and compared them with available sequence information. I found no correlation between sequence identity and temporal expression profiles, e.g., despite 78% identity (highest among all five peroxidases), *PER62* and *PER69* displayed differences. Overall, all

peroxidases I studied followed a general trend of increased transcript abundance soon after exposure to Al followed by decline after 48 h exposures with sole exception *PER62*.

# 2.4. Discussion

I conducted microarray analysis to identify transcripts in Arabidopsis roots that changed in abundance following exposure to Al. I have focused on roots because soil is the site of Al exposure, and inhibition of root elongation is primary and most dramatic effect of Al toxicity (Kochian 1995). As a prerequisite to transcriptional profiling, I optimized a hydroponic growth system that allowed efficient sampling of roots from plants that had been treated with a well-defined activity of Al<sup>3+</sup>.

I present here a large scale, transcriptomic analysis of root responses to Alusing a microarray with probes representing approximately 93% of the predicted genes in the Arabidops is genome. I observed a broader range of statistically significant changes in transcript abundance after 48 h (1,114 genes) as compared to 6 h (401 genes) of Al treatment. There was relatively little overlap in the complement of Al-responsive transcripts detected at each time point (Fig. 2.3). These two trends were conserved in each of the eight biologically independent samples I analyzed at each time point, and also when comparisons were made for genes where transcript abundance changed by  $\geq 1.5$ -fold or  $\geq 2$ -fold following Al treatment. Because I detected hybridization signal intensities above background for an almost equal number of probes at each time point, the differences between 6 h and 48 h samples were not due to systematic biases in measurement. Neither could the different transcript abundance patterns be attributed to circadian effects, considering that each Al treated sample was compared to an untreated control sample harvested at the same time point. Thus, distinct sets of transcripts appear

to be expressed following 6 h and 48 h of Altreatment, with a much larger set of responsive transcripts observed after 48 h of treatment. These observations contrast with most previously published microarray analyses of other abiotic stress responses, in which the bulk of transcriptomic changes were generally detected at early (e.g. 6 h) rather than later (e.g. 24 h, 48 h) intervals after the imposition of stress (Kreps *et al.* 2002, Wang *et al.* 2003, Jiang and Deyholos 2006). This suggests that treatment with Al imposes some unique challenges to plants that are reflected in the transcriptomic response. This could reflect the pervasive nature of Al injury, which accumulates over time.

My results are in agreement with previous reports of Al-induced expression of specific components of the ROS response network, including ascorbate peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, MDAR, glutathione reductases, and GSTs (Richards 1998, Basu 2001, Basu 2004, Chen 2005). Although oxidative stress is commonly presumed to be a major component of Al stress, I observed increased transcript abundance for only a small proportion of ROS network genes (Table 2.1). These ROS network genes play a role in responding to increased production of ROS under conditions of Al stress. Alternatively, regulation of gene expression could initiate a transient change in redox state that may act as signal for activation of other stress responsive genes.

The majority of ROS-related transcripts that I observed to increase in abundance following Al treatment belonged to the multifunctional, Class III family of peroxidases (Table 2.1) which can either generate ROS, or detoxify them (Passardi *et al.* 2005). Modulating the expression and activity of peroxidases could affect plant growth via regulation of multiple processes including cell wall formation and loosening. I used QRT PCR to confirm transcript abundances of five peroxidases (*PER2, PER27, PER49, PER62*, and *PER69*) after 6 h and 48 h of Al exposures (Table 2.7). Sequence similarities among members of class III peroxidases suggest occurrences of genomic rearrangement resulting in extensive duplication and perhaps functional diversification in Arabidopsis (Tognolli *et al.* 2002). To determine if duplication events in Class III peroxidases have any relevance to functional diversification within this class, I studied a comparative transcript profiling for selected peroxidases under different duration of Al stress for (Fig. 2.5). Even though *PER62* and *PER69* have high protein sequence similarity (Tognolli *et al.* 2002), each peroxidase had a distinct transcript profile. Overall, all peroxidases I studied followed a general trend of increased transcript abundance soon after exposure to Al followed by decline after 48 h exposures with sole exception *PER62*. This may point towards a unique role of Class III peroxidases using promoter deletion, reporter fusion, and knock out based expression studies would help to elucidate their unique role under Al stress conditions.

Recent studies have demonstrated that some metabolic enzymes are regulated by enzymes of the ROS network, including thioredoxins (TRX; Hisabori *et al.* 2005, Hara *et al.* 2006), and via glutathionylation (Dixon *et al.* 2005, Zaffagnini *et al.* 2007). I detected increased transcript abundance of TRXs and components of the glutathione antioxidant system. For example, transcripts of a thioredoxin gene increased by 1.5-fold after 48 h Al exposure (confirmed by QRT-PCR). This gene is similar to thioredoxins reported to activate a cytosolic form MDH (Hara *et al.* 2006). In addition to their roles in mitigating oxidative damage within the cells, TRXs and other components of the ROS network may therefore control steps of metabolic pathways (Dixon *et al.* 2005), including OA exudation.

Exudation of organic anions (OA) is a strategy for alleviating Al toxicity that has attracted considerable attention in recent years. Some OAs are capable of forming a stable complex with Al, thereby preventing the binding of Al to extra- and intracellular ligands. Ma et al. (2001) proposed two patterns of OA release. In Pattern I, secretion of OAs is rapid, due to the activation of anion channels and does not require transcription. In Pattern II, secretion of OA occurs after a lag of several hours, and is proposed to arise from the induction of various genes encoding biosynthetic enzymes and or transport proteins. I did not detect a significant increase in transcript abundance for any of the genes of the TCA cycle, except for MDH (malate dehydrogenase). MDH is also differentially abundant in response to various other abiotic stresses including NaCl (Zimmermann et al. 2004, Jiang and Deyholos 2006). Previous reports have failed to detect increased activity of several wheat TCA cycle enzymes (*in vitro*) upon A1 exposure, even though OA exudation was seen to increase (Hayes and Ma 2003). My results also indicate that transcript levels for these enzymes are unaffected by Al stress. Nonetheless, overexpression studies of citrate synthase in canola (Anoop et al. 2003) and malate dehydrogenase in alfalfa (Medicago sativa; Tesfaye et al. 2001) have shown enhanced resistance to Al stress. At first sight, data such as these appear to be contradictory. However, experiments indicating a lack of regulation of TCA cycle enzymes have been largely based upon transcript abundance or *in-vitro* assays of enzymatic activity, both of which would not be expected to provide insight into posttranscriptional regulation. Increased abundance of proteins or increased activities of proteins as a result of post translational modification, along with enhanced efflux via transporters might be the important points of regulation of organic anion secretion. Recently, aluminum activated malate transporter (ALMT1) has already been identified as an OA transporter (Sasaki et al. 2004).

Among several transporters responsive to Al treatment, ABC transporters have drawn my attention because of the broad range of substrates that are transported (Rea

89
1999), and because of speculation that <u>Al-a</u>ctivated <u>anion channels</u> (ALAAC) could be ABC proteins (Ryan *et al.* 2001; Zhang *et al.* 2001). Recently, an ABC transporterrelated gene (*ALS3*) has been suggested to impart Al resistance, presumably by redistributing Al away from sensitive tissues (Larsen *et al.* 2005). They observed that, the expression of *ALS3* increases in roots after Al treatments and the immunogold studies showed that ALS3 predominantly accumulates in the plasma membrane. Since mutants of als3 mutants exhibited extreme root growth inhibition in the presence of Al, *ALS3* was proposed to be an Al resistance gene.

Interactions between Al and  $Ca^{2+}$  have been previously implicated in the Al stress response. I observed increased abundance of transcripts for various  $Ca^{2+}$  transporting pumps, including an ER-type  $Ca^{2+}$  pump (ECA), which is known to confer resistance to  $Mg^{2+}$  stress (Wu *et al.* 2002). I have also confirmed the transcript abundance of this gene using QRT-PCR (Table 2.7). Transcripts for several Calcium Response Kinases (CRKs) were also significantly responsive to Al treatment in my study. Sivaguru *et al.* (2003) previously identified a Calcium Response Kinase, WAK1 (cell wall-associated receptor kinase 1), that was induced in response to Al stress in roots. I also identified potential Al stress responsive membrane receptor kinases belonging to S domain kinase, CRPKIL-1 and leucine-rich repeat families. Changes in cytosolic calcium concentration and differential abundance of various receptor kinases suggest the role of these proteins in Al stress signaling.

Many other uncharacterized Al resistance mechanisms have been suggested to operate in plants. Interestingly, a large number of genes with unknown biological functions were found to be increased or decreased by more than 2 fold in response to Al exposure. These unknown genes may constitute novel targets of Al toxicity and resistance. Further characterization of these Al-responsive genes using T-DNA insertion lines, siRNA knock down lines and over expression studies would be helpful.

Even though genomics-based approaches help to identify novel cellular target of stress at transcriptome level, further integration of these data with parallel proteomicsbased studies would help to uncover post-transcriptional processing in response to Al stress. A comparative analysis of large sets of available transcriptomics data from various abiotic stresses would further help to elucidate unique target specific for Al. Figure 2.1. Growth of roots a) and shoots b) of 14 day old plants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* in the hydroponic system.



Figure 2.2. Relative root growth increment (RRGI) of roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* after exposure to aluminum.

a) Relative root growth increment (RRGI) in response to various concentrations of aluminum after 48 h exposures; error bars are the standard error of the mean.
b) Phenotype of roots of Arabidopsis treated with 25 µM AlCl<sub>3</sub> for 48 h.



a)

Figure 2.3. Number of genes for which transcript abundance increased (up) or decreased (dn) by >1.5-fold or >2.0-fold compared to controls when roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* were exposed to 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress (FDR 5%).



Figure 2.4. Functional categorization of genes for which transcript abundance increased (up) or decreased (down) by >1.5 fold compared to controls when roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* were exposed to 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress.



Figure 2.5. Time course study of transcript profiling of five class III peroxidases in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* exposed to 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> in hydroponics measured by QRT-PCR. The relative expression profile for each peroxidase is labeled accordingly. Error bars are standard error of mean.



Table 2.1. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to oxidative stress responses. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidopsis genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly. \*Only subsections that have more proportion of genes are shown.

					6 h			48 h	
Fur	nctional categories*	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased
1	Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) network	152	138	50	At1g63940	At3g22370	59	6	5
	ROS-Ascorbate Peroxidase (APX)	9	8	2	0	0	3	At3g09640	0
	ROS-Glutathione Reductase (GR)	5	4	3	0	0	3	At3g24170	0
	ROS- (SOD)	8	8	3	0	0	4	At4g25100	0
	ROS-Alternative Oxidase (AOX)	6	6	4	0	At3g22370	4	0	At5g64210
	ROS-Glutaredoxin (GLR)	27	26	4	0	0	8	0	At1g03850
	ROS-Peroxiredoxin (PrxR)	11	10	4	0	0	4	0	At1g60740
	ROS- (MDAR)	5	5	5	At1g63940	0	5	At3g09940	At5g03630
	ROS-Thioredoxins (Trx)	32	31	13	0	0	12	At3g20560A t5g42980	At4g35460

2	Class III peroxidase	73	71	36	At5g67400 At5g64100 At5g42180 At5g39580 At5g19890 At4g30170 At4g21960 At3g01190 At2g37130 At1g05250	At4g37520 At4g36430 At3g49120	41	At5g15180	At5g39580 At3g01190 At2g39040
3	Glutathione-S-Transferase (GST)	53	49	28	3	8	23	2	1
	GST::Tau family	28	26	12	At3g43800	At3g09270 At1g78380 At1g78340	11	At1g78380 At1g10370	At5g62480

Table 2.2. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to transporters. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidops is genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly.

				6 h			48 h	
Functional categories	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased
1 ABC transporters	94	88	18	0	At1g30400	18	At1g04120 At2g28070 At5g03910	At3g60160 At2g37360 At2g29940 At1g71330
2 Aquaporins	35	33	19	At5g47450 At4g17340 At4g01470 At3g61430 At3g53420 At3g16240 At2g37180 At2g37170 At2g36830	0	23	At2g21020	At4g17340
3 Sugar transporter	48	47	17	0	At5g26340	18	At5g61520 At1g08900	At5g27350
4 Antiporters	70	66	19	0	At5g17860 At2g01980	20	At5g17860	At2g01980

Table 2.3. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to energy, primary metabolism, polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidopsis genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly. TCA: Tricarobxylic acid pathway. \*Only subsections that have more proportion of genes are shown.

					6 h _			48 h	
F	unctional categories*	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased
1	Glycolysis	70	64	38	At2g16940	0	41	At5g63680 At3g49160 At3g04050	At2g36460 At2g21170
2	TCA	56	52	20	0	0	25	At1g53240	0
3	Pentose Phosphate Pathway	32	31	11	At5g13420 At1g64190	At1g17650	11	At5g41670 At1g17650	At1g71100
4	Polysaccharide and cell wall								
	Glycoside Hydrolases (GH)	306	289	78	6	7	78	14	3
	GH Family 16	27	26	7	0	At4g30290 At4g30280 At4g30270	7	0	0
	GH Family 28	52	46	6	0	0	8	At3g49170 At1g80140 At1g70500	0
	Glycosyl Transferases (GT)	279	269	73	0	At2g38650	74	At5g12890 At3g45100	At1g20570 At2g38650

							At2g22590	At5g16190
							At1g71990	At5g64740
							At1g24170	At3g06440
							At1g12990	
other cell wall related	166	152	48	At1g76790	At3g22600	56	At4g01630	At3g45970
				At3g45970			At3g19450	At4g19010
				At3g18280			At2g48140	At5g48930
				-			-	At1g32280

Table 2.4. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to protein metabolism. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidopsis genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly. \*Only subsections that have more proportion of genes are shown.

					6 h			48 h	
F	unctional categories*	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased
1	Ribosomes	228	200	156	4	0	162	5	3
	ribosome-Large	121	100	78	At3g49010 At2g39460 At1g27400	0	81	At5g27770 At3g04400	At5g60670
	ribosome-Small	94	87	66	At5g59850	0	70	At3g43980 At5g52650 At5g63070	At3g02560 At1g04270
2	Heat Shock Protein (HSP)	70	68	34	0	0	33	At5g57710	At3g12050 At1g74310
3	Peptidase	678	524	165	4	5	174	10	8
	peptidase:A	76	69	18	1	0	19	4	1
	peptidase:A:01 aspartic	61	57	17	At3g20015	0	17	At3g61820 At3g51350 At3g51340 At1g66180	At3g20015
	peptidase:C cysteine	102	102	30	0	At4g32940 At3g48340 At1g47128	35	At1g79310	At5g06600
	peptidase:M	85	78	27	At1g79560	0	24	At1g44350	At4g22720

	metallopeptidase								
	peptidase:S serine	261	244	73	At5g58820 At3g01690	At1g64670 At5g58840	78	At5g67090 At5g42230 At3g51000 At3g14240	At1g29840 At1g32970 At5g39220 At5g47040 At5g58840
	peptidase:S:08 subtilisin	56	53	14	At5g58820	At5g58840	15	At3g14240 At5g67090	At1g32970 At5g58840
4	Ubiquitin proteasome pathway							C	C
	19S proteasome	33	31	13	0	0	19	At2g20140	At5g43010 At5g09900
	E3:RING	430	414	107	At2g34000 At2g46160	At5g07040 At4g26400 At1g68820 At1g19310	119	At5g48655 At3g19910 At2g39100 At2g38920 At2g34000 At1g63840 At1g57800 At1g19310 At1g05120	At1g62370 At1g65430 At2g20650 At2g22120 At2g25410 At3g48070 At3g54360 At4g09110 At4g32600 At5g41350
	E3:Ubox	61	53	19	0	0	24	At2g33340 At5g64660	At3g52450 At1g20780
	E3:Ubox::Class III	12	11	4	0	0	5	At5g64660	At3g52450

Table 2.5. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to signaling and hormones. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidopsis genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly. \*Only subsections that have more proportion of genes are shown.

				6 h		48 h			
Functional categories*	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased	
1 Protein Phosphatase/Kinase (PPC)	979	921	271	1	11	275	21	15	
PPC:1 Transmembrane- receptor kinase and related	564	530	155	At1g29740	At1g05700 At3g45860 At4g05200	149	At5g59660 At4g23270 At4g21370 At2g24230 At2g23200 At1g29740 At1g11300	At1g29730 At1g65800 At3g45860 At3g51550 At3g51990 At3g56100 At3g57750 At4g39400 At5g16900	
2 <b>PPC:2</b> ATN1/CTR1/EDR1/GmPK6 like	52	51	17	0	0	21	At5g50180 At3g06620 At3g01490 At1g16270	At3g50720	
3 PPC:4 Non-transmembrane- kinases	279	265	75	0	At3g53030 At3g29160 At3g20410 At2g19400 At1g18890	82	At1g09840 At1g10940 At1g50700 At2g19400 At2g34290 At3g53030	At3g44850 At2g34180 At3g23310 At1g18890	

								At5g14640	
	Calcium Response Kinase	123	119	32	0	At3g29160 At3g20410 At2g19400 At1g18890	39	At2g19400 At1g50700 At1g10940	At2g34180 At1g18890 At3g23310
4	PPC:6 Protein phosphatase	125	116	40	0	0	42	At4g26720 At3g09970 At2g33700	0
5	Hormones							C	
	IAA biosynthesis	20	19	4	0	0	6	0	At3g44300
	Auxin transport	8	8	2	0	0	3	0	At1g23080
	AUX/IAA inducible	29	28	9	0	0	9	At5g54510	At2g22670
	ARF	23	20	7	0	0	7	0	At1g34390 At2g28350
	Ethylene biosynthesis	28	27	9	0	0	9	0	At5g64330 At4g08040

Table 2.6. Aluminum-responsive transcripts related to transcription factors. Functional categories of genes, total number of genes found within the Arabidopsis genome, numbers of genes present on and detected on arrays, and numbers of genes showing significant differences (5% FDR) in transcript abundance are shown in rows and columns labeled accordingly.

				6 h			48 h	
Functional categories	in genome	on array	detected	increased	decreased	detected	increased	decreased
<b>Transcription Factors</b>	1992	1613	426	4	10	445	36	25
AP2/	146	138	43	At5g25810	At5g67180	43	At4g27950	At5g25190
EKEBP							At5g4/230 At5g50080	At2g28550 At1g80580
							At5g52020	Allg00500
							At5g67180	
MYB	203	188	53	0	At1g17950	59	At1g17950	At3g55730
							At2g26960	At3g48920
							At5g40330	
							Al3g38900 At5965230	
bHLH	163	148	35	0	0	44	At4g36930	At2g28160
							At4g34530	At4g05170
							At1g10610	At5g04150
							At1g09250	
C2H2	130	122	39	0	0	41	At1g75710	At5g40710
							At2g28200	
							ALS249930	

C2C2-GATA	29	27	14	0	0	15	At1g08010 At4g24470 At5g56860	0
TAZ	9	9	2	0	0	2	At5g63160	0
E2F/DPE2FC	8	8	4	0	0	5	At5g03415	0
GARP-G2-like	43	43	9	0	0	12	At1g13300 At1g69580	0
SBP	16	15	2	0	0	3	At2g33810	0
GRAS	32	30	10	0	0	11	At1g50600 At3g50650	At1g14920
bZIP	75	68	23	At5g65210	At1g42990 At1g32150	26	At1g32150	At4g36730
ARF	23	20	7	0	0	7	0	At1g34390 At2g28350
C2C2-co-like	31	31	8	0	0	6	0	At1g28050
GeBP	16	14	5	0	0	5	0	At2g36340
HSF	24	23	7	0	0	7	0	At4g11660 At3g63350
PcG	4	3	1	0	0	1	0	At4g02020
PHD	11	10	2	0	0	3	0	At5g63900
ТСР	24	23	7	0	At1g35560	4	0	0
Trihelix	28	28	12	0	0	11	0	At3g10000
VOZ	2	2	1	0	0	1	0	At1g28520
WRKY	72	65	18	0	At5g13080 At2g38470	23	0	At4g01250
ABI3/VP1	13	13	6	0	0	6	At3g11580	0
AS2	42	39	14	At2g23660	0	10	At4g37540	0
BES1	5	5	2	0	0	1	At1g19350	0
PLATZ	9	8	4	0	0	6	At1g43000	0
CCAAT-HAP3	11	11	7	0	At1g09030	6	At5g47640	0

HB	94	92	32	At4g17460	0	29	0	At4g17460
MADS	107	96	24	0	0	23	At5g51870 At3g05860	At5g26630
NAC	113	107	30	0	At5g13180 At3g49530	30	At4g10350	0

Table 2.7. Validation of microarray with QRT-PCR. Selected genes and corrosponding  $log_2$  fold change values from microarrays and QRT-PCR are shown here. se: standard error.

		6 h		2	18 h		
		microaray	QRT-PCR		microaray	QRT-PCR	
	~	$log_{2 \text{fold}}$	$\log_{2 \text{ fold}}$		$\log_{2 \text{ fold}}$	$\log_{2 \text{ fold}}$	
AGI	Gene name	change	change	se	change	change	se
At4g30430	Peroxidase (PER49)	-1.01	-1.97	± 0.55	-0.26	-0.80	± 0.42
At3g01190	Peroxidase (PER27)	2.89	1.12	$\pm 0.05$	-0.59	-1.06	$\pm 0.38$
At5g39580	Peroxidase (PER62)	-0.91	-3.20	$\pm 0.35$	-0.03	-1.45	$\pm 0.44$
At5g64100	Peroxidase (PER69)	1.52	1.37	$\pm 0.43$	-0.47	-0.43	$\pm 0.03$
At1g05250	Peroxidase (PER2)	2.86	1.02	$\pm 0.09$	-0.25	-0.85	$\pm 0.19$
At1g02930	Glutathione transferase (GSTF6)	-1.83	-4.79	$\pm 0.25$	-0.28	-0.53	$\pm 0.09$
At2g29460	Glutathione transferase (GSTU4)	-0.90	-2.73	$\pm 0.16$	0.18	1.27	$\pm 0.11$
At1g07810	ECA1	-2.22	-2.65	$\pm 0.64$	5.74	2.28	$\pm 0.64$
At5g54510	IAA-amido synthase	-0.51	-0.94	$\pm 0.50$	7.05	1.65	$\pm 0.57$
At3g15360	Thioredoxin M-type 4	0.25	-0.58	$\pm 0.45$	2.01	1.64	$\pm 0.63$

- Anoop VM, Basu U, McCammon MT, McAlister-Henn L, Taylor GJ (2003)
   Modulation of citrate metabolism alters aluminum tolerance in yeast and transgenic canola overexpressing a mitochondrial citrate synthase. Plant Physiol 132:2205-17
- Amme S, Matros A, Schlesier B, Mock HP (2006) Proteome analysis of cold stress response in Arabidopsis thaliana using DIGE-technology. J Exp Bot 57:1537-46
- Bakalovic N, Passardi F, Ioannidis V, Cosio C, Penel C, Falquet L, Dunand C (2006) PeroxiBase: a class III plant peroxidase database. Phytochemistry **67**:534-39
- Basu U, Basu A, Taylor GJ (1994) Differential exudation of polypeptides by roots of aluminum-resistant and aluminum-sensitive cultivars of *Triticum aestivum* L. in response to aluminum stress. Plant Physiol 106:151-58
- Basu U, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Transgenic *Brassica napus* plants overexpressing aluminum-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminum. Plant Cell Environ. 24:1269–78
- Basu U, Southron JL, Stephens JL, Taylor GJ (2004) Reverse genetic analysis of the glutathione metabolic pathway suggests a novel role of *PHGPX* and *URE2* genes in aluminum resistance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Genet Genomics 271: 627-37
- Brosche M, Strid A (1999) Cloning, expression, and molecular characterization of a small pea gene family regulated by low levels of ultraviolet B radiation and other stresses. Plant Physiol 121:479-87
- Chivasa S, Hamilton JM, Pringle RS, Ndimba BK, Simon WJ, Lindsey K, Slabas AR (2006) Proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins in fungal elicitor-treated Arabidopsis cell cultures. J Exp Bot 57:1553-62

- Chen LS, Qi YP, Liu XH (2005) Effects of aluminum on light energy utilization and photoprotective systems in citrus leaves. Ann Bot 96:35-41
- **Coutinho PM, Henrissat B** (1999) Carbohydrate-active enzymes: an integrated database approach. In: Gilbert HJ, Davies G, Henrissat B and Svensson B (eds) Recent Advances in Carbohydrate Bioengineering. The royal society of chemistry, Cambridge, pp. 3-12
- **Coutinho PM, Deleury E, Davies GJ, Henrissat B** (2003) An evolving hierarchical family classification for glycosyltransferases. J Mol Biol. **328**:307-317
- **Cruz-Ortega R, Cushman JC, Ownby JD** (1997) cDNA clones encoding 1,3-betaglucanase and a fimbrin-like cytoskeletal protein are induced by Al toxicity in wheat roots. Plant Physiol **114**:1453-60
- Czechowski T, Stitt M, Altmann T, Udvardi MK, Scheible WR (2005) Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 139:5-17
- Degenhardt J, Larsen PB, Howell SH, Kochian LV (1998) Aluminum resistance in the Arabidopsis mutant alr-104 is caused by an aluminum-induced increase in rhizosphere pH. Plant Physiol **117**:19-27
- Deng W, Luo K, Li D, Zheng X, Wei X, Smith W, Thammina C, Lu L, Li Y, Pei Y (2006) Overexpression of an Arabidopsis magnesium transport gene, *AtMGT1*, in *Nicotiana benthamiana* confers Al tolerance. J Exp Bot **57**: 235-43
- Devi SR, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (2003) An intracellular mechanism of aluminum tolerance associated with high antioxidant status in cultured tobacco cells. J Inorg Biochem 97:59-68
- **Deyholos MK, Galbraith DW** (2001) High-density microarrays for gene expression analysis. Cytometry **43**:229-38

- Dixon DP, Skipsey M, Grundy NM, Edwards R (2005) Stress-induced protein Sglutathionylation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **138**:2233-44
- **Doncheva S, Amenos M, Poschenrieder C, Barcelo J** (2005) Root cell patterning: a primary target for aluminium toxicity in maize. J Exp Bot **56**:1213-20
- Esposito S, Massaro G, Vona V, Di Martino Rigano V, Carfagna S (2003) Glutamate synthesis in barley roots: the role of the plastidic glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Planta **216**:639-47
- Ermolayev V, Weschke W, Manteuffel R (2003) Comparison of Al-induced gene expression in sensitive and tolerant soybean cultivars. J Exp Bot 54:2745-56
- Guo A, He K, Liu D, Bai S, Gu X, Wei L, Luo J (2005) DATF: a database of Arabidopsis transcription factors. Bioinformatics **21**:2568-69
- Guo P, Bai G, Carver B, Li R, Bernardo A, Baum M (2007) Transcriptional analysis between two wheat near-isogenic lines contrasting in a luminum tolerance under aluminum stress. Mol Genet Genomics 277:1-12
- Hamel F, Breton C, Houde M (1998) Isolation and characterization of wheat aluminumregulated genes: possible involvement of aluminum as a pathogenesis response elicitor. Planta 205:531-38
- Hamilton CA, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Induction of vacuolar ATPase and mitochondrial ATP synthase by aluminum in an aluminum-resistant cultivar of wheat. Plant Physiol 125:2068-77
- Hara S, Motohashi K, Arisaka F, Romano PG, Hosoya-Matsuda N, Kikuchi N,
  Fusada N, Hisabori T (2006) Thioredoxin-h1 reduces and reactivates the oxidized cytosolic malate dehydrogenase dimer in higher plants. J Biol Chem 281:32065-71
- Hayes JE, Ma JF (2003) Al-induced efflux of organic acid anions is poorly associated with internal organic acid metabolism in triticale roots. J Exp Bot **54**:1753-1759

- Hisabori T, Hara S, Fujii T, Yamazaki D, Hosoya-Matsuda N, Motohashi K (2005) Thioredoxin affinity chromatography: a useful method for further understanding the thioredoxin network. J Exp Bot **56**:1463-68
- Hoekenga OA, Vision TJ, Shaff JE, Monforte AJ, Lee GP, Howell SH, Kochian LV (2003) Identification and characterization of aluminum tolerance loci in Arabidopsis (*Landsberg erecta* x Columbia) by quantitative trait locus mapping. A physiologically simple but genetically complex trait. Plant Physiol 132:936-48
- Hotte NS, Deyholos MK (2008) A flax fibre proteome: identification of proteins enriched in bast fibres. BMC Plant Biol 8:52
- Jiang Y, Deyholos MK (2006) Comprehensive transcriptional profiling of NaCl-stressed
  Arabidopsis roots reveals novel classes of responsive genes. BMC Plant Biol
  6:25
- Jones DL, Blancaflor EB, Kochian LV, Gilroy S (2006) Spatial coordination of aluminium uptake, production of reactive oxygen species, callose production and wall rigidification in maize roots. Plant Cell Environ. 29:1309-18
- Jones DL, Gilroy S, Larsen PB, Howell SH, Kochian LV (1998) Effect of aluminum on cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis in root hairs of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.). Planta 206:378-87
- Kilili KG, Atanassova N, Vardanyan A, Clatot N, Al-Sabarna K, Kanellopoulos PN, Makris AM, Kampranis SC (2004) Differential roles of tau class glutathione Stransferases in oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 279:24540-51
- **Kinraide TB** (1990) Assessing the rhizotoxicity of the aluminate ion, Al(OH)(4). Plant Physiol **93**:1620-25
- **Kinraide TB, Parker DR** (1987) Cation amelioration of aluminum toxicity in wheat. Plant Physiol **83**:546-51

Kobayashi Y, Koyama H (2002) QTL analysis of Al tolerance in recombinant inbred lines of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol 43:1526-33

- Kobayashi Y, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (2004) Studies on the mechanism of aluminum tolerance in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) using aluminum-tolerant cultivar 'Alaska' and aluminum-sensitive cultivar 'Hyogo'. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 50:197-204
- Kochian LV (1995) Cellular mechanisms of aluminum toxicity and resistance in plants. Annu Rev Plant Phys Plant Mol Biol **46**:237-60
- Kochian LV, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA (2004) How do crop plants tolerate acid soils? Mechanisms of aluminum tolerance and phosphorous efficiency. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:459-93
- Kreps JA, Wu Y, Chang HS, Zhu T, Wang X, Harper JF (2002) Transcriptome changes for Arabidopsis in response to salt, osmotic, and cold stress. Plant Physiol 130:2129-41
- Lalonde S, Boles E, Hellmann H, Barker L, Patrick JW, Frommer WB, Ward JM (1999) The dual function of sugar carriers. Transport and sugar sensing. Plant Cell 11:707-26.
- Larsen PB, Geisler MJ, Jones CA, Williams KM, Cancel JD (2005) ALS3 encodes a phloem-localized ABC transporter-like protein that is required for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant J **41**:353-63
- **Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD** (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods **25**:402-8.
- Ma JF, Ryan PR, Delhaize E (2001) Aluminium tolerance in plants and the complexing role of organic acids. Trends Plant Sci 6:273-78
- Mao C, Yi K, Yang L, Zheng B, Wu Y, Liu F, Wu P (2004) Identification of aluminium-regulated genes by cDNA-AFLP in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.):aluminiumregulated genes for the metabolism of cell wall components. J Exp Bot 55:137-43

Matsumoto H (2000) Cell biology of aluminum toxicity and tolerance in higher plants. Int Rev Cytol 200:1-46

- Milla MA, Butler E, Hue te AR, Wilson CF, Anderson O, Gustafson JP (2002) Expressed sequence tag-based gene expression analysis under aluminum stress in rye. Plant Physiol **130**:1706-16
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 7:405-10
- Mittler R, Vanderauwera S, Gollery M, Van Breusegem F (2004) Reactive oxygen gene network of plants. Trends Plant Sci 9:490-98
- Moon J, Parry G, Estelle M (2004) The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and plant development. Plant Cell 16:3181-95
- Nieuwland J, Feron R, Huisman BA, Fasolino A, Hilbers CW, Derksen J, Mariani C (2005) Lipid transfer proteins enhance cell wall extension in tobacco. Plant Cell 17:2009-19
- Pardo JM, Cubero B, Leidi EO, Quintero FJ (2006) Alkali cation exchangers:roles in cellular homeostasis and stress tolerance. J Exp Bot 57:1181-99
- Passardi F, Cosio C, Penel C, Dunand C (2005) Peroxidases have more functions than a Swiss army knife. Plant Cell Report 24:255-65
- Pellet DM, Papernik LA, Kochian LV (1996) Multiple aluminum-resistance mechanisms in wheat (roles of root apical phosphate and malate exudation). Plant Physiol 112:591-97
- Pujol G, Baskin TI, Casamayor A, Cortadellas N, Ferrer A, Arino J (2000) The Arabidopsis thaliana PPX/PP4 phosphatases:molecular cloning and structural organization of the genes and immunolocalization of the proteins to plastids. Plant Mol Biol 44:499-11

- Quirino BF, Reiter WD, Amasino RD (2001) One of two tandem Arabidopsis genes homologous to monosaccharide transporters is senescence-associated. Plant Mol Biol 46:447-57
- Rawlings ND, Tolle DP, Barrett AJ (2004) MEROPS: the peptidase database. Nucleic Acids Res 32:160-64
- Rea P (1999) MRP subfamily ABC transporters from plants and yeast. J Exp Bot 50:895-13
- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiol **116**:409-18
- Rozen S, Skaletsky H (2000) Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol 132:365-86
- Ryan P, Delhaize E, Jones D (2001) Function and mechanism of organic anion exudation from plant roots. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 52:527-60
- Saeed AI, Sharov V, White J, Li J, Liang W, Bhagabati N, Braisted J, Klapa M, Currier T, Thiagarajan M, Sturn A, Snuffin M, Rezantsev A, Popov D, Ryltsov A, Kostukovich E, Borisovsky I, Liu Z, Vinsavich A, Trush V, Quackenbush J (2003) TM4: a free, open-source system for microarray data management and analysis. Biotechniques 34:374-78
- Sasaki M, Yamamoto Y, Matsumoto H (1996) Lignin deposition induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots. Physiol Plant 96:193-98
- Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y, Ezaki B, Katsuhara M, Ahn SJ, Ryan PR, Delhaize E, Matsumoto H (2004) A wheat gene encoding an aluminum-activated malate transporter. Plant J 37:645-53
- Schofield RA, Bi YM, Kant S, Rothstein SJ (2009) Over-expression of STP13, a hexose transporter, improves plant growth and nitrogen use in Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings. Plant Cell Environ 32: 271-85

Shen H, He LF, Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y, Zheng SJ, Ligaba A, Yan XL, Ahn SJ, Yamaguchi M, Sasakawa H, Matsumoto H (2005) Citrate secretion coupled with the modulation of soybean root tip under aluminum stress. Up-regulation of transcription, translation, and threonine-oriented phosphorylation of plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase. Plant Physiol **138**:287-96

Sivaguru M, Ezaki B, He ZH, Tong H, Osawa H, Baluska F, Volkmann D, Matsumoto H (2003) Aluminum-induced gene expression and protein localization of a cell wall-associated receptor kinase in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 132:2256-66

- Sivaguru M, Pike S, Gassmann W, Baskin TI (2003) Aluminum rapidly depolymerizes cortical microtubules and depolarizes the plasma membrane: evidence that these responses are mediated by a glutamate receptor. Plant Cell Physiol **44**:667-75
- Smalle J, Vierstra RD (2004) The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:555-90
- Snowden KC, Gardner RC (1993) Five genes induced by aluminum in wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*) roots. Plant Physiol 103:855-61
- Sugimoto M, Sakamoto W (1997) Putative phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase gene from Arabidopsis thaliana induced by oxidative stress. Genes Genet Syst 72:311-16
- **Taylor GJ** (1991) Current views of the aluminum stress response: The physiological basis of tolerance. Curr Top Plant Biochem Physiol **10**:57–93
- Taylor GJ, McDonald-Stephens JL, Hunter DB, Bertsch PM, Elmore D, Rengel Z, Reid RJ (2000) Direct measurement of aluminum uptake and distribution in single cells of *Chara corallina*. Plant Physiol **123**:987-96

- Tchieu JH, Fana F, Fink JL, Harper J, Nair TM, Niedner RH, Smith DW, Steube K, Tam TM, Veretnik S, Wang D, Gribskov M (2003) The PlantsP and PlantsT functional genomics databases. Nucleic Acids Res 31:324-42
- Tesfaye M, Temple SJ, Allan DL, Vance CP, Samac DA (2001) Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa enhances organic acid synthesis and confers tolerance to aluminum. Plant Physiol 127:1836-44
- **Tognolli M, Penel C, Greppin H, Simon P** (2002) Analysis and expression of the class III peroxidase large gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Gene **288**:129-38
- **Tusher VG, Tibshirani R, Chu G** (2001) Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **98**:5116-21
- Tyerman SD, Niemietz CM, Bramley H (2002) Plant aquaporins: multifunctional water and solute channels with expanding roles. Plant Cell Environ 25:173-94
- Vij S, Tyagi AK (2007) Emerging trends in the functional genomics of the abiotic stress response in crop plants. Plant Biotechnol J 5:361-80
- Von Uexküll HR, Mutert E (1995) Global extent, development and economic impact of acid soils. In:Date RA, Grundon NJ, Raymet GE, Probert ME(eds) Plant-Soil Interactions at Low pH:Principles and Management. The Neth:Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, pp. 5–19
- Wang H, Miyazaki S, Kawai K, Deyholos M, Galbraith DW, Bohnert HJ (2003) Temporal progression of gene expression responses to salt shock in maize roots. Plant Mol Biol 52:873-91
- Wu Z, Liang F, Hong B, Young JC, Sussman MR, Harper JF, Sze H (2002) An endoplasmic reticulum-bound Ca(<sup>2+)/</sup>Mn(<sup>2+</sup>) pump, ECA1, supports plant growth and confers tolerance to Mn(<sup>2+</sup>) stress. Plant Physiol **130**:128-37
- Xiong L, Schumaker KS, Zhu JK (2002) Cell signaling during cold, drought, and salt stress. Plant Cell 14:165-83

- Yamamoto Y, Kobayashi Y, Devi SR, Rikiishi S, Matsumoto H (2002) Aluminum toxicity is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and the production of reactive oxygen species in plant cells. Plant Physiol **128**:63-72
- Zaffagnini M, Michelet L, Marchand C, Sparla F, Decottignies P, Le Marechal P, Miginiac-Maslow M, Noctor G, Trost P, Lemaire SD (2007) The thioredoxinindependent is oform of chloroplastic glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is selectively regulated by glutathionylation. Febs J 274:212-26
- Zhang WH, Ryan PR, Tyerman SD (2001) Malate-permeable channels and cation channels activated by aluminum in the apical cells of wheat roots. Plant Physiol 125:1459-72
- Zhang Y, Yang C, Li Y, Zheng N, Chen H, Zhao Q, Gao T, Guo H, Xie Q (2007) SDIR1 Is a RING Finger E3 Ligase that positively regulates stress-responsive abscisic acid signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant cell 19:1912-29

Zimmermann P, Hirsch-Hoffmann M, Hennig L, Gruissem W (2004)

GENEVESTIGATOR. Arabidops is microarray database and analysis toolbox.

Plant Physiol **136**:2621-32

# 3. Analysis of changes in the root proteome of Arabidopsis under aluminum stress.

#### **3.1. Introduction**

Use of high throughput technologies such as microarrays (Chandran et al. 2008, Houde et al. 2008, Kumari et al. 2008, Maron et al. 2008) has led to an increase in the characterization of Al-responsive genes. More recently, proteomics-based approaches have been used to identify differentially abundant proteins after exposure to Al (Fukuda et al. 2007; Yang et al. 2007, Zhen et al. 2007). For example, Yang et al. (2007) identified 16 proteins regulated in response to Al stress in a resistant cultivar of rice (Xiangnuo), whereas Fukuda et al. (2007) identified 31 proteins responding to Al and classified these proteins as proteins primarily involved in carbon metabolism, nitrogen metabolism, and oxidative stress. Two of these studies (Fukuda et al. 2007, Zheng et al. 2007) identified several proteins related to metabolism, indicating that regulation of primary metabolism may be an important part of strategies to combat Al stress. However, there is little overlap between the pools of proteins identified in these studies. For instance, differentially expressed proteins in soybean (Zheng et al. 2007) include thiamine pyrophosphokinase, sucrose synthase, monoglyceridelipase, acetone cynohydrin lyase, NAD(P)H dependent 6' deoxychalcone synthase, sulfotransferase, and entkaurene oxidase, whereas the majority of differentially proteins identified in rice (Fukuda et al. 2007) are related to primary energy metabolism (e.g. proteins of glycolysis and TCA cycle). These differences in the proteome profile may be due in part to the use of different plant species and exposure conditions.

Previous research has identified proteins that are differentially abundant or activated in response to Al. Basu *et al.* (1994) found two 51 kD root proteins that were

120

more abundant in response to Al. These proteins were later identified as the  $\beta$ -subunit of vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (V-ATPase) and the  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits of mitochondrial ATP synthase (Hamilton *et al.* 2001). Sharma and Dubey (2007) identified increases in the activities of several antioxidant proteins including superoxide dismutase (SOD), guaiacol peroxidase, ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase and glutathione reductase, whereas activities of catalase and chloroplastidic APX decreased after in response to Al treatment. Recently, transport proteins such as AtALMT1 and AtMATE have been shown to play a role in resistance to Al by gating transport of organic anions such as malate and citrate (Liu *et al.* 2009). The role of mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase (m-MDH) is well characterized in response to Al stress (Tesfaye *et al.* 2001); however the role of the cytosolic, chloroplastidic, and peroxisomal isoforms of MDH is unknown. My previous transcriptomic data (Kumari *et al.* 2008) showed increased abundance of cyt-MDH after 48 h exposure and I have further explored its possible role under Al stress and in this chapter.

The availability of full genome sequence, transcriptomic data, and sequenceindexed insertion mutants in Arabidopsis provides a useful system to identify differentially expressed proteins after Al stress. To complement these resources, I present a survey of changes in the root proteome in response to Al, using DIGE (Differential In-Gel Electrophoresis). This technique has been used to characterize proteins associated with stress and development processes in plants (Amme *et al.* 2006, Chivasa *et al.* 2006, Hotte and Deyholos 2008). The system uses spectrally resolvable CyDye<sup>TM</sup> fluors (size and charge-matched) to differentially label three samples that can be simultaneously separated and scanned on a single 2-D gel. To determine whether root proteome data complement or contrast with my previous transcriptome data (Kumari *et al.* 2008), I performed a comparative analysis between data sets arising from plants grown and treated under the same conditions. This is the first reported comparison of transcriptome and

121

proteome data to identify Al stress responses that are regulated at the transcriptional and post transcriptional level.

## 3.2. Materials and methods

#### **3.2.1.** Plant material and growth conditions

Wild type seeds of Arabidopsis thaliana (Col-0) were obtained from Lehle seeds. Arabidopsis thaliana T-DNA insertion mutants, mdh-1 (SALK\_021840) and mdh-2 (SALK\_125011) in Col-0 background, were obtained from the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center (ABRC). Seeds were surface sterilized (2.25% NaClO, 0.05% Tween-20), rinsed, and sown on agar plugs (1/2 X MS medium, 0.3% phytagel, Sigma) within floating rafts and grown in hydroponics as described previously (Chapter 2; Kumari et al. 2008). Plants were grown in Richards medium (pH 5.75) for 14 d in hydroponic tanks in a growth chamber with 16 h light/8 h dark cycle at 65% humidity. Plants were transferred after 14 d to medium containing 200  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (pH4.33) with or without 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. Plants were exposed to Al for 6 h and 48 h and roots tissue was collected and frozen in liquid nitrogen. Control and treated plants were blocked and grown in parallel. Tissue from three independently grown hydroponics tanks were pooled to make a single replicate. Three independent control replicates and treatment replicates constituted a total of three paired replicates each for 6 h and 48 h. Dry weight measurement of roots and shoots of hydroponically grown control and treated plants was performed by drying plants at 80° C for 3 days in a hot air oven. A two-way ANOVA was used to test for differences in biomass between genotypes, concentrations of Al, and the genotype x Al interaction, and a Tukey pairwise multiple comparison was used to identify differences in means using Sigma Stat ver. 3.5.

#### 3.2.2. Root elongation

Plate assays and assays using double layer agar in magenta vessels were used to compare differences in root elongation of WT and *mdh* mutants. The exposure medium (Snowden *et al.* 1995) containing 0.15 mM NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub>, 0.3 mM KNO<sub>3</sub>, 0.2 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M (NH<sub>4</sub>)H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>4</sub>, 1  $\mu$ M MnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub>, 1  $\mu$ M ZnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2  $\mu$ M CoCl<sub>2</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M FeCl<sub>3</sub> and 500  $\mu$ M CaSO<sub>4</sub> was prepared. Prior to autoclaving, pH was adjusted to 4.3. Aliquots of AlCl<sub>3</sub> stock solution (filter sterilized) were added after autoclaving. To obtain 0  $\mu$ M, 100  $\mu$ M, 150  $\mu$ M and 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>, 0 ml, 4 ml, 6 ml or 8 ml of 25 mM stock of AlCl<sub>3</sub> was added to one litre media (respectively) followed by plating 25 ml in 15 mm square plates or 180 ml in magenta vessels. To prepare a top layer of germination medium in magenta vessels, 1/2X MS medium (pH 5.75) with 6 g phytagar was prepared and 50 ml was poured over the solidified exposure medium contained in magenta vessels. Seed of WT and *mdh* mutant plants were sown on the germination medium and root elongation was monitored for 72 hours.

#### **3.2.3.** Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase - PCR (QRT - PCR)

Wild type (WT) and mutant plants were grown and treated as described above and RNA from roots of both control and treated plants were extracted in parallel after 1 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h and 78 h exposures. Total RNA from roots were extracted using an RNeasy Plant Mini kit (Qiagen). All RNA samples were individually treated with DNA*free* (Ambion) and reverse transcribed into cDNAs using MMLV reverse transcriptase (Fermentas). For QRT-PCR analysis Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (*UBC*; At5g25760) was used as a reference gene (Kumari *et al.* 2008, Czechowski *et al.* 2005). QRT-PCR primers were designed using PrimerExpress 2.0 software (Applied Biosystems).

Cyt-MDH: F-5'CTTTGAACGGTGTTAAGATGGAGTT3',

R-5'TACATCCCTCAACGGCATCA3';

UBC: F-5'CTTAACTGCGACTCAGGGAAT3',

123

## R-5'GGCGAGGCGTGTATACATTT3'.

I quantified cDNAs in an Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-Time PCR System, with a SYBR green dye detection assay and ROX passive reference, in 10 µl reactions as follows: Stage 1, 1 cycle at 95° C for 2 min; Stage 2, 40 cycles at 95° C for 0.15 min and 60° C for 1 min; Stage 3, 95.0° C for 0.15 min; Stage 4, 60.0° C for 1 min; and Stage 5, 95.0° C for 0.15 min. C<sub>t</sub> values generated for each primer pair set over a range of dilutions were used to calculate the  $\Delta C_t$  (C<sub>t</sub> target – C<sub>t</sub> reference).  $\Delta C_t$  values were then plotted against log input amount. If the slope of the  $\Delta C_t$  vs. log input was < 0.1, the relative abundance of each transcript was then estimated using the  $\Delta \Delta C_t$  method (Livak and Schmittgen 2001).

## 3.2.4. PCR to determine homozygous insertion mutations

To identify homozygous plants harboring T-DNA insertions, seeds of WT (col-0) and two SALK-lines (*mdh-1*, *mdh-2*) were surface sterilized (2.25% NaClO, 0.05% Tween-20) and sown on separate petri plates containing 1/2X Murshe and Skoog medium pH 5.75 (Sigma) and Phytagar (Sigma). Whole plant tissue was ground in liquid nitrogen and genomic DNA was extracted (Genomic DNA isolation kit; Fermentas) for PCR. PCR was performed using gene-specific and T-DNA-specific primers as described at http://signal.salk.edu/T-DNAprimers.2.html. The gene specific primer sequences were: SALK\_021840: LP- 5'CAGTATTTTGCTCCCCAAATG3',

RP-5'GCTGAGGAGATCTAAAGTCACAAC3';

SALK\_125011: LP- 5'TGCCCTCTTCAATTGCATAAC3',

RP- 5'AACGGTTTCTAAATCAGAGTTCG3';

T-DNA specific primer: LBb1.3- 5'ATTTTGCCGATTTCGGAAC3'.

## 3.2.5. Protein Extraction

Plant material was ground in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle. Total protein extractions were made using the protocol of Martinez-Garcia *et al.* (1999). Frozen tissue

was mixed with buffer containing 125 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8, 1% (w/v) SDS, 10% (w/v) glycerol, and 50 mM Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>. Plant material was then ground and mixed at room temperature in microfuge tube and immediately transferred to ice. Tubes were warmed to room temperature to solubilize SDS and centrifuged at 13,000 g for 10 min. The supernatant was diluted with 1/10 volume of buffer Z (125 mM Tris–HCl pH 6.8, 12% SDS (w/v), 10% glycerol (w/v), 22%  $\beta$ -mercaptoetahnol and 0.001% bromophenol blue). Samples were processed using a 2-D clean up kit (GE Healthcare) and protein concentration of each sample was determined by using the 2D-Quant-Kit (GE Healthcare) BSA as a standard.

### 3.2.6. Protein labeling with Cye dyes

Protein labeling was performed using CyDye fluors for DIGE as per the manufacturer's protocol. CyDyes were reconstituted in anhydrous N, N-dimethylformamide (DMF, 99.8%, Sigma-Aldrich) to create 1 nmol  $\mu \Gamma^1$  CyDyeDIGE fluor stock. Protein and fluor were mixed (400 pmol of fluor to label 50  $\mu$ g of protein sample) by vortexing and centrifuged for 30 second followed by incubation in the dark for 30 min on ice. The reaction was terminated with the addition of 10 mM lysine (Sigma-Aldrich), which reacts with free NHS esters of the cyanine dyes. Each protein sample was labeled either with Cy3 or Cy5. A mixture of equal amount of control and treated protein sample was labeled with Cy2 fluor dye to serve as an internal control (Fig. 3.1)

## 3.2.7. 1<sup>st</sup> dimension and 2<sup>nd</sup> dimension gel electrophoresis.

To prepare samples for loading on the first dimension, Immobillin<sup>™</sup> DryStrip, 50 µg of each of three differently labeled protein samples (Cy2, Cy3 and Cy5) were mixed together in an equal volume of 2X sample buffer (8M Urea, 2% DTT, 4% CHAPS and 2% pharmalyte). Prior to sample application, DryStrips (24 cm, pH 3-10 NL) were rehydrated overnight with DeStreak<sup>™</sup> rehydration buffer (GE biosciences) as per manufacturer's protocol. Proteins were separated in the first dimension using Ettan

125
IPGphor<sup>™</sup> II Isoelectric Focusing (IEF) system (GE biosciences) at the following settings 1 h 500 V, 3 h gradient from 500-1000 V, 3 h gradient from 1,000 V to 8,000 V for a total of about 64 kVh. Strips were then equilibrated with equilibration solution (TrisCl 50 mM, Urea 6 M, Glycerol 30% (v/v), SDS 2%, and bromophenol blue) containing 0.5% DTT for 15 min followed by 15 min in 4.5% Iodoacetamide (IAA)containing equilibration solution. Strips were mounted on top of 12.5% SDS– polyacrylamide gels (Acrylamide/Bis 40% (w/v), TrisCl 1.5 M (pH 8.8), SDS 10% (w/v), APS 10% (w/v) and TEMED 10% w/v) followed by 2<sup>nd</sup> dimension separation with the Ettan<sup>™</sup> Dalt *six* electrophoresis unit (GE biosciences) at 2 W per strip for 30 min, then 8 W per strip thereafter.

## 3.2.8. Gelscanning, data acquisition and processing

Gels were scanned using Fujifilm FLA-5000 imager (Fujifilm, Japan). All images were acquired at a scanning resolution of 50 µm and a photon multiplier tube voltage between 50,000 and 63,558 V. Scans for Cy2 used the 435 nm excitation laser and LBP emission filter (510 nm), scans for Cy3 used 532 nm laser with a BPG1 filter (570 nm), and scans for Cy5 used the 635 nm laser with the DRG1 filter (665 nm). I stained pick gels with Deep Purple<sup>TM</sup> fluorescent stain (GE biosciences) and scanned them with the 532 nm laser and LGP filter (575 nm). Scanned image files (.img) were converted to tagged information file format (.tiff/.tif) using ImageGauge and further converted to gel files (.gel) using ImageQuant V 5.2 software package. Gel images were analysed for detection of differentially abundant protein spots using DeCyder<sup>TM</sup> software V5.1 (GE healthcare). DeCyder<sup>TM</sup> Batch processor was used for spot detection and inter-gel matching of multiple gel images, including the post-stained preparative gels. Statistical analysis of data was performed in BVA module contained in DeCyder<sup>TM</sup> software. Each individual control spot was compared with treated spot in all three replicates using the student's t-

test. Coordinates of interesting spots were determined using two reference stickers and spot picking was performed using an Ettan<sup>™</sup> Spot-picker (GE biosciences).

#### 3.2.9. Spot identification

Gel pieces containing spots of interest were washed in HPLC grade water and then dehydrated with 100% acetonitrile and de-stained by washing twice with 1M NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub> and 100% acetonitrile for 10 min each. Protein spots were dehydrated, reduced and alkylated using 100% acetonitrile (15 min), 0.1M NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub>/10 mM DTT (37° C; 30 min), 55 mM iodoacetamide / 0.1M NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub> (20 min in dark). Protein spots were digested (37° C in dark) with TrypsinGold (GE Healthcare). Digestion was stopped using 30  $\mu$ l of 0.2% formic acid. Peptides were extracted using 20  $\mu$ l 0.1% formic acid and 10% acetonitrile with three repeats of 30 min each.

Peptide analysis was carried out using an Agilent 1100 series LC/MSD TrapXCT (Agilent Technologies) and accompanying ChemStation software using the manufacturer's instructions for identification of peptide mixtures. The autosampler injected 15  $\mu$ l of tryptic digest onto the first of two C-18 columns (Zorbax 300SB-C18 5  $\mu$ m 5 x 0.3 mm and Zorbax 300SB-C18 5  $\mu$ m 150 x 0.3 mm; Agilent Technologies) to trap, concentrate, and elute the samples in conjunction with a solvent gradient to separate the peptides. The peptide-separation gradient started at 85% solvent A (0.1% formic acid in H<sub>2</sub>O) and ended at 55% solvent B (0.1% formic acid, 5% H<sub>2</sub>O in ACN) over a 42-minute span. Columns were cleansed with 90% solvent B before returning to solvent A for the next sample. The ion trap mass spectrometer collected data using a MS 300-2200 m/z scan followed by a MS/MS analysis of the most intense ions. Raw spectral data were processed into mascot generic file format (.mgf) using the default method in the ChemStation data analysis module. Data files were used to identify proteins by searching against the Swiss-Prot, TREMBL, MS database, and NCBI databases using MASCOT

search engine (Matrix science) in taxonomy "Viridiplantae" with the search parameters of: peptide resistance of 2 Da, parent ion resistance of 0.8 m/z, ion charge of +2 and +3.

## **3.2.10.** Cytosolic fractionation and enzyme activity

Wild type (WT) plants were grown and treated in hydroponic culture as described above. Roots of both control and treated plants were extracted in parallel after 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposures. Tissue from three independently grown hydroponics tanks were pooled to make a single replicate. Three independent control samples and treatment samples constituted a total of three paired replicates each for 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 24 h, and 48 h. Root tissue was frozen in liquid nitrogen immediately after extraction. Frozen tissue (300 mg) were ground in a pre-chilled mortar and pestle with a pinch of sand, pinch of PVPP and 1.5 ml of extraction buffer containing 1M Tris-HCl (pH 7.8), 5 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM cysteine, and 0.1 mM PMSF. The ground slurry was centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 5 min and resulting supernatant was centrifuged at 18,000 g for 15 min to remove organelle contaminants (such as mitochondria). Portions of 18,000 g supernatant were aliquoted (to serve as cytosol fraction without organe lles) and the remaining portions were ultra-centrifuged at 110,000 g for 1.5 h to remove membranes from the cytosolic fractions. All centrifugations were carried at 4° C. Protein concentrations were determined by using the 2D-Quant-Kit (GE Healthcare) with BSA as a standard.

Cyt-MDH enzyme activity was assayed by measuring decrease in absorbance at 340 nm resulting from oxidation of NADH to NAD in a BioTek 96-well plate reader. The reaction mixture contained 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.8), 250 µmoles NADH, and enzyme extract. The reaction was started by addition of a total of 200 µmoles of oxaloacetate in a reaction mixture. For each reaction, 5 min of spectrophotometrical change at A340 nm was monitored automatically at 1 minute intervals. All the solutions were made fresh in 0.1 M potassium phosphate (pH 7.8). Fresh enzymatic extracts were used for all enzyme activity assays.

#### 3.3. Results

#### **3.3.1. DIGE based expression profiling of proteins after aluminum stress**

The DIGE based 2D gel electrophoresis technique reproducibly detected 1,750 and 1,232 spots in 6 h gels and 48 h gels respectively. Using the statistical test Biological Variation Analysis contained in DeCycder (5.1) software, I selected a subset of 91 spots (55 significant + 36 random) from 6 h pick gel, and 63 (26 significant + 37 random) spots from 48 h pick gel (Table 3.1). I identified a spot as significant if the fold change difference was at least 13% in treatment as compared to control at  $\alpha = 0.10$ . Using these criteria, 55 spots from 6 h gel, and 26 spots from 48 h gel were identified as significant and differentially abundant after Al stress. I also picked some spots randomly (36 for 6 h, and 37 for 48 h). Among the 55 significant protein spots for 6 h treatment, a total of 13 spots increased in abundance and 42 spots decreased in abundance in treated roots compared to untreated controls. Among the 26 significant protein spots for 48 h treatment, a total of 22 increased in abundance and four decreased in abundance. The protein identities were determined by extracting spots from gels, followed by trypsin digested and identification using mass-spectrometry. I focused only on those protein spots where identities were confirmed with a Mascot score of at least >42. Using this criterion, I present here individual peptides, pI, molecular weight and the respective Mascot scores for 12 successfully identified, differentially expressed proteins for 6 h (Table 3.2) and 17 protein spots for 48 h gels (Table 3.3). I marked the position of these proteins on a 6 h gel image (Fig. 3.2a) and 48 h gel image (Fig. 3.2b).

For both 6 h and 48 h data, the majority of identified proteins were classified into the following broad categories: 1) energy and primary metabolism, 2) oxidative stress, 3) amino acid and protein metabolism.

#### 3.3.1.1. Energy and primary metabolism

One of the most well-studied mechanisms of Al resistance has been the Al-induced release of organic anions from roots of Al resistant genotypes (Miyasaka *et al.* 1991, Ma 2000). Organic anions that are part of TCA cycle have previously been defined as Al-inducible and different species have been shown to exude different organic anions (malate, citrate, oxalate; Kochian *et al.* 2004). Manipulation of primary metabolism to achieve Al resistance has also been successfully demonstrated (Tesfaye *et al.* 2001, Anoop *et al.* 2003).

I detected the differential abundance of several proteins involved in glycolysis, and the TCA cycle after Al exposure (Fig. 3.3). Within the glycolytic pathway, I detected an increase in fructose biphosphate aldolase (FBP aldolase; EC 4.1.2.13), 2-3, biphosphoglycerate mutase (BPGM; EC 5.4.2.4) and phosphopyruvate hydratase/enolase (EC 4.2.1.11; Table 3.3 and 3.4). I detected a 1.13-fold increase in FBP aldolase after 6 h (spot 4). I detected no significant change in protein level for enolase after 6 h, however, after 48 h enolase (spot 7) increased in abundance by 1.5 fold. Increases in the abundance of glycolysis-related proteins after Al exposure are consistent with an increased requirement of pyruvate synthesis under Al stress. Pyruvate later undergoes oxidative decarboxylation to yield acetyl CoA that enters TCA cycle. This conversion is carried out by pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC). Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase 1 (DLD; EC 1.8.1.4), which is one of the important components of PDC, increased in abundance by 1.5 fold after 48 h (spot 5) exposure to Al.

Within the TCA cycle, I detected increased abundance of succinyl-CoA ligase (SCS; EC 6.2.1.4), and mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase (m-MDH; EC 1.1.1.37; Table 3.3). Succinyl-CoA ligase catalyzes the substrate level phosphorylation step in TCA cycle by conversion of succinate to succinyl-CoA with a concomitant hydrolysis of GTP to GDP and phosphate. I detected a 1.5 fold increases in abundance (spot 2) after 48

h exposure to Al. Of four organelle-specific isoforms of MDH, I detected two (mitochondrial and cytosolic) that increased in abundance after 6 h and 48 h exposures. MDH typically catalyzes the reversible conversion of malate into oxaloacetate. For m-MDH, I detected an increased abundance of 1.2 fold (spot 12) after 48 h exposure. I noted that cyt-MDH decreased in abundance (-1.3 fold) after 6 h (spot 5). Over-expression of m-MDH gene is known to confer resistance to Al stress (Tesfyne *et al.* 2001). However, the role of cyt-MDH is unknown in response to Al.

In addition to changes described above, I also detected a 1.2 fold increase in the abundance of malic enzyme (ME; EC 1.1.1.38) after 48 h (spot 3). Malic enzyme decarboxylates malate to produce pyruvate and CO<sub>2</sub> using NAD(P) to produce NADPH (Wedding 1989). Spots representing alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH; EC 1.1.1.1) also increased in intensity after 6 h (1.4 fold; spot 2). Alcohol dehydrogenase facilitates interconversion between alcohol and aldehyde, oxidizing alcohol to produce formaldehyde and ethylene glycol to ultimately yield glycolic acid and oxalate. Interestingly, wheat is known to exude oxalic acid from roots in response to Al stress and confers resistance to plants against Al stress (Ma 2000). Therefore, increased abundance and activity of ADH might be an adaptive response to increase the production of oxalic acid.

#### **3.3.1.2.** Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress is an important component of Al toxic ity (Richards *et al.* 1998, Basu *et al.* 2001, Yamamoto *et al.* 2002, Basu *et al.* 2004). I identified several proteins involved in oxidative stress that were differentially abundant following Al exposure. These included glutathione-S-transferases (GST; EC 2.5.1.18), ascorbate peroxidases (APX; EC 1.11.1.11) and thioredoxin.

Glutathione-S-transferases conjugate toxins to the tripeptide glutathione (GSH) and form S-glutathionylated products, which are transported to the vacuole through the action of ATP Binding Cassette (ABC) transporters (Rea 1999, 2007). These enzymes also help to protect cells from oxidative damage by reducing organic hydroperoxides that are formed during oxidative stress (Dixon *et al.* 2002). I detected decreased abundance (1.2 fold) of ATGSTF2 (Arabidopsis thaliana Glutathione S-Transferase-phi class; spot 7) and ATGSTF10 (spot 11) after 6 h. I detected contrasting abundance of two spots both identified as ATGSTF8 where one increased (1.3 fold; spot 15) and other decreased (1.13; spot 16) in abundance after 48 h exposures. All the GSTs identified in this study belonged to Phi class, which is also one of the most numerous in the Arabidopsis genome (Dixon *et al.* 2009).

Ascorbate peroxidases play a role in ROS scavenging by catalyzing the conversion of hydrogen peroxides to water and ascorbate to dehydroascorbate (Tarantino *et al.* 2005). I detected increased abundance of APX after 48 h (1.3-fold; spot 14) exposure to Al. I also detected decreases in protein abundance for thioredoxin (TRX) after 6 hr (1.3 fold; spot 12) exposure. TRXs are a group of small enzymes that participate in redox reactions, via the reversible oxidation of disulfide bond.

#### 3.3.1.3. Amino acid and protein metabolism

Amino acids serve as precursors for a large array of metabolites involved in plant growth and response to various stresses (Less and Galili 2008). I detected increased abundance of two catalytic proteins involved in biosynthesis of cysteine, methionine and serine, but only after 48 h stress (Table 3.3).

Cysteine biosynthesis represents the final step of sulfate assimilatory reduction and is the sole entry point of reduced sulfur into an organic form in plants. The last and key step of cysteine biosynthesis is catalyzed by cysteine synthase (CS; EC 2.5.1.47); biochemically O-acetylserine (thiol) lyase enzyme (OASTL), that incorporates sulfide into *O*-acetyl-L-serine to yield L-cysteine. I detected an increase in abundance of CS after 48 h (1.6 fold; spot 13) exposure. Recent studies (Sugimoto *et al.* 2004, Yang *et al.* 2007) have documented increases in the cellular level of cysteine synthase in response to Al. Another sulfur containing amino acid is methionine. I detected increased abundance of cobalamin-independent methionine synthase (ATCIMS; EC 2.1.1.14) after 48 h (1.4 fold; spot 1) exposure. ATCIMS catalyzes the transfer of a methyl group from methyltetrahydrofolate to L-homocysteine, the terminal step in the biosynthesis of methionine (Pejchal and Ludwig 2005). This suggests an important role of sulfur containing amino acids under Al stress, perhaps as a substrate for the synthesis of GSH.

The ubiquitin proteosome pathway confers specificity to protein degradation by tagging targeted proteins with ubiquitin. The 26S proteasome is a multi-subunit complex that consists of a cylindrical 20S core protease with a 19S regulatory particle cap on both ends. I detected decreased abundance of the 20S proteasome beta subunit PBF1 after 6 h (-1.6 fold; spot 8) exposure, and increased abundance of the 19S Proteosome subunit 9 after 48 h (1.4 fold; spot 10) exposure. Identification of these novel proteins from the processes of protein degradation and synthesis suggests protein remodeling occurs in response to Al stress.

## 3.3.2. Comparison of proteomic data with transcriptomic data

I compared my proteomic data with my previous transcriptomic data (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008) obtained from plants grown under same conditions. I used all proteins spots identified as significant in this study (12 for 6 h, 17 for 48 h) to compare to transcriptomic data. Among the 12 protein spots identified after 6 h stress, probes for three corresponding genes (AtCg00490, At2g27285, At1g45145) were not printed on my microarrays and probes for genes corresponding to two spots failed to pass the background cut off (Supplemental Table 3.1a). For the remaining 7 spots, I compared mRNA and protein abundance data (Supplemental Table 3.2a). Similarly, for the 17 identified proteins after 48 h treatments, five protein spots failed to pass the background cut off (Supplemental Table 3.1b), thus mRNA and protein abundance data were

compared for 12 spots (Supplemental Table 3.2b). In these comparisons I found a poor correlation between mRNA abundance and protein abundance for both 6 h ( $r^2 = 0.155$ ) and 48 h ( $r^2 = 0.083$ ) treatments (Fig. 3.4). These results could suggest post-transcriptional regulation of the stress proteome, although the comparative analysis was based on small subset of proteins that I could successfully identify in this study. This could explain the differences observed in data obtained from two different techniques of profiling stress responses in roots.

## 3.3.3. Characterization of the role of cyt-MDH under aluminum stress

Aluminum-activated malate exudation (Hoekenga et al. 2006, Magalhaes et al. 2006) is an important mechanism of Al resistance in Arabidopsis. Increased exudation of organic acid anions (Ma 2000) by modulation of TCA cycle enzymes such as m-MDH (Tesfye et al. 2001) have shown to increase Al resistance in plants. Besides m-MDH, cyt-MDH was detected as one of the significant proteins in response to Al after 6 h. The role of cyt-MDH in response to Al is unknown. Although cyt-MDH was also detected after 48 h exposure (1.8 fold; p=0.38) this proteins failed to pass my criteria for significance  $(\alpha=0.10)$ . To determine whether this change was due to transcriptional or post transcriptional regulation, I used QRT-PCR to measure transcript abundance of cyt-MDH in WT roots after 1, 6, 24, 48, and 78 hours of exposure (Fig. 3.5). My data showed that cyt-MDH transcript levels decreased in abundance after 1 h and 6 h, followed by an increase after 24 and 48 h, which later decreased again after 78h exposure. The 6 h and 48 h transcript abundance is consistent with my proteomics data where the abundance of cyt-MDH protein decreased significantly after 6 h but increased after 48 hours, suggesting that regulation of cyt-MDH in response to Al occurs in large part at the level of transcription.

To further clarify the relevance of cyt-MDH to Al-stress I used a reverse genetics approach. I obtained two T-DNA insertion lines (*mdh-1*, and *mdh-2*) for cyt-MDH, confirmed their homozygosity (Fig. 3.6), and measured cyt-MDH transcript abundance in each using QRT-PCR. For each allele, cyt-MDH transcript abundance was decreased >64 fold compared to wild type (Fig. 3.7).

I compared the Al-sensitivity of root elongation in *mdh-1*, *mdh-2* and WT seedlings, using three separate techniques. To begin with, I conducted root elongation assays in agar plates using exposure medium containing 0, 100, 150, and 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. Under control conditions, WT plants were healthy compared to either mutant allele. I detected no differences in primary root elongations between WT and either mutant allele after 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h (data not shown). However, after prolonged exposure (14 d) both *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* showed greater root elongation than WT under conditions of Al stress (150  $\mu$ M, 200  $\mu$ M).

I also compared root biomass of insertion lines and WT under hydroponic conditions. My hydroponics system allowed me to measure inhibition of root elongation over a period of time, and view root architecture and growth. In this experiment I treated 21 d old plants with 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> for 48 h. I extracted the longest roots from each hydroponic tank and photographed them (Fig. 3.8). WT plants showed reduced root elongation under treatment conditions as compared to *mdh-1* and *mdh-2*, although roots of *mdh-2* were shorter than WT under control conditions. This observation was shortlived and prolonged exposures (>2 weeks) to Al made *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* lines flower early and appeared stressed compare to WT.

I also measured the dry weights of roots and shoots to calculate root/shoot ratios to assess to the physiological status of plants. An ANOVA indicated no significant affects due to Al (p=0.227), genotype (p=0.098), or the Al x genotype interaction (p=0.390; Fig. 3.9.)

To further test whether *mdh* mutants are more resistant than WT under conditions of Al stress, I grew plants in a double layer agar medium, where the top layer was a germination medium and bottom layer was an exposure medium containing 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 3.10). Interestingly, WT plants did not penetrate the Al exposure medium (n=20), whereas roots of almost all *mdh* mutants (90% of individuals tested, n=20) grew into the exposure medium, although root elongation within the exposure medium stopped after approximately 48 h.

To help understand why decreased protein and transcript abundance of cyt-MDH may be beneficial to WT plants after 6 h exposure to Al, I measured the activities of cyt-MDH in WT plants exposed to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h and 48 h of Al stress. In these experiments, I reduced contamination from other organelle-specific isoforms of MDH (such as m-MDH) by sedimentation of organelles by centrifugation. I also obtained cytosol-enriched fractions by ultracentrifugation. Differences in kinetic and regulatory properties of soluble cyt-MDH, membrane bound cyt-MDH, and m-MDH have been previously reported (Sukalovic et al. 1999, Hanss et al. 2002, 2008). I measured the cyt-MDH activity in two different types of fractions of the cytosol. In my total cytosolic fraction (from which organelles were removed,) increased MDH activity was detected after 1 h, 3 h and 6 h with no change in activity after 24 h, and 48 h of exposure to Al (Fig. 3.11a). On the other hand, in cytosol-enriched fractions, enzyme activities in both control and treated plants followed a similar pattern, with activities declining after the first hour of transfer to CaCl<sub>2</sub> (+/- Al; Fig. 3.11b).). This could perhaps reflect transfer of plants to an incomplete nutrient solution. It is important to recognize that cyt-MDH activity reflects the sum of three different isoforms of cyt-MDH that cannot be distinguished in these data.

## 3.4. Discussion

I exposed Arabidopsis plants to Al and sampled roots after 6 and 48 h to detect changes in the whole root proteome. I assigned identities to only 12 spots that had changed significantly ( $\alpha$ =0.10) in abundance at 6 h time point (Table 3.5) and 17 significant spot at 48 h (Table 4.5). Many of the differences in fluorescence intensities were not considered significant at  $\alpha$ =0.05; nevertheless, several of these protein have been previously reported to be differentially expressed at either the transcript, protein, or phenotypic level after exposure to Al stress (Fukuda *et al.* 2007, Kumari *et al.* 2008, Yang *et al.* 2008, Zhang *et al.* 2007). For instance, I detected that cysteine synthase (p=0.091) was differentially abundant after Al exposure. The role of this gene in Al stress response has been recently described in detail (Yang *et al.* 2008).

Most of the proteins I identified (83% for 6 h; 53 % for 48 h) belong to one of two functional categories: primary metabolism or oxidative stress. Most of the identified proteins involved in primary metabolism belonged to glycolysis or the TCA cycle. Fakuda *et al.* (2007) also detected several glycolysis-related proteins after rice roots were exposed to Al. In particular, I detected increased abundance of BPGM, enolase, SCS, and m-MDH after 48 h exposure. One of the important intermediates of the TCA cycle is malate, which is also a chelator of Al for internal and /or external detoxification (Ma 2000). Malate is synthesized in the mitochondria and then transported to cytosol, where it could be converted to either pyruvate or oxaloacetate via cyt-MDH or ME, respectively (Fig. 3.12). It was interesting to detect decreased abundance of cyt-MDH after 6 h. I observed a similar pattern of transcript abundance in my QRT-PCR data, which suggests that cyt-MDH is regulated at the transcript level under Al stress (Fig. 3.5). I used a reverse genetics approach to test the possible role of cyt-MDH. My two T-DNA insertion lines, *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* were healthy after exposure to Al as compare to WT. This

observation was short-lived and prolonged exposures (>2weeks) to Al made mdh-l and *mdh-2* lines flower early and appeared stressed compare to WT. My double layer agar assays were interesting because WT plants did not penetrate the Al containing exposure medium, whereas roots of almost all *mdh* mutants grew into the exposure medium. This may suggest that mutants are more resistant to Al. I speculate that cells may be able to control two aspects of Al stress by regulating activities of cyt-MDH and ME. First, by maintaining cytosolic levels of malate for transport across the membrane to chelate  $Al^{3+}$ and second, by generation of NADPH that serves as a source of reducing power for reducing agents such as glutathione. This hypothesis is supported by differences in protein abundances. For instance, I detected decreased abundance of cyt-MDH after 6 h exposure with no change in ME. This would suggest that conversion of malate to oxaloacetate is slowed down during the initial periods of stress, which may help to maintain a pool of malate for external exudation. However, after prolonged exposures it appears that flow of carbon is towards the synthesis of pyruvate, because I saw a concomitant increase in protein abundance for both m-MDH and ME after 48 h. Therefore, I speculate that cyt-MDH could play an important role in Al stress by, 1) increasing the ratio of NADPH/NADP in association with ME (increased in abundance in this study) and, 2) maintaining a pool of cytosolic malate for external/internal detoxification of A1 (Fig. 3.12). The protein abundance and activity of ME has been shown to increase under salt stress (Valderrama et al. 2006) and over-expression of cyt-ME confers salt resistance which correlates with significant increase in the cytosolic NADPH/NADP<sup>+</sup> ratio in transgenic Arabidopsis (Cheng and Long 2007). Notably, several transcriptomic and proteomic screens have identified enzymes of primary metabolism as being stress-related proteins (Fakuda et al. 2007, Maul et al. 2008, Popova et al. 2008).

Among proteins involved in oxidative stress, I detected decreased abundance of 2 GSTs after 6 h exposure and increased as well decreased abundance of GSTs after 48 h as described previously under salt stress (Jiang *et al.* 2007). In my microarray, most of the transcripts encoding GSTs belonged to the Tau class, whereas, most of proteins identified in proteomics data belonged to Phi class. For some spots identified as GSTs, I noticed that the same ID was detected for two distinct spots (for instance spots 15 and 16 as ATGSTF8) although their position in respective gels was distinct. This suggests post-translational protein modifications may be involved in the regulation of activity. Ryue *et al.* (2009) showed that transcript levels of AtGSTF10 were not induced by plant growth regulators or abiotic stress (except drought). Nonetheless, over-expression of AtGSTF10 conferred higher resistance to salt and disturbed redox status of transgenic plants.

A role of sulfur in plant response to abiotic stress is emerging (Nocito *et al.* 2006). As a component of the tripeptide glutathione;  $\gamma$ -Glu-Cys-Gly, sulfur could represent a limiting factor for GSH biosynthes is and for resistance to metals (Nocito *et al.* 2006). I detected increased abundance of CS (previously reported to be differentially expressed after Al stress; Yang *et al.* 2008) and increased abundance of GST's after 48 h of stress. GSH serves important functions in plants as a reductant that transiently accumulates under stress conditions as oxidized disulfide (GSSG; Dixon *et al.* 2005). Glutathione transferases play a protective role by glutathionylation (K latt and Lamas 2000) of toxic products which can be transported to the vacuole through the action of ATP Binding Cassette (ABC) transporters (Rea 1999). The involvement of these thiol exchange reactions in redox signaling has been postulated (Klatt and Lamas 2000, Shelton *et al.* 2005, B iswas *et al.* 2006, Dalle-Donne *et al.* 2007). Several reports have suggested increased abundance of ABC transporters under stress conditions. Taken together with my data, I speculate that sulfur metabolism, accumulation of GSH and increased abundance of GSTs are important components of the plant stress management strategy

after exposure to Al. Although I previously observed induction of transcripts for ABC transporter, proteins from this family were not among those detected in my present experiment. In future, the proteomic analysis of membrane-enriched fractions might prove useful to identify these and other membrane proteins that are differentially expressed after Al stress.

In summary, this study: 1) presents the proteomic analysis of response of plant roots to Al stress after 6 h and 48 h, 2) presents the comparison between the root transcriptome and proteome after 6 and 48 h exposure to Al in any plant species, 3) identified several novel proteins and confirmed some other previously reported proteins as differentially abundant, 4) provided evidence that protein abundance of cyt-MDH (one of the novel Al related proteins) is regulated in part at the level of transcription after Al stress, 5) showed that besides decreased abundance at the level of transcripts (detected by QRT-PCR) and protein (detected by DiGE), the activities of cyt-MDH also decreases after 6 h exposure to Al, 6) showed that insertion mutants (*mdh-1* and *mdh-2*) were more resistant to Al as compared to WT plants, 7) suggests that sulfur metabolism and increased abundance of GSTs play a role in resistance to Al. Figure 3.1. Experimental design for analysis of the stress proteome in roots of Arabidopsis. Three independent replicates were used where control and treated samples were grown in parallel. Control, treated, and pooled samples were differentially labeled using CyDyes (Cy5, Cy3, and Cy2). For one of the three replicates (Rep 2), dye labeling was flipped where protein control and treated plants were labeled with Cy3 and Cy5 instead of Cy5 and Cy3; respectively.





Figure 3.2. Representative DIGE gels of protein samples obtained after 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress. Proteins were fluorescently labelled, mixed and then separated using 2D gel electrophoresis. a) Twelve successfully identified spots that showed significant differences in abundance after 6 h exposure to aluminum are labelled. b) Seventeen successfully identified spots that showed significant differences in abundance after 48 h exposure to aluminum are labelled. The pH range of the first dimension electrophoresis was from 3-10.



Figure 3.3. Aluminum induced catalytic proteins (shown in red) involved in glycolysis,

TCA, and, amino acid biosynthesis pathways.



Figure 3.4. Comparison of transcriptomic and proteomic data after 6 h and 48 h of aluminum stress. Correlation coefficients for the relationship between transcript abundance and protein abundance were weak for both 6 h ( $r^2 = 0.155$ ) and 48 h ( $r^2 = 0.083$ ).



Figure 3.5. Relative transcript abundance of cyt-MDH in roots of Arabidopsis thaliana after 1 h, 6 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 78 h of exposure to 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3.</sub>



Figure 3.6. Agrose gel image of PCR products to show confirmation of homozygous T-DNA insertions in *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* insertion lines as compared to WT. Both *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* insertion lines generated PCR products when gene-specific and T-DNA specific primer were used. Since WT plants do not harbor a T-DNA, these failed to generate a PCR product. Conversely, when a gene-specific primer pair was used, only WT plants generated a PCR product hence confirming absence of any WT copy of gene in *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* insertion lines, thus confirming homozygous insertion of T-DNA. BP: Border primer (T-DNA-specific), RP: Right primer (gene-specific), LP: Left primer (gene-specific).



Figure 3.7. Confirmation of decreased relative abundance of cyt-MDH transcripts in homozygous T-DNA insertion lines (*mdh-1* and *mdh-2*) as compared to WT. The abundance of cyt-MDH in mutants was calculated relative to endogenous control (UBC). Insertion lines and WT were both grown under control conditions.



Figure 3.8. Effect of aluminum treatment (0  $\mu$ M, 25  $\mu$ M) on growth of WT and two homozygous T-DNA insertion lines (*mdh-1* and *mdh-2*) of *Arabidopsis thaliana*.



Figure 3.9. Dry weights of roots, shoots, and, root/shoot ratio of two homozygous T-DNA insertion lines (*mdh-1* and *mdh-2*) and WT plants after 48 h of aluminum exposure. An ANOVA indicated no significant affects due to A1 (p=0.227), genotype (p=0.098), or the A1 x genotype interaction (p=0.390).



Figure 3.10. Growth of WT and T-DNA insertion lines (*mdh-1* and *mdh-2*) of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to compare aluminum sensitivity. The top layer did not contain aluminum, while the bottom layer contains 150 µM AlCl<sub>3</sub> (pH 4.33).



Figure 3.11. Enzyme activities of cyt-MDH in two separate fractions of the cytosol of roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Activities in extracts obtained from control and treated roots are labeled accordingly. a) Enzyme activity of cyt-MDH in total cytosolic fraction after exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to Al. b) Enzyme activity of cyt-MDH in cytosol enriched fraction after exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to Al.



Figure 3.12. Diagrammatic representation of the reactions catalyzed by three differentially abundant proteins (m-MDH, cyt-MDH, and malic enzyme) involved in the malate metabolism and NADPH biosynthesis. Reversibility and reaction intermediates of TCA cycle not shown here.



	6 h exp	osure		48 h exposure			
Picked	signif 5	ficant 5	random 36	significant 26		random 37	
Abundance	Up 13	Dn 42		Up 22	Dn 4		
Identified	3	9	28	15	2	23	

.

Table 3.1. Total number of protein spots picked and successfully identified in 6 h and 48 h gels.

Table 3.2. List of proteins detected as differentially abundant after 6 h exposure to aluminum. Identity of each protein spot was determined by LC/MS followed by database search in mascot search engine. The mascot scores for identified protein are shown in column 5. Total number of peptides and the sequences of only unique peptides are shown column 6 and 7. The molecular weight (Mr), p*I* and *p*-value of each protein spot is shown in columns labeled accordingly.

(e)CategoryaudSpot number	Aron and Metabolism	Accession number	Score	No. of peptides	Identified peptides (MS/MS)	Fold change	Mr	þſ	<i>p</i> -value
1	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase	gi 1944432	120	3	LTYYTPEYETK, TFQGPPHGIQVER, DLAVEGNEIIR	2.1	48038	6.12	0.021
2	Alcohol dehydrogenase	gi 469467	106	2	IIGVDFNSK, TDIPGVVEK	1.4	41862	5.83	0.02
4	Fructose bisphosphate aldolase-like protein	gi 7529717	115	3	GILAADESTGTIGK, LASINVENVETNRR, AAQEALYVR	1.13	38882	6.05	0.023
5	Malate dehydrogenase (cytosolic)	gi 15219721	106	3	MELIDAAFPLLK (oxid), VLVVANPANTNALILK, LSVPVSDVK	-1.3	35913	6.11	0.015
10	Phosphoglycolate phosphatase	gi 30685622	43	1	MANLTTNAK (oxid)	1.13	25369	5.43	0.069

# b) Oxidative stress

3	ATP sulfurylase	gi 452470	52	2	NADAVFAFQLR	-1.3	51429	6.4	0.007
6	Isoflavone reductase-like protein	gi 7268070	54	2	VLVVGGTGSLGR, TYVSGNDFLADIEDK	-1.4	35586	5.79	0.013
7	Glutathione Stransferase (ATGSTF2)	gi 2262152	71	2	LAFEQIFK, VLDVYEAR	-1.3	24128	5.92	0.054
11	Glutathione S transferase (ATGSTF10)	gi 15224582	98	3	AVVTLVEK, SQGPDLLGK, YSLPV	-1.3	24230	5.49	0.032
12	Thioredoxin	gi 992966	53	3	FTNVVFFK, FIAPVFAEMAK (oxid), VEAMPTFVFMK (oxid)	-1.3	13293	5.19	0.034
c) Oth	ers								
8	Proteasome subunit	gi 577531	135	3	MSTGYSILSR (oxid), SPSPLLLPK, QDSNTPLSEAEAVDLVK	-1.6	24872	6.95	0.005
9	Unknown prote in	gi 18401381	42	1	EAAKEVPK	-1.3	38084	8.28	0.087

Table 3.3. List of proteins detected as differentially abundant after 48 h exposure to aluminum. Identity of each protein spot was determined by LC/MS followed by database search in mascot search engine. The mascot scores for identified protein are shown in column 5. Total number of peptides and the sequences of only unique peptides are shown column 6 and 7. The molecular weight (Mr), p*I* and *p*-value of each protein spot is shown in columns labeled accordingly.

e Category E Shot number	brotein identify nergy and Metabolism	Accession number	Score	No. of peptides	Identified peptides (MS/MS)	Fold change	M,	þ	<i>p</i> -value
2	Succinyl-CoA-ligase beta subunit	gi 3660469	181	5	YGVNVPK, SAGPLIIACK, LYELFR, LNFDDNAAFR, LITADDLDDAAEK	1.5	45630	6.3	0.1
3	Malic enzyme-like protein	T48526	160	5	GIQVIVVTDGER, YMALMDLQER, TYDLGLASNLPR, FAESSMYSPVYR, AIFGSGSPFDPVVYDGK	1.2	64771	6.01	0.013
4	2,3-bisphosphoglycerate- independent phosphoglycerate mutase	gi 18391066	182	7	LCDQALASGK, IFEGEGFK, VHILTDGR, ENGVDAQIASGGGR, YENDWEVVK	1.2	60807	5.32	0.1

\_

5	Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase 1	gi 8778521	78	3	HIIVATGSDVK, VVSVDSSSDGVK, AIDNAEGLVK	1.5	54070	6.96	0.018
7	Phosphopyruvate hydratase/Enolase	gi 15227987	129	4	AGAVVSGIPLYK, TYDLNFK, SCNALLLK, YNQLLR	1.5	48004	5.54	0.074
12	Malate dehydrogenase- mitochondrial	gi 3929649	362	7	NLCTAIAK, LFGVTTLDVVR, EGLEALKPELK, TQDGGTEVVEAK, DDLFNINAGIVK, SEVVGYMGDDNLAK, ALEGADLVIIPAGVPR	1.2	36032	8.54	0.016
b) Oxic	lative stress related								
14	L-Ascorbate peroxidase	gi 16173	153	5	NYPTVSEDYKK, LLDPIR, EGLLQLVSDK, LSELGFADA	1.3	27846	5.72	0.062
15	Glutathione S-transferase (ATGSTF8)	gi 20197312	198	6	LISQDCK, VLATLYEK, VLFDSRPK, VLDVYEAR, DLQFELIPVDMR, AITQYLAEEYSEKGEK	1.2	24134	6.09	0.03
16	Glutathione S-transferase (ATGSTF8)	gi 20197312	59	2	VLATLYEK, VLDVYEAR	-1.13	23761	6.08	0.009
c) Prot	ein and amino acid synthesis	and degradation	n						
1	Cobalamin-independent	gi 15238686	194	6	EVITELK,	1.4	84698	6.09	0.1
	*	= /							

	methionine synthase (ATCIMS)				YLFAGVVDGR, VVEVNALAK, VSEEDYVK, LLSVFR, IPSSEEIADR				
10	19S Proteosome subunit 9 : signalosome complex	gi 3450889	41	3	TAKIVRR, AVADAHSK	1.4	47515	6.14	0.044
11	Branched-chain amino acid aminotransferase-like protein	gi 26391664	81	3	TDYMYVAK, AFPSGTGGVK, LYETLSDIQTGR	-1.2	39418	5.9	0.1
13	Cysteine synthase	gi 804950	291	6	IGFSMISDAEK, LIITMPASMSTER, IDGFVSGIGTGGTITGAG, LFVAIFPSFGER, YLSTVLFDATR, KEAEAMTFEA	1.6	33956	5.67	0.091
Atho									

d) Others
-----------

6	Signal transducer	gil 15229647	42	1	NELSKLNR	1.5	60495	6.41	0.055
8	Disease resistance family protein	gi 15230023	45	2	DALLELK, QNCSSFK	1.4	97986	6.28	0.1
9	Endomembrane-associated protein	gi 7268821	98	4	TFDESKETINKEIEEK, VVETYEATSAEVK, YLEELVK, TEGTSGEKEEIVEETK	1.3	24584	4.99	0.049
17	Universal stress protein Ethylene-responsive protein	gi 18399413 gi 21594903	156	3	QPETTTEAEAPSLTTK, AQQETSAALLSR, TETLVLEGEAK	-1.7	21686	5.53	0.066

Supplemental Table 3.1. List of proteins that were excluded for comparison of

transcriptomic and proteomic data after 6 h and 48 h of aluminum exposure.

a. Identified protein spots whose corresponding AGIs failed to pass above

background cut off in microarrays for 6 h data.

Protein ID	Fold	Corresponding	Printed
	change	AGIs	on arrays
Ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase	2.1	AtCg00490	no
Unknown protein	-1.3	At2g27285	no
Thioredoxin	-1.3	At1g45145	no
Catalytic/ hydrolase/ phosphoglycolate phosphatase	1.13	At2g33255	У
ATP sulfurylase	- 1.2	At3g22890	У

b. Identified protein spots whose corresponding AGIs failed to pass above

background cut off in microarrays for 48 h data.

Protein ID	Fold change	Corresponding AGIs	Printed on arrays
NADP dependent malic enzyme-like protein	1.2	At5g11670	у
Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase 1	1.5	At1g48030	у
Signal transducer	1.5	At3g49970	у
Kinase/ protein binding	1.4	At3g05650	у
Unknown protein /universal stress protein	-1.7	At3g11930	У

Supplemental Table 3.2. Comparison between root proteomic and transcriptomic data obtained after 6 h and 48 h exposures to aluminum.

Protein fold change (log <sub>2</sub> )	Microarray fold change (log <sub>2</sub> )	AGI	Prote in ID
-0.34	-0.41	At3g22890	ATP sulfury lase
0.50	0.15	At1g77120	Alcohol dehydrogenase
0.18	0.55	At3g52930	Fructose bisphosphate aldolase-like
-0.37	0.69	At1g04410	Malate dehydrogenase
-0.44	-0.12	At4g13660	Isoflavone reductase-like protein
-0.42	-1.18	At4g02520	Glutathione S transferase
-0.65	-0.14	At3g60820	Proteasome subunit

a. List of proteins and corresponding genes that were compared after 6 h treatment.

b. List of proteins and corresponding genes that were compared after 48 h treatment.

Protein fold change (log <sub>2</sub> )	Microarray fold change (log <sub>2</sub> )	AGI	Protein ID
0.50	0.54	At5g17920	Cobalamine-independent methionine synthase
0.27	0.53	At1g09780	2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-
			Independent phosphoglycerate mutase
0.57	0.20	At2g20420	Succinyl-coa-ligase beta subunit
0.62	0.43	At2g36530	Enolase
0.51	-0.01	At1g29150	19S proteosome subunit 9
-0.21	0.34	At3g19710	Branched-chain amino acid
			aminotransferase-like protein
0.33	-0.31	At4g20260	Endomembrane-associated protein
0.29	0.24	At1g53240	Mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase
0.67	-0.11	At4g14880	Cysteine synthase
0.33	-0.32	At1g07890	L-ascorbate peroxidase
0.21	-0.78	At2g47730	Glutathione S-transferase (GST6)

Note: The protein corresponding to At2g47730 was represented by two distict spots.

Amme S, Matros A, Schlesier B, Mock HP (2006) Proteome analysis of cold stress response in Arabidopsis thaliana using DIGE-technology. J Exp Bot 57:1537-46

 Anoop VM, Basu U, McCammon MT, McAlister-Henn L, Taylor GJ (2003)
Modulation of citrate metabolism alters aluminum resistance in yeast and transgenic canola overexpressing a mitochondrial citrate synthase. Plant Physiol 132:2205-17

- Basu U, Basu A, Taylor GJ (1994) Differential exudation of polypeptides by roots of aluminum-resistant and aluminum-sensitive cultivars of *Triticum aestivum* L. in response to aluminum stress. Plant Physiol 106:151-58
- Basu U, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Transgenic *Brassica napus* plants overexpressing aluminum-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminum. Plant Cell Environ. 24:1269–78
- Basu U, Southron JL, Stephens JL, Taylor GJ (2004) Reverse genetic analysis of the glutathione metabolic pathway suggests a novel role of *PHGPX* and *URE2* genes in aluminum resistance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol Genet Genomics 271:627-637
- Biswas S, Chida AS, Rahman I (2006) Redox modifications of protein-thiols: emerging roles in cell signaling. Biochem Pharmacol **71**:551-64
- Chandran D, Sharopova N, Ivashuta S, Gantt JS, Vandenbosch KA, Samac DA (2008) Transcriptome profiling identified novel genes associated with aluminum toxicity, resistance and resistance in *Medicago truncatula*. Planta 228:151-66
- **Cheng Y, Long M** (2007) A cytosolic NADP-malic enzyme gene from rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) confers salt resistance in transgenic Arabidopsis. Biotechnol Lett
**29**:1129-34

- Chivasa S, Hamilton JM, Pringle RS, Ndimba BK, Simon WJ, Lindsey K, Slabas AR (2006) Proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins in fungal elicitor-treated Arabidops is cell cultures. J Exp Bot 57:1553-62
- Czechowski T, Stitt M, Altmann T, Udvardi MK, Scheible WR (2005) Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 139:5-17
- Dalle-Donne I, Rossi R, Giustarini D, Colombo R, Milzani A (2007) Sglutathionylation in protein redox regulation. Free Radic Biol Med **43**:883-98
- Dixon DP, Hawkins T, Hussey PJ, Edwards R (2009) Enzyme activities and subcellular localization of members of the Arabidopsis glutathione transferase superfamily. J Exp Bot 60:1207-18
- **Dixon DP, Lapthorn A, Edwards R** (2002) Plant glutathione transferases. Genome Biol 3: 3004.1-10
- Dixon DP, Skipsey M, Grundy NM, Edwards R (2005) Stress-induced protein Sglutathionylation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **138**:2233-44
- Fukuda T, Saito A, Wasaki J, Shinano T, Osaki M (2007) Metabolic alterations proposed by proteome in rice roots grown under low P and high A1 concentration under low pH. Plant Sci 172:1157–65
- Hamilton CA, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Induction of vacuolar ATPase and mitochondrial ATP synthase by aluminum in an aluminum-resistant cultivar of wheat. Plant Physiol 125:2068-77
- Hanss B, Leal-Pinto E, Teixeira A, Christian RE, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Klotman PE (2002) Cytosolic malate dehydrogenase confers selectivity of the nucleic acidconducting channel. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:1707-12

- Hanss B, Leal-Pinto E, Teixeira A, Tran B, Lee CH, Henderson SC, Klotman PE (2008) Localization of the nucleic acid channel regulatory subunit, cytosolic malate dehydrogenase. J Membr Biol 226:1-8
- Hoekenga OA, Maron LG, Pineros MA, Cancado GM, Shaff J, Kobayashi Y, Ryan PR, Dong B, Delhaize E, Sasaki T, Matsumoto H, Yamamoto Y, Koyama H, Kochian LV (2006) AtALMT1, which encodes a malate transporter, is identified as one of several genes critical for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9738-43
- Hotte NS, Deyholos MK (2008) A flax fibre proteome: identification of proteins enriched in bast fibres. BMC Plant Biol 8:52
- Houde M, Diallo AO (2008) Identification of genes and pathways associated with aluminum stress and resistance using transcriptome profiling of wheat near-isogenic lines. BMC Genomics **9**:400
- Jiang Y, Yang B, Harris NS, Deyholos MK (2007) Comparative proteomic analysis of NaCl stress-responsive proteins in Arabidopsis roots. J Exp Bot **58**:3591-607
- **Kinraide TB** (1990) Assessing the rhizotoxicity of the aluminate ion, Al(OH)(4). Plant Physiol **93**:1620-25
- Klatt P, Lamas S (2000) Regulation of protein function by S-glutathiolation in response to oxidative and nitrosative stress. Eur J Biochem 267:4928-44
- Kochian LV, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA (2004) How do crop plants tolerate acid soils? Mechanisms of aluminum resistance and phosphorous efficiency. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:459-93
- Kumari M, Taylor GJ, Deyholos MK (2008) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol Genet Genomics 279:339-57
- Less H, Galili G (2008) Principal transcriptional programs regulating plant amino acid

metabolism in response to abiotic stresses. Plant Physiol 147:316-30

- Liu J, Magalhaes JV, Shaff J, Kochian LV (2009) Aluminum-activated citrate and malate transporters from the MATE and ALMT families function independently to confer Arabidopsis aluminum resistance. Plant J **57**:389-399
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 25:402-8
- MaJF (2000) Role of organic acids in detoxification of aluminum in higher plants. Plant cell physiol 41:383-90
- Magalhaes JV (2006) Aluminum tolerance genes are conserved between monocots and dicots. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9749-50
- Maron LG, Kirst M, Mao C, Milner MJ, Menossi M, Kochian LV (2008) Transcriptional profiling of aluminum toxicity and resistance responses in maize roots. New Phytol 179:116-28
- Martinez-Garcia JF, Monte E, Quail PH (1999) A simple, rapid and quantitative method for preparing Arabidopsis protein extracts for immunoblot analysis. Plant J 20:251-57
- Maul P, McCollum GT, Popp M, Guy CL, Porat R (2008) Transcriptome profiling of grapefruit flavedo following exposure to low temperature and conditioning treatments uncovers principal molecular components involved in chilling resistance and susceptibility. Plant Cell Environ **31**:752-68
- Miyasaka SC, Buta JG, Howell RK, Foy CD (1991) Mechanism of aluminum resistance in snapbeans : root exudation of citric acid. Plant Physiol **96**:737-43
- Nocito FF, Lancilli C, Crema B, Fourcroy P, Davidian JC, Sacchi GA (2006) Heavy metal stress and sulfate uptake in maize roots. Plant Physiol **141**:1138-48
- Pejchal R, Ludwig ML (2005) Cobalamin-independent methionine synthase (MetE): a

face-to-face double barrel that evolved by gene duplication. PLoS Biol 3:e31

- **Popova OV, Yang O, Dietz KJ, Golldack D** (2008) Differential transcript regulation in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and the halotolerant Lobularia maritima indicates genes with potential function in plant salt adaptation. Gene **423**:142-48
- Rea P (1999) MRP subfamily ABC transporters from plants and yeast. J Exp Bot 50:895-13

Rea PA (2007) Plant ATP-binding cassette transporters. Annu Rev Plant Biol 58:347-75

- Rea PA, Li ZS, Lu YP, Drozdowicz YM, Martinoia E (1998) From vacuolar Gs-X
  pumps to multispecific abc transporters. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol
  49:727-60
- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiol **116**:409-18
- Ryu HY, Kim SY, Park HM, You JY, Kim BH, Lee JS, Nam KH (2009) Modulations of *AtGSTF10* expression induce stress resistance and BAK1-mediated cell death. Biochem Bioph Res Co 379:417-22
- Sharma P, Dubey RS (2007) Involvement of oxidative stress and role of antioxidative defense system in growing rice seedlings exposed to toxic concentrations of aluminum. Plant Cell Rep 26:2027-38
- Shelton MD, Chock PB, Mieyal JJ (2005) Glutaredoxin: role in reversible protein sglutathionylation and regulation of redox signal transduction and protein translocation. Antioxid Redox Signal 7:348-66
- Snowden KC, Richards KD, Gardner RC (1995) Aluminum-induced genes (induction by toxic metals, low calcium, and wounding and pattern of expression in root tips). Plant Physiol 107:341-48

Sugimoto M, Saiki Y, Zhang D, Kawai F (2004) Cloning and characterization of

preferentially expressed genes in an aluminum-tolerant mutant derived from *Penicillium chrysogenum* IFO4626. Fems Microbiol Lett **230**:137-42

- Sukalovic VHT, Vuletic M, Ignjatovic-Micic D, Vucinic Z (1999) Plasma-membranebound malate dehydrogenase activity in maize roots. Protoplasma **207**: 203-12
- Tarantino D, Vannini C, Bracale M, Campa M, Soave C, Murgia I (2005) Antisense reduction of thylakoidal ascorbate peroxidase in Arabidopsis enhances paraquatinduced photooxidative stress and nitric oxide-induced cell death. Planta 221:757-65
- Tesfaye M, Temple SJ, Allan DL, Vance CP, Samac DA (2001) Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa enhances organic acid synthesis and confers resistance to aluminum. Plant Physiol 127:1836-44
- Valderrama R, Corpas FJ, Carreras A, Gomez-Rodriguez MV, Chaki M, Pedrajas JR, Fernandez-Ocana A, Del Rio LA, Barroso JB (2006) The dehydrogenasemediated recycling of NADPH is a key antioxidant system against salt-induced oxidative stress in olive plants. Plant Cell Environ 29:1449-59
- Vij S, Tyagi AK (2007) Emerging trends in the functional genomics of the abiotic stress response in crop plants. Plant Biotechnol J 5:361-80
- Wedding RT (1989) Malic enzymes of higher plants: characteristics, regulation, and physiological function. Plant Physiol 90:367-71
- Yamamoto Y, Kobayashi Y, Devi SR, Rikiishi S, Matsumoto H (2002) Aluminum toxicity is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and the production of reactive oxygen species in plant cells. Plant Physiol 128:63-72
- Yang Q, Wang Y, Zhang J, Shi W, Qian C, Peng X (2007) Identification of aluminumresponsive proteins in rice roots by a proteomic approach: cysteine synthase as a key player in Al response. Proteomics 7:737-49

- Zhang J, He Z, Tian H, Zhu G, Peng X (2007) Identification of aluminium-responsive genes in rice cultivars with different aluminium sensitivities. J Exp Bot **58**:2269-78
- Zhen Y, Qi JL, Wang SS, Su J, Xu GH, Zhang MS, Miao L, Peng XX, Tian D, Yang YH (2007) Comparative proteome analysis of differentially expressed proteins induced by Al toxicity in soybean. Physiol Plant 131:542-54

# 4. Identifying the role of Class III plant peroxidases under aluminum stress using a reverse genetics approach

#### 4.1. Introduction

Peroxidases (EC 1.11.1) catalyze oxidation-reduction reactions in which a peroxide is reduced and a substrate is oxidized. Peroxidases are found in animals, plants, and microorganisms, and are divided into three super-families based on their structural and catalytic properties (Hiraga *et al.* 2001). These super-families are: animal peroxidases, catalases, and plant peroxidases (Table 4.1). Despite its name, the plant peroxidase super-family includes enzymes from bacteria, fungi, and plants. This super-family is further divided into Class I, II, and III (Table 4.1). Within these three classes, five distinctly positioned amino acids (important for catalysis, structure, and the helical folding of the polypeptide) are strictly conserved. Therefore all members share a similar three-dimensional structure (Schuller *et al.* 1996, Gajhede *et al.* 1997) despite less than 20% amino acid similarity between the most divergent sequences.

Class I plant peroxidases are intracellular enzymes present in all organisms except animals, whereas Class II plant peroxidases are extracellular peroxidases found exclusively in fungi. Structurally, Class II plant peroxidases are unique in having an additional 40 to 60 amino acid residues in their C-termini as compared to other plant peroxidases (Welinder *et al.* 2002). Class III plant peroxidases (EC 1.11.1.7) are unique among this superfamily, in that they are found exclusively in plants and differ structurally by having three structural helices instead of just one as reported for Classes I and II (Schuller *et al.* 1996, Gajhede *et al.* 1997). Class III peroxidases, which I will refer to by the abbreviation PER, have also been known by the abbreviations POX, PRX, or POD. PER genes are the focus of this chapter. PERs are heme-containing enzymes that are secreted either outside cells or transported into vacuoles. Functionally, Class III plant peroxidases have been proposed to be regulators of ROS abundance. Depending on whether the peroxidative (catalytic) or hydroxylic cycle of the enzyme is functional, PERs either decrease the abundance of extracellular H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or generate highly toxic radicals such as hydroxyl (OH<sup>\*</sup>), and hydroperoxyl (OOH<sup>\*</sup>; Bolwell *et al.* 2002, Kawano 2003, Passardi *et al.* 2005; Bindschedler *et al.* 2006). During the peroxidative cycle, PERs catalyze the reduction of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> by oxidizing various substrates such as NAD(P)H, indole acetic acid, and saturated fatty acids (Hiranga *et al.* 2001). In the hydroxylic cycle, PERs use the superoxide anion  $(O_2^-)$  to generate OH<sup>\*</sup>. By operating these two cycles, PERs participate in different plant development processes from germination to senescence (e.g. auxin metabolism, cell wall elongation, and stiffening) or help protect against abiotic and biotic stresses (Kawano 2003, Liu *et al.* 2005, Cosio *et al.* 2009).

Sequencing of the Arabidopsis genome has helped to identify 73 sequences encoding putative PER genes (*PER1-PER73*) (Tognolli *et al.* 2002, Welinder *et al.* 2002). The phylogenetic relationship, based on complete amino acid sequences and upstream sequences (Fig. 4.1, Fig. 4.2), suggests that a succession of genomic rearrangements resulted in extensive duplication and diversification of the peroxidase gene family. The extent to which sequence diversification of PERs has any relevance to their possible functional diversification remains to be seen.

Several types of abiotic stress affect expression of PERs. These include Al (Richards *et al.* 1998, Kumari *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008), NaCl (Jiang and Deyholos 2006), Cd/As (Weber *et al.* 2006, Abercrombie *et al.* 2008), cold (Llorente *et al.* 2002), ozone (Ludwikow *et al.* 2004), anoxia (Klok *et al.* 2002), and nutrient deficiencies such as sulphur (Nikiforova *et al.* 2003), potassium (Kang *et al.* 2004), and phosphate

169

(Hammond *et al.* 2003). I focused my attention on the potential role of peroxidases in protecting plants against Al-stress based on my previous microarray-based observation of plants exposed to Al (Kumari *et al.* 2008). My microarray data showed that compared to almost any other gene family, a higher proportion of PER genes was responsive to Al compared to most other classes of genes. Of the 73 PER genes predicted in the Arabidops genome, 71 were represented by probes printed on my microarrays. I detected transcripts of 36 and 41 genes above background for 6 and 48 h respectively; of these transcripts of 15 different PERs changed in abundance following exposure to Al (Table 4.2). After 6 h transcripts for ten Class III peroxidase genes increased and three others decreased, whereas after 48 h, transcripts for one gene decreased and one other increased (Fig. 4.3). Among these 15 genes, transcripts for two genes (*PER27* and *PER62*) were found common to have a similar transcript abundance pattern to each other at both 6 h and 48 h data (Fig. 4.3).

Inhibition of elongation of the primary root is a major symptom of Al toxicity and is correlated with modifications in cell wall properties, including reduced extensibility (Tabuchi and Matsumoto 2001), and changes in the distribution and content of polysaccharides such as pectin (Yang *et al.* 2008, Li *et al.* 2009). Peroxidases have been suggested to promote formation of phenolic linkages in the cell wall, thus restricting cell growth (Cosio and Dunand 2009). Also, some PERs reportedly have indole-3-acetic acid oxidase activity (Gazaryan *et al.* 1996), and hence may control auxin activity in the elongation zone through the catabolism of auxin in roots (Kawano 2003, Cosio *et al.* 2009).

Among the 15 distinct PERs identified as Al-responsive, I selected seven for study of transcript profiles at additional Al exposure time points besides the two time points (6 h and 48 h) previously studied (Kumari *et al.* 2008, Chapter 2). I also further explored the role of PERs in Al-treated root elongation using a reverse genetics approach. In this chapter, I present the hypothesis that the activity of specific peroxidases, regulated in part by their transcript abundance, influences the Al tolerance of roots of Arabidopsis.

#### 4.2. Materials and methods

Seven PER genes (*PER2, PER24, PER27, PER49, PER56, PER62,* and *PER69*) were selected to represent different patterns of transcript abundance previously detected in my microarrays (Kumari *et al.* 2008). I used two separate techniques to determine whether knocking out these PERs has any effect on root elongation or on the dry weight of mutant plants. For root elongation studies, plate assays were used and for dry weight measurements, a hydroponic system was used.

# 4.2.1. Plant material and growth conditions

Seeds of WT *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Col-0) were obtained from Lehle Seeds. The following T-DNA insertion mutants were obtained from either the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center or the Nottingham Arabidopsis Stock Centre: *PER2* (Salk\_008488, SALK\_101287), *PER21* (SALK\_021989, SALK\_024315), *PER69* (Salk\_137991, Al752351). The mutants were named as *per2-a*, *per2-b*, *per21-a*, *per21-b*, *per69-a*, and *per69-b*.

Seeds were surface sterilized (2.25% NaClO, 0.05% Tween-20) and were sown on 1/2 X MS medium (0.3% Phytagel). Aluminum (Al) treatments were conducted by transferring rafts to exposure solutions containing AlCl<sub>3</sub> in 200  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Throughout their life cycle, plants were exposed to 16 h light/8 h dark cycle in a growth chamber with approximately160  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> photosynthetic photon flux density and 65% relative humidity.

#### 4.2.2. Aluminum treatment

For plate assays, exposure medium (Snowden *et al.* 1995) containing 0.15 mM  $NH_4NO_3$ , 0.3 mM KNO<sub>3</sub>, 0.2 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M (NH<sub>4</sub>)H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>4</sub>, 1  $\mu$ M MnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2  $\mu$ M CuSO<sub>4</sub>, 1  $\mu$ M ZnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2  $\mu$ M CoCl<sub>2</sub>, 5  $\mu$ M FeCl<sub>3</sub> and 500  $\mu$ M CaSO<sub>4</sub> was prepared. Prior to autoclaving, pH was adjusted to 4.3 and 14 g Phytagar was added. Aliquots of AlCl<sub>3</sub> stock solution (filter sterilized) were added after autoclaving. To obtain 0  $\mu$ M, 100  $\mu$ M, 150  $\mu$ M and 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>, 0 ml, 4 ml, 6 ml or 8 ml of 25 mM stock of AlCl<sub>3</sub> was added to media (respectively) followed by plating in 15 cm square plates. For hydroponics, exposure medium containing CaCl<sub>2</sub> (200  $\mu$ M, pH 4.33) was prepared to avoid precipitation of Al. To obtain 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> exposure medium. 1ml of AlCl<sub>3</sub> stock solution was added to a liter of 200  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub>, and pH was adjusted to 4.3. The use of alkali was avoided while adjusting the pH of exposure solutions to prevent the formation of non-toxic Al species (Kinraide and Parker 1987). Aluminum (Al) treatments were conducted by transferring rafts (containing 14 day old plants) to Al exposure solutions (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008). Stock solutions of Al (25 mM) were prepared by adding AlCl<sub>3</sub> to water that had been adjusted to pH 3.0 with HCl.

### 4.2.3. Root elongation, shoot area, and dry weight measurements

Seeds of WT and *per* mutants were grown on 1/2 X MS medium (pH 5.75; 0.65% Phyagar, Sigma) for 7 d in vertically positioned plates to prevent penetration of roots into the medium. Seedlings with uniform root lengths were transferred onto the surface of Alcontaining exposure medium and control medium in petri plates. Control medium contained no Al (0  $\mu$ M) whereas exposure medium contained 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. Based on a preliminary experiment, differences in root elongation were detectable after exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> only. Therefore, exposure media containing 100  $\mu$ M and 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> were included only for the purpose of photographs. Each plate contained 10 seedlings. To

compare seven genotypes (including WT) under control and treatment condition (0  $\mu$ M and 150  $\mu$ M) a total of 56 plates were used (7 genotypes x 2 concentrations x 4 replicates = 56 plates). I marked the position of root tip after every 24 h for 72 h and photographed the plates after 7 days of exposure. Differences in root lengths were calculated for WT and all six *per* mutants for three time points (0-24 h, 24-48 h, 48-72 h) under both control and treatment conditions. For statistical analysis, root lengths were averaged for each plate. A two-way ANOVA was used to test for differences between genotypes, concentration of Al, and the genotype x Al interaction, and a Tukey pairwise multiple comparison was used to identify differences in means using Sigma Stat ver. 3.5. For plants grown for 7 days, root lengths of plants grown under control conditions could not be measured as roots elongated and accumulated at the bottom of plates. Root lengths for plants grown under Al stress were analyzed by one-way ANOVA to test for significant effects due to genotype. All plates were photographed and images were processed in Photoshop to remove square-patterned background of petri-plates. Precise measurements of root elongations were calculated using ImageJ software.

To measure leaf areas of primary leaves, rosette leaves were cut from one representative plant from each plate and spread between two glass slides. The slides were scanned using Cannon Scan LiDE90 and resulting images were processed in Photoshop to measure the leaf area using ImageJ software.

For dry weight analyses, plants were grown in hydroponics (as described previously; Kumari *et al.* 2008) for 14 d and were exposed to Al treatment for 7 d. Exposure solutions contained 0 or 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> at pH 4.33. Two control and two treatment tanks used to collect root tissue. Therefore, a total of 28 tanks were used (2 treatment x 2 control x 7 genotypes = 28 tanks). After 7 d of exposure, the two longest roots were selected from 100 plants and pooled for dry weight measurement from each of control (0  $\mu$ M) and treatment (25  $\mu$ M) for WT and all *per* mutants. Dry weights were estimated by drying whole plants for 3 days in a hot air oven set at 65° C.

#### 4.2.4. Isolation of RNA and QRT-PCR

To detect the transcript abundance pattern of selected PER genes at time points between 1 h and 48 h following A1 exposures, I used QRT-PCR. Root tissues from more than 120 plants from three independently maintained hydroponic tanks were pooled together to comprise one replicate. In total, three replicates were used. For a single replicate, 54 tanks were used (3 control x 3 treated x 6 time point = 54 tanks). For three replicates a total of 162 tanks (54 tanks x 3 replicate = 162 tanks) were used for six time points (1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h and 48 h ).

Total RNA was isolated using a silica membrane-based RNA isolation kit (Qiagen). QRT-PCR primers were designed using PrimerExpress 2.0 software (Applied Biosystems). The specificity of each primer pair was checked against the Arabidopsis genome using WU- BLAST 2.0 (<u>http://www.Arabidopsis.org/wublast/index2.jsp</u>). The primer sequences were as follows:

PER2 (At1g05250) F'GATGCCGTGGCAGTGAT,

R'CTTTATGTCGGCGAAAGGAG;

PER27 (At3g01190) F: ACTCGGAGTACGCCGCTAAG, R:

TTGAAACTCCCCGGATCCA;

PER34 (At3g49120) F: CTAGCCCCAATGCCACTGA, R:

GCCTCCACAAATGCATTGAA;

PER62 (At5g39580) F: TTTCCTTGGCATCGAACGTT, R:

AGGCGAAAAGCGGAGAATTT;

PER69 (At5g64100) F: CTCTTGTTGGCGGACACA, R:

GTCGATTGATGGGTCAGGTT;

# UBC (At5g25760) F: CTTAACTGCGACTCAGGGAAT, R:

#### GGCGAGGCGTGTATACATTT.

All RNA samples were treated with DNA*free* (Ambion). I quantified cDNAs in an Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-Time PCR System, with a SYBR green dye detection assay, and ROX passive reference, in 10 µl reactions as follows: Stage 1, 1 cycle at 95° C for 2 min; Stage 2, 40 cycles at 95° C for 0.15 min and 60° C for 1 min; Stage 3, 95.0° C for 0.15 min; Stage 4, 60.0° C for 1 min; and Stage 5, 95.0° C for 0.15 min. C<sub>t</sub> values generated for each primer pair set over a range of dilutions were used to calculate the  $\Delta C_t$ (C<sub>t</sub> target – C<sub>t</sub> reference).  $\Delta C_t$  values were then plotted against log input amount. If the slope of the  $\Delta C_t$  vs. log input was < 0.1 then the relative abundance of each transcript was estimated using the  $\Delta \Delta C_t$  (Livak and Schmittgen 2001).

# 4.3. Results

To validate and extend the results of my previous microarray analysis, I selected seven PER genes for analysis by QRT-PCR: *PER2, PER24, PER27, PER34, PER56, PER62,* and *PER69.* These were selected to represent different patterns of transcript abundance (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008; Fig. 4.4). Due to high sequence similarities among closely related *PER* genes, I could not amplify a homogenous product using primers for either *PER24* or *PER56* (data not shown). Therefore, only five genes (*PER2, PER27, PER34, PER62, and PER69*) were suitable for QRT-PCR. In addition, I selected ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (*UBC*; At5g25760) as a reference gene (Czechowski *et al.* 2005) and confirmed its stable transcript abundance pattern in root tissue from eight independent samples collected after 6 and 48 h exposures.

To detect dynamic changes in transcriptome with greater temporal resolution than the two time points (6 and 48 h) selected for microarrays, I exposed roots of Arabidopsis to 1, 3, 6, 12, 24, and 48 h of Al treatment in hydroponic culture. I measured transcript abundance in three biologically independent samples for each time point using QRT-PCR. I detected changes in the transcript abundance for all five selected peroxidases, with changes detected as early as 1 h (Fig. 4.4). Furthermore, *PER2*, *PER27*, and *PER69* showed similar patterns, as transcripts for each of these genes increased in abundance after 1 h, 3 h, and 6 h, but decreased after 24 h, and 48 h. In general, transcript abundance of all selected PERs increased after 1 h and then decreased after 48 h, except for *PER62*.

I compared the protein sequences and transcript expression patterns of each of the five PER genes and found that sequence identity was not correlated with similarity in expression pattern. For example, despite 78% amino acid identity, the transcript expression pattern of *PER62* and *PER69* were less (Fig. 4.1, Fig. 4.4).

I further compared the identities in the upstream sequence and amino acid sequence of each PER gene with the transcript abundance pattern (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008) using the published phylogenetic data (Tognolli *et al.* 2002, Cosio and Dunand 2009). For example, *PER27* and *PER56* genes have a close phylogenetic relationship based on upstream sequence (Fig. 4.2; Cosio and Dunand 2009) as well as amino acid sequence (Fig. 4.1; Tognolli *et al.* 2002). Both genes also showed increased transcript abundance after 6 h and 48 h of Al stress; respectively (Table 4.2). This may suggest that both genes arose due to a recent gene duplication event (Tognolli *et al.* 2002) as minimal diversification of expression pattern and amino acid was observed. On the other hand, *PER50* and *PER56* also have a close phylogenetic relationship in their upstream sequences but displayed opposite transcript abundance patterns (*PER50* decreased whereas *PER56* increased in transcript abundance after Al exposure) and diverged widely at the level of amino acid sequence (Fig. 4.1). This may suggest functional diversification of *PER50* and *PER56* and also supports a previous analysis that conservation of upstream sequences is independent of coding sequences (Chiba *et al.* 2008). A population genetic theory suggests that most duplicate gene pairs revert to a single copy on a short evolutionary timescale, however, pairs that are retained are likely to have at least partially diverged in function (Lynch and Conery 2000). Also, Haberer *et al.* (2004) estimated that twothirds of duplicate gene pairs had divergent expression in Arabidopsis. Thus, it is not surprising to observe functional diversification within large gene family of Class III peroxidase (Passardi *et al.* 2005) and the diversity of expression patterns within these closely related members (Kumari *et al.* 2008).

# 4.3.1. Comparison of root elongation of WT and *per* mutants after aluminum treatment

To identify the role of peroxidases in root elongation, I used a reverse genetics approach, focusing my attention on *PER2*, *PER21*, and *PER69*, because two different T-DNA insertion mutants were available for each these genes. According to previous microarray based gene expression map of Arabidops is development (Birnbaum *et al.* 2003) transcripts of two of these (*PER2* and *PER69*) are expressed primarily in roots and the other (*PER21*) is expressed in both roots and shoots (Fig. 4.5; Winter *et al.* 2007). Specifically, *PER2* is expressed in root epidermis and the stele whereas *PER69* is strongly expressed in both epidermal atrichoblasts and the stele, but weekly expressed in epidermis, endodermis and cortex tissue (Fig. 4.5)

I obtained T-DNA insertion lines for *per* mutants and named them *per2-a*, *per2-b*, *per21-a*, *per21-b*, *per69-a*, and *per69-b*. I examined sequences flanking the T-DNA in each line (Fig. 4.6). For *per2-a*, the insertion was located in an intron whereas for *per2-b* the insertion was located in the exon. For both *per21-a* and *per21-b* the insertions were

located in separate exons. For *per 69-a* mutant the insertion was in exon and for *per69-b* the insertion was in upstream sequence.

I grew plants to the  $T_6$  generation and confirmed the inheritance of a homozygous insertion (data not shown) by PCR on genomic DNA using primers specific for T-DNA and each respective gene (as described in chapter 3, Fig. 3.7).

Seedlings were grown on vertical agar plates to detect differences in root elongation between WT and six *per* mutants after exposure to Al (0  $\mu$ M, 100  $\mu$ M, 150  $\mu$ M and 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>). Detectable differences in root length increments were observed after exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. Exposure to this concentration resulted in complete inhibition of elongation of primary roots after 3 days of exposure. A two way ANOVA indicated a significant effect due to genotype (p< 0.001), concentration of Al (p< 0.001), and the genotype x Al interaction (p< 0.001). Mean root lengths of WT plants grown on 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> were 37% (± 1.2 standard error) of those grown under control conditions (Fig. 4.7). Comparison between the genotypes showed that only two *per* mutants, namely *per21-a*, and *per69-b* were significantly different from WT. These mutants showed greater primary root length than WT (44% ± 1.3 and 47% ± 1.7 respectively; Fig. 4.7, Fig. 4.9a).

Although primary root elongation stopped after 3 d of exposure to Al, lateral roots continued to elongate in some circumstances. Considering primary and lateral roots together, differences in total root lengths were more apparent when *per* mutants were compared with WT after 7 d of exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 4.8, 4.9b). Under these conditions, a one way ANOVA indicated that all *per* mutants except for *per2-a* showed significant increases in total root lengths (Fig. 4.9b). The differences between WT and *per* mutants were observed only after exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> and not after exposure to 100 or 200  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 4.8).

To determine whether any of the *per* mutations affected biomass accumulation under Al stress, I measured dry weights of roots from WT and mutant plants exposed to 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> for 7 days in hydroponic culture. No differences in dry weight were observed when *per* mutants were compared to WT plants after exposure to Al (data not shown).

# 4.3.2. Inhibition of leaf area expansion

Shoot growth of WT and *per* plants was significantly inhibited by treatment with 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Fig. 4.10, Fig. 4.11). I calculated percent decrease in leaf area in treated plants as compared to untreated controls, but observed no significant (p=0.760) differences in leaf area for any of the mutants when compared to WT.

# 4.4. Discussion

The large PER gene family in Arabidopsis is proposed to have arisen through gene duplication (Tognolli 2002, Cosio and Dunand 2009). *PERs* have been implicated in a number of functions in plants and extensive duplication may have allowed for functional diversification. Recently, in maize, Maron *et al.* (2008) also observed differential abundance of transcripts encoding peroxidases after exposure to Al. Alignment of Al-induced maize probe sequences with the Al-induced Arabidopsis transcripts I reported earlier, identified a single PER (*PER27*) as one of the several genes found common to both datasets (Kumari *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008).

Although it is evident that PER genes do play an important role in abiotic stresses (Klok *et al.* 2002, Llorente *et al.* 2002, Hammond *et al.* 2003, Kang *et al.* 2004), their specific cellular functions remain unknown (Cosio and Dunanad 2009). Root elongation for most *per* mutants after 3 d exposure to Al was not significantly different from WT,

except for *per21-a*, and *per69-b*. Although root elongation in both *per21-a*, and *per69-b* was less affected by Al than WT, other alleles of these genes (*per21-b* and *per69-a*) did not show any difference as compared to WT. I looked closely at the positions of T-DNA insertions to see whether these could explain these observed phenotypic differences. Interestingly, *PER21* gene has two gene models owing to two mRNA splice variants. These two splice variants arise depending on whether first exon is spliced out or not. In *per21-b*, the T-DNA insertion is in the first exon, whereas in *per21-a* insertion is in the second exon (Fig. 4.6) which is retained irrespective of alternative splicing. Since the insertional effect of mutation in *per21-a* mutant line was independent of splicing, it is possible that this could be a reason that *per21-b*. Reverse transcriptase -PCR and sequencing would help to determine whether under Al stress *PER21* actually undergoes alternate splicing. Also, in the case of *per69-a* the T-DNA insertion was in an exon and in *per69-b* the insertion was in sequence upstream of 5'UTR. Thus differences observed between *per69-a* and *per69-b* could be due to a positional effect of T-DNA insertion.

All *per* mutants (except *per2-a*) had greater total root lengths compared to WT after 7 d of exposure. Why most mutants exhibited a significant response to long-term stress (attributed to growth of lateral roots), but not after short- term stress (attributed to growth of primary roots) is intriguing. This could indicate some benefit of reduced abundance of peroxidases after a long period of stress. For instance, *PER2* and *PER69* had reduced abundance of transcripts after 48 h exposure as compared to shorter exposure periods 1 h, 3 h, and 6 h (Fig. 4.4). Although I did not measure transcript abundance of *PER2*, *PER21* and *PER69* genes beyond 48 h exposure, it appears that reduced transcript abundance of these PERs in respective *per* mutants is favourable under prolonged

exposure to Al stress because *per* mutants showed increased root elongation as compared to WT.

Also, it was interesting that although *per2-a*, and *per2-b* have insertion mutations in the same gene, each allele had a different response to long term exposure to Al. I examined sequences flanking the T-DNA in each line (Fig. 4.6). For per2-a, the T-DNA insertion was located in an intron; whereas for *per2-b*, the insertion was in an exon (assuming that the predicted insertion sites are accurate; Fig. 4.6). While T-DNA insertion in introns might not be expected to impact function of genes, the impact on gene expression is complicated to predict. For instance, aberrant transcriptional termination and/or inappropriate intron processing due to insertion in an intron can affect function of a gene (Bennetzen *et al.* 1984). On the other hand, if insertion does not disrupt *cis* elements involved in intron processing, then they can be spliced out of the transcript together with the introns (Miesak and Coruzzi 2002, Gusmaroli et al. 2007, and Xu et al. 2007). Splicing out of T-DNA contained in introns has been suggested be a widely occurring phenomenon (Ulker et al. 2008). Nonetheless, excision of the T-DNA sequences does not occur with equal efficiency in various mutant lines and efficiency has been reported to be always less compared to non-inserted introns of WT plants. This may lead to expression level of these mutants ranging from null mutants to WT (Ulker et al. 2008). Although I did not measure the transcript abundance of *PER2* gene in *per2-a* and *per2-b* mutant lines, it is possible that the T-DNA insertion in the intron was spliced out (with undertermined efficiency) resulting in WT like phenotype of per2-a mutant plants under Al stress. Thus, the differences observed between *per2-a* and *per2-b* could be due to the position of the T-DNA insertion.

In summary, comparisons between WT and *per* roots showed that after a short period of treatment (3 d), only *per21-a*, and *per69-b* were significantly more resistant to

Al than WT; whereas after long term exposure (7 d) most *per* mutants (except *per2-a*) were more resistant. Two alternative theories may explain why a *per* mutant could have longer roots as compared to WT after exposure to Al. First, reduced peroxidase activity could result in decreased cross-linking of cell wall components (such as linking arabinoxylans by diferulic acid bridges) or reduced lignification, thus enhancing the cell wall extensibility. Secondly, perhaps reduced peroxidase activity may decrease peroxidasemediated catabolism of growth promoting hormones (such as auxin; Kawano 2003), thus affecting root elongation (Cosio *et al.* 2009). Also, since lateral root meristem activation and elongation are dependent on auxin (Peret *et al.* 2009) it is possible that reduced activities of peroxidases perhaps result in decreased degradation of auxin and hence increased elongation of lateral roots. The role of peroxidase in modification of cell walls and elongation of primary or lateral roots correlate with the observation that most PERs are secreted proteins, have an affinity for pectin *in vivo* (Shah *et al.* 2004) which facilitates the distribution of these proteins within the cell wall network.

Analysis of root elongation data and QRT-PCR data suggests that decreased abundance of PERs (*PER2*, *PER21*, and *PER69*) is favorable in roots exposed to Al stress. Although roots of WT plants showed decreased abundance of PERs (detected by QRT-PCR) after 48 h exposure Al, the decreases are expected to be many fold more in *per* mutants, thus resulting in a resistant phenotype. Notably, stronger expression of both the root specific genes (*PER2* and *PER69*) has been reported in stele tissue (Fig. 4.5; Birnbaum *et al.* 2003). Recently, higher accumulation of  $H_2O_2$  in stele and decreased activity of peroxidase has been shown in roots exposed to NaCl (Hernandez *et al.* 2009). This study proposed that higher accumulation of  $H_2O_2$  in treated plants could be due in part to decreased activity of peroxidases. Previously, PERs have been proposed to decrease abundance of  $H_2O_2$  (Hiraga *et al.* 2001). It would therefore be interesting to study  $H_2O_2$  levels in *per* mutants exposed to Al stress. Though  $H_2O_2$  can be a source of oxidative stress, it is also been shown to be beneficial by acting as a signaling molecule (Wood *et al.* 2003). The burst of  $H_2O_2$  used for signaling can then be regulated (to prevent programmed cell death) by antioxidant system involving ascorbate peroxidases and GSTs (Wood *et al.* 2003) both of which were found differentially abundant after Al stress (Chapter 3, Table 3.2 and 3.3).

In conclusion, this study provides the evidence that activity of specific peroxidases, regulated in part by their transcript abundance, influences the resistance to Al in roots of Arabidopsis.

Table 4.1. Classification of peroxidases.

Super-family	Class	Member	EC number	Origin	Molecular weight (kDa)
Animal peroxidases		Eosinophill peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.7	Animal	50-75
		Lactoperoxidase	EC 1.11.1.7	Animal	78–85
		Myeloperoxidase	EC 1.11.1.7	Animal	79–150
		Thyroid peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.7	Animal	90–110
		Glutathione peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.9	Animal and plant	6-22 75-112
		Prostaglandin endoperoxide EC 1.14.99.1 Animal synthase		115–140	
Catalases		Catalase	EC 1.11.1.6	Animal, plant, fungus and yeast	140–530
Plant peroxidases	Ι	Cytochrome $c$ peroxidase EC 1.11.1.5 Ye		Yeast and bacterium	32–63
		Catalase-peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.6	Bacterium and fungus	150-240
		Ascorbate peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.11	Plant	30–58
	ΙΙ	Manganese-dependent peroxidase	EC 1.11.1.13	Fungus	43–49
		Ligninase	EC 1.11.1.14	Fungus	40-43
	III	Peroxidase (PER)	EC 1.11.17	Plant	28-60

Table 4.2. All genes from the Class III plant peroxidase family that showed increased or decreased abundance at the transcript level after exposure to 6 h and 48 h aluminum treatments. The transcript abundance pattern dissected into 1.5 fold or 2.0 fold increase or decrease is labeled accordingly in the columns. Genes selected for further analysis are shown in bold.

AGI	Gene name	6 h UP 1.5	6 h UP 2.0	6 h DN 1.5	6 h DN 2.0	48h UP1.5	48 h UP 2.0	48 h DN 1.5	48 h DN 2.0	Root specificity
AT1G05250	PER2	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	Yes
AT2G37130	PER21	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	Roots, flower, stem, senescent leaves
AT2G39040	PER24	-	-	-	-	-	-	Y	Y	Yes
AT3G01190	<b>PER27</b>	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	Y	-	Yes
AT3G49120	PER34	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	Most stages of development
AT4G21960	PER42	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Most stages of development
AT4G30170	PER45	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	Yes
AT4G36430	<i>PER49</i>	-	-	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	Yes
AT4G37520	PER50	-	-	Y	-	-	-	-	-	Seeds, siliques, roots
AT5G15180	PER56	-	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-	Seeds, siliques, roots
AT5G19890	PER59	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Yes
AT5G39580	PER62	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	Y	Y	24h imbibed seed and root
AT5G42180	PER64	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	No (stem)
AT5G64100	PER69	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	Yes
AT5G67400	PER73	Y	Y	-	-	-	-	-	-	Yes

Figure 4.1. Phylogenetic tree of the encoded protein sequences of Arabidopsisperoxidases. Scale at the bottom represents ten substitutions per 100 amino acid residues.Boxes highlight duplications events (modified from Tognolli *et al.* 2002).



Figure 4.2. Phylogenetic tree of the promoter sequences of Arabidopsis peroxidases (modified from Cosio and Dunand 2009) based on the 1,000 bp regions upstream of the ATG codon. All branches are to the scale and the scale bar represents 0.05 substitutions. Protein sequence homology and identity (%) to the Horse Radish Peroxidase-C amino acid sequence is shown next to the peroxidase name. Circles highlight the 15 PER genes that were found Al-responsive in my microarrays (Kumari *et al.* 2008, chapter 2) and green circles highlight five PER genes whose expression was confirmed using QRT-PCR.



Figure 4.3. Distribution and overlapping pattern of 15 distinct *PER* genes after exposure to aluminum for 6 h and 48 h. Out of a total 73 peroxidase genes, 32 were detected above background and 15 distinct *PERs* were identified as Al responsive. Seven *PER* genes, selected for further analysis of their role in Al stress, are labeled accordingly. These genes were selected to represent diverse transcript abundance patterns observed in my microarrays (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008).



Figure 4.4. The time course of changes in relative transcript abundance of five class III peroxidases in roots of Arabidopsis exposed to 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>.



Figure 4.5. Localization of expression for *PER2*, *PER21*, and *PER69* based on data from Birnbaum *et al.* (2003) presented in eFP format (modified from Winter *et al.* 2007). The red color represents the expression in the specific tissue layers. The *PER2* and *PER69* are both root-specific peroxidases, whereas *PER21* is expression in both roots (epidermal atrichoblast cells) and shoots. *PER2* is expressed only in root epidermis and the stele whereas *PER69* is strongly expressed in both epidermal atrichoblasts and the stele, but weekly expressed in epidermis, endodermis and cortex tissue. Stage number is given for the distance from the root tip. Stage 1 is 0.15 mm from root tip, whereas stage 2 and 3 is 0.30 mm, and 0.45 to 2 mm from root tip; respectively.



Figure 4.6. Location of T-DNA insertions in six *per* mutants of Arabidopsis. The exact location of T-DNA inserts are not certain and could be a maximum of 300 bp from the predicted site. Position of the PER gene on chromosome is highlighted in yellow. Gene model is shown in blue, where dark blue rectangle represent exon and light blue rectangles represents 5'UTR. The thin

lines joining the exons represent introns. The light blue arrow represents a 3' UTR containing termination sequence or polyA site.



Figure 4.7. Root lengths of *Arabidopsis thaliana* expressed as percent of control for WT and six *per* mutants after exposure to aluminum. The percentage values were calculated as {root length increment after 3 days exposure to 150  $\mu$ M} / {root length increment after 3 days growth in 0  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>} x 100. A two way ANOVA indicated a significant effect due to genotype (p< 0.001), concentration of Al (p< 0.001), and the genotype x Al interaction (p< 0.001). Only two *per* mutants (*per21-a*, and *per69-b*) were significantly different from WT after exposure to Al (\*: p<0.05).



Figure 4.8. Growth of WT and mutant plants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* after exposure to different concentrations of aluminum for seven days. Differences in the root lengths of WT and *per* mutants were scored for 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. Most of the *per* mutants (except for *Per2-a*) showed greater increases in root elongation compared to WT after exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>.



Figure 4.9. Root length increment of WT and six *per* mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* after exposure to 150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>. a) Total root length increment of WT and mutants after 3

days of exposure to Al. Root lengths of most of *per* mutants (except for *per21-a* and *per69-b*) were not significantly different from WT. b) Total root length increment of WT and mutants after 7 days of exposure to Al. Root lengths of all *per* mutants except *per2-a* 



Figure 4.10. Shoot growth of WT and mutant plants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* under control (0  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>) and treatment conditions (150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>).



Figure 4.11. Effect of aluminum treatment on the surface area of first rosette leaves of WT and six *per* mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Exposure to aluminum (150  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub>) resulted in significant (\*:<0.05) decreases in leaf area of WT and *per* mutants.



- Abercrombie JM, Halfhill MD, Ranjan P, Rao MR, Saxton AM, Yuan JS, Stewart CN Jr. (2008) Transcriptional responses of *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants to As (V) stress. BMC Plant Biol 8:87
- Bennetzen JL, Swanson J, Taylor WC, Freeling F (1984) DNA insertion in the first intron of maize Adhl affects message levels: Cloning of progenitor and mutant Adhl alleles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81: 4125-28
- Bindschedler LV, Dewdney J, Blee KA, Stone JM, Asai T, Plotnikov J, Denoux C, Hayes T, Gerrish C, Davies DR, Ausubel FM, Bolwell GP (2006) Peroxidasedependent apoplastic oxidative burst in Arabidopsis required for pathogen resistance. Plant J 47:851-63
- Birnbaum K, Shasha DE, Wang JY, Jung JW, Lambert GM, Galbraith DW, BenfeyPN (2003) A gene expression map of the Arabidopsis root. Science 302: 1956-60
- Bolwell GP, Bindschedler LV, Blee KA, Butt VS, Davies DR, Gardner SL, Gerrish C, Minibaye va F (2002) The apoplastic oxidative burst in response to biotic stress in plants: a three-component system. J Exp Bot 53:1367-76
- Cosio C, Dunand C (2009) Specific functions of individual class III peroxidase genes. J Exp Bot 60:391-08
- Chiba H, Yamashita R, Kinoshita K, Nakai K (2008) Weak correlation between sequence conservation in promoter regions and in protein-coding regions of human-mouse orthologous gene pairs BMC Genomics 9:152
- Czechowski T, Stitt M, Altmann T, Udvardi MK, Scheible WR (2005) Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 139:5-17
- Gajhede M, Schuller DJ, Henriksen A, Smith AT, Poulos TL (1997) Crystal structure of horseradish peroxidase C at 2.15 A resolution. Nat Struct Biol 4:1032-38
- Gazaryan IG, Lagrimini LM, Ashby GA, Thorneley RN (1996) Mechanism of indole-3-acetic acid oxidation by plant peroxidases: anaerobic stopped-flow spectrophotometric studies on horseradish and tobacco peroxidases. Biochem J 313:841-47
- **Gusmaroli G, Figueroa P, Serino G, and Deng XW** (2007) Role of the MPN subunits in COP9 signalosome assembly and activity, and their regulatory interaction with Arabidopsis Cullin3-based E3 ligases. Plant Cell **19**:564-81
- Haberer G, Hindemitt T, Meyers BC, Mayer KF (2004) Transcriptional similarities, dissimilarities, and conservation of cis-elements in duplicated genes of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 136:3009–22
- Hammond JP, Bennett MJ, Bowen HC, Broadley MR, Eastwood DC, May ST, Rahn C, Swarup R, Woolaway KE, White PJ (2003) Changes in gene expression in Arabidops is shoots during phosphate starvation and the potential for developing smart plants. Plant Physiol 132:578-96
- Hernandez M, Fernandez-Garcia N, Diaz-Vivancos P, Olmos E (2009) A different role for hydrogen peroxide and the antioxidative system under short and long salt stress in *Brassica oleracea* roots. J Exp Bot **61**:521-35
- Hiraga S, Sæsaki K, Ito H, Ohashi Y, Matsui H (2001) A large family of class III plant peroxidases. Plant Cell Physiol 42:462-68
- Jiang Y, Deyholos MK (2006) Comprehensive transcriptional profiling of NaCl-stressed Arabidopsis roots reveals novel classes of responsive genes. BMC Plant Biol 6:25
- Kang JG, Pyo YJ, Cho JW, Cho MH (2004) Comparative proteome analysis of differentially expressed proteins induced by K<sup>+</sup> deficiency in *Arabidopsis thaliana*.

Proteomics 4:3549-59

- Kawano T (2003) Roles of the reactive oxygen species-generating peroxidase reactions in plant defense and growth induction. Plant Cell Rep 21:829-37
- **Kinraide TB, Parker DR** (1987) Cation amelioration of aluminum toxicity in wheat. Plant Physiol **83**:546-51
- Klok EJ, Wilson IW, Wilson D, Chapman SC, Ewing RM, Somerville SC, Peacock
  WJ, Dolferus R, Dennis ES (2002) Expression profile analysis of the low-oxygen response in Arabidopsis root cultures. Plant Cell 14:2481-94
- Kumari M, Taylor GJ, Deyholos MK (2008) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol Genet Genomics 279:339-57
- Li YY, Yang JL, Zhang YJ, Zheng SJ (2009) Disorganized distribution of homogalacturonan epitopes in cell walls as one possible mechanism for aluminium-induced root growth inhibition in maize. Ann Bot 104:235-41
- Liu G, Sheng X, Greenshields DL, Ogieglo A, Kaminskyj S, Selvaraj G, Wei Y (2005) Profiling of wheat class III peroxidase genes derived from powdery mildew-attacked epidermis reveals distinct sequence-associated expression patterns. Mol Plant Microbe Interact **18**:730-41
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods 25:402-08
- Llorente F, Lopez-Cobollo RM, Catala R, Martinez-Zapater JM, Salinas J (2002) A novel cold-inducible gene from Arabidopsis, RCI3, encodes a peroxidase that constitutes a component for stress tolerance. Plant J **32**:13-24
- Ludwikow A, Gallois P, Sadowski J (2004) Ozone-induced oxidative stress response in Arabidopsis: transcription profiling by microarray approach. Cell Mol Biol Lett 9:829-42

- Lynch M, Conery JS (2000) The evolutionary fate and consequences of duplicate genes. Science 290:1151-55
- Maron LG, Kirst M, Mao C, Milner MJ, Menossi M, Kochian LV (2008) Transcriptional profiling of aluminum toxicity and tolerance responses in maize roots. New Phytol 179:116-28
- Miesak BH and Coruzzi GM (2002) Molecular and physiological analysis of Arabidopsis mutants defective in cytosolic or chloroplastic aspartate aminotransferase. Plant Physiol **129**:650–60
- Nikiforova V, Freitag J, Kempa S, Adamik M, Hesse H, Hoefgen R (2003) Transcriptome analysis of sulfur depletion in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: interlacing of biosynthetic pathways provides response specificity. Plant J **33**:633-50
- Passardi F, Cosio C, Penel C, Dunand C (2005) Peroxidases have more functions than a Swiss army knife. Plant Cell Rep 24:255-65
- Peret B, Rybel BD, Casimiro I, Benkova E, Swarup R, Laplaze L, Beeckman T, Bennett MJ (2009) Arabidopsis lateral root development: an emerging story. Trends Plant Sci 14:399-08
- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Physiol **116**:409-18
- Schuller DJ, Ban N, Huystee RB, McPherson A, Poulos TL (1996) The crystal structure of peanut peroxidase. Structure 4:311-21
- Shah K, Penel C, Gagnon J, Dunand C (2004) Purification and identification of a Ca<sup>(2+)</sup>-pectate binding peroxidase from Arabidopsis leaves. Phytochemistry 65:307-12
- **Snowden KC, Richards KD, Gardner RC** (1995) Aluminum-induced genes (induction by toxic metals, low calcium, and wounding and pattern of expression in root tips).

Plant Physiol 107:341-48

- Tabuchi A, Matsumoto H (2001) Changes in cell-wall properties of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) roots during aluminum-induced growth inhibition. Physiol Plant 112:353-58
- **Tognolli M, Penel C, Greppin H, Simon P** (2002) Analysis and expression of the class III peroxidase large gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Gene **288**:129-38
- Ulker B, Peiter E, Dixon DP, Moffat C, Capper R, Bouche N, Edwards R, Sanders D, Knight H, Knight MR (2008) Getting the most out of publicly available T-DNA insertion lines. Plant J 56:665-77
- Weber M, Trampczynska A, Clemens S (2006) Comparative transcriptome analysis of toxic metal responses in Arabidopsis thaliana and the Cd(<sup>2+</sup>)-hypertolerant facultative metallophyte Arabidopsis halleri. Plant Cell Environ 29:950-63
- Welinder KG, Justesen AF, Kjaersgard IV, Jensen RB, Rasmussen SK, Jespersen HM, Duroux L (2002) Structural diversity and transcription of class III peroxidases from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Eur J Biochem 269:6063-81
- Winter D, Vinegar B, Nahal H, Ammar R, Wilson GV, Provart NJ (2007) An "electronic Fluorescent Pictograph" browser for exploring and analyzing largescale biological data sets. PLoS One 2:e718
- Wood ZA, Poole LB, Karplus PA (2003) Peroxiredoxin evolution and the regulation of hydrogen peroxide signaling. Science 300:592-4
- Xu XM, Rose A, Muthus wamy S, Jeong SY, Venkatakrishnan, S, Zhao Q, Meier I (2007) NUCLEAR PORE ANCHOR, the Arabidopsis homolog of Tpr/Mlp1/Mlp2/ Megator, is involved in mRNA export and SUMO homeostasis and affects diverse aspects of plant development. Plant Cell **19**:1537-48
- Yang JL, Li YY, Zhang YJ, Zhang SS, Wu YR, Wu P, Zheng SJ (2008) Cell wall

polysaccharides are specifically involved in the exclusion of aluminum from the rice root apex. Plant Physiol **146**:602-11

## 5. General discussion and conclusions

Aluminum toxicity is a threat to plant productivity in acidic soils. To investigate molecular responses of plants to Al, I conducted a microarray-based transcriptome survey, and a 2-D electrophoresis-based proteomics survey of roots of Arabidopsis treated with 25  $\mu$ M AlCl<sub>3</sub> for 6 h and 48 h. Based on these results, I selected Class III peroxidases (PER) and malate dehydrogenase (MDH) for further characterization.

### 5.1. Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of Arabidopsis

Although microarrays have emerged as a widely accepted tool for transcript profiling, microarray technology has some inherent disadvantages. These include limited sensitivity, non-specific hybridization, labelling biases, auto-fluorescence, and detector noise. Also, oligo-microarrays can only measure the abundance of transcripts that are represented by a pre-defined number of probe sets printed on slides. Furthermore, oligoprobe sets are available for limited plant species thus limiting the choice of plant species to study microarrays analysis of stress responses.

Despite the comprehensive scale of information obtained, microarrays have made somewhat limited contributions to stress physiology (Deyholos 2010). This is largely due to inherent limits of transcriptomics in physiology because of extensive posttranscriptional regulation, which could account forthe weak correlations that have been reported between transcriptomic and proteomic responses to stress (Feng *et al.* 2009, Fu *et al.* 2009,Lee *et al.* 2009, Minic *et al.* 2009). Thus, results are often generalized and reported to match existing knowledge of stress physiology. Furthermore, the biology behind complex patterns of transcript abundance obtained within gene families is ignored or understated.

Even if microarrays accurately identify transcripts that increase or decrease in abundance, the data may not have direct functional relevance to stress. Decreased

abundance of transcripts may suggest that the gene product is no longer required under stress, however such changes in abundance could perhaps be a secondary effect arising from of changes upstream in a metabolic pathway (Jiang, Yang and Deyholos 2009). It is, therefore, necessary to validate interpretations of microsarry data functional analyses using knock-out mutants or over-expressing transgenic plants.

Despite these limitations, microarrays are still a widely accepted tool for transcript profiling. Its main strength lies in the simplicity of use and power to generate comprehensive gene expression data. Use of this technology has led to association of candidate genes to a biological phenomenon which would otherwise not have been obvious (Kubo *et al.* 2005). Also, microarrays have helped in better understanding of different forms of breast cancer and prognosis of disease (Weigelt *et al.* 2009). The technology is here to stay until the next generation of sequencing technologies (RNAseq) provide better sensitivity, abolish the requirement for pre-defined probe sets, and eliminate issues associated with cross hybridization (Morozova and Marra 2008). Further improvements that improve spatial resolution will increase the utility of transcriptomic data because relevant changes in gene expression within specific cells are often diluted by transcripts from surrounding cells.

In the current microarray study, the majority of Al-responsive transcripts were found to be associated with seven functional categories: oxidative stress responses, transporters, energy and primary metabolism, polysaccharide and cell wall metabolism, protein metabolism, signaling and hormones, and transcription factors.

I observed a broader range of statistically significant changes in transcript abundance after 48 h (1,114 genes) as compared to 6 h (401genes) of Al treatment. In this regard, my data contrast with most previously published microarray analyses of other abiotic stress responses, in which the bulk of transcriptomic changes were generally detected at early (e.g. 6 h) rather than later (e.g. 24 h, 48 h) intervals after the imposition of stress (Kreps et al. 2002, Wang et al. 2003, Jiang and Deyholos 2006). This suggests that treatment with Al imposes some unique challenges to plants that are reflected in the transcriptomic response. Furthermore, there was relatively little overlap in the complement of Al-responsive transcripts detected at each time point (Fig. 2.3). These two trends were conserved in each of the eight biologically independent samples that I analyzed at each time point, and also when comparisons were made for genes where transcript abundance changed by  $\geq$  1.5-fold or  $\geq$  2-fold following Al treatment. Because I detected hybridization signal intensities above background for an almost equal number of probes at each time point, the differences between 6 h and 48 h samples were not due to systematic biases in measurement. Thus, distinct sets of transcripts appear to be expressed following 6 h and 48 h of Altreatment. Also, Al stress affects a relatively small proportion of transcripts (e.g. ~3%, Kumari et al. 2008 and 1%, Goodwin and Sutter 2009 in Arabidopsis; ~2% in maize, Maron et al. 2008; ~4% in alfalfa, Chandran et al. 2008; and  $\sim 2\%$  in wheat, Houde and Diallo *et al.* 2008) when compared to microarray data from other abiotic stresses (Kreps et al. 2002, Jiang and Deyholos 2006).

My data appears to accurately represent the Al-responsive transcriptome, because of the reproducibility over eight independent replicates and good correlation between microarray and QRT-PCR data. However, I found differences between the pattern of gene expression I observed, and those observed in previous studies of Al stress. For example, although exudation of organic anions (OA) is a well known strategy for alleviating Al toxicity, I did not detect a significant increase in transcript abundance for any of the genes of the TCA cycle except for m-MDH. Neither did I observe a response in transcripts for Al-activated malate transporter (*ALMT1*; Sasaki *et al.* 2004). Other microarray-based studies have likewise failed to detect increased transcript abundance of *ALMT1*  (Chandran *et al.* 2008, Goodwin and Sutter 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008). In fact, this transcript has been found to be Al inducible only in wheat microarrays (Houde and Dillo 2008), although *ALMT1* is reported to be constitutively expressed in wheat (Sasaki *et al.* 2004). It is, however, reported to be abundant at both the transcript level (identified by Northern blots) and protein level in Arabidopsis (Hoenkenga *et al.* 2006) after exposure to Al. *In silico* analysis of the Arabidopsis genome indicate that *ALMTs* are encoded by gene families containing 14 members (Hoenkenga *et al.* 2006, Maron *et al.* 2008). Since not all *AtALMTs* are Al responsive (Hoenkenga *et al.* 2006), perhaps cross hybridization may have in part resulted in a failure to detect *ALMT* in microarray experiments. Some recently identified Al-resistance genes e.g. *ALS3* (Larsen *et al.* 2005) and *AtMATE* (Liu *et al.* 2009) are shown to impart resistance to Arabidopsis plants after exposure to Al. Although the respective probe for these genes were printed on my arrays, *ALS3* and *AtMATE* were not identified as Al-responsive due to poor signals intensities measured for these spots, resulting in their elimination for downstream statistical analysis.

Another interesting finding was related to oxidative stress, which is presumed to be a major component of Al stress (Richard *et al.* 1998, Basu *et al.* 2001, Yamamoto *et al.* 2002). My data displayed increased transcript abundance for only a small proportion of ROS network genes. The majority of these oxidative stress-related genes belonged to the multifunctional, Class III family of peroxidases (PERs) which can either generate ROS, or detoxify them (Passardi *et al.* 2005). Production of ROS via Al toxicity was shown to induce cell-death in wheat (Delisle *et al.* 2001) and barley (Simonovicova *et al.* 2004), and this process has been proposed to remove cells that accumulate Al and therefore serve as a mechanism of Al resistance (Delisle *et al.* 2001). Contrary to this conclusion, increasing evidence and critical analysis of previously available data suggest that oxidative stress and the induction of ROS-related transcripts is more likely a marker for Al sensitivity than resistance (Maron *et al.* 2008). When Al sensitive genotypes were used for transcript profiling, more transcripts related to oxidative stress were found to differentially abundant (Chandran *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008) compared to when resistant varieties were used (Kumari *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008).

#### 5.2. Proteome analysis of the aluminum stress response in roots of Arabidopsis

A survey of changes in the root proteome using DiGE (Differential in Gel Electrophoresis) was conducted to complement the microarray based transcriptome profile. DiGE has been used to identify proteins associated with stress and development processes in plants (Amme *et al.* 2006, Chivasa *et al.* 2006, Hotte and Deyholos 2008). I detected 55 proteins with statistically significant differences in protein abundance after 6 h exposure, and 26 proteins after 48 h exposure. Identities could only be assigned to 12 (6 h) and 17 (48 h) proteins using MS/MS. Most of the identified Al-responsive proteins were categorized into one of the two functional categories: primary metabolism and oxidative stress as reported previously in rice (Fakuda *et al.* 2007). Most of the identified oxidative stress related genes encoded GSTs. Interestingly, all GSTs identified in my proteomics data belonged to the Phi sub-family of GSTs, which is in contrast to my microarray data (Chapter 2; Kumari *et al.* 2008) where most of the GSTs (identified as Al responsive) belonged to the Tau sub-family. In first glance, data like these arising from microarray and proteomics based studies appear contradictory. But alternatively, it could be argued the benefits of two separate techniques to answer same biological question.

Several of the identified proteins have been previously reported to be Alresponsive at transcript, protein, or phenotypic level (Fukuda *et al.* 2007, Yang *et al.* 2007, Zhen *et al.* 2007, Kumari *et al.* 2008, Zhang *et al.* 2007). My data also identified novel Al responsive proteins, such as cyt-MDH. Only a few proteins detected as Alresponsive at protein level were also detected as Al-responsive at the level of transcript

207

(Chapter 2; Kumari et al. 2008). These included GST, methionine synthase, enolase, succinyl-CoA-ligase, m-MDH, and phosphoglycerate mutase. However, for most of the proteins identified as Al responsive, I did not observe similar changes at transcript level. Thus a poor correlation (6 h,  $r^2 = 0.155$ ; and 48 h,  $r^2 = 0.083$ ) was detected between my microarray data and proteomics data. Though not surprising (Gygi 1999, Tian et al. 2004, Jiang and Deyholos 2006), the poor correlation can arise due to several reasons, including post transcriptional regulation of gene expression. Other possible reasons include technological sensitivities such as cross hybridization in microarrays, bias against small or large proteins abundant at low levels in 2-DE, mRNA expression ratios (significant correlation expected when average fold change is greater than 3), and general errors such as sampling effects. By collecting root tissue at the same time for both the proteomics and microarray data, I should have minimized differences due to sampling effects. The weak correlation between transcript abundance and protein abundance illustrates how different techniques provide a useful source of independent information. For example microarrays alone helped me to identify PERs that might play a role in Al stress resistance and proteomics alone helped to me to identify that cyt-MDH may play a role in Al stress resistance.

Although peroxidases were differentially abundant at the transcript level, I failed to detect changes at the protein level using a 2D-gel electrophoresis technique. This could reflect (in part) the fact that some peroxidases are tightly bound to the cell wall (Dunand *et al.* 2002) or plasma membrane (Mika *et al.* 2008), both of which were removed while extracting the soluble protein fraction. Furthermore, several of these proteins have high isoe lectric point (e.g. PER27 has p*I* 9.4) resulting in poor resolution on my gels where p*I* range of first dimension was 3-10. Use of narrow ranges for first dimension IEF gels would definitely be helpful. An analysis of half life of these proteins might also explain

why most of the proteomics based studies fail to detect class III peroxidase despite the diverse functional attributes for these proteins.

As mentioned above, technological sensitivities such cross hybridization in microarrays may result in false differences when microarray and proteomics are compared. For instance, in the case of cyt-MDH, a decrease in the abundance of protein was detected after 6 h, which is in contrast to microarrays where an increase in abundance of transcript was detected. However, QRT-PCR (with three replicates) confirmed that cyt-MDH actually decreased as opposed to increases (as detected by microarrays) in transcript abundance after 6 h exposure. These data suggest that cyt-MDH is, regulated in part at the transcript level under conditions of Al stress, however, microarrays failed to detect this. Before drawing major conclusions based upon microarrays, it is important to confirm transcript abundance with more individual gene- sequence-specific techniques such as QRT-PCR.

I was interested in cyt-MDH because the role of this protein in organic acid exudation is unknown. Increased exudation of organic anions (Hayes and Ma 2003) by modulation of TCA cycle enzymes (Tesfye *et al.* 2001, Anoop *et al.* 2003) has been shown to increase Al resistance in plants. Increased abundance of proteins involved in OA synthesis suggests that increased flow of carbon to the TCA cycle is favored under Al stress. This is in contrast to inferences from transcript profiles (Chandran *et al.* 2008, Kumari *et al.* 2008, Maron *et al.* 2008) where transcript abundance for enzymes involved in organic anion (OA) synthesis enzymes remained unaffected (Hayes and Ma 2003). Therefore, it appears that OA synthesis via TCA cycle is generally regulated post transcriptionally.

In this study, the abundance of the cyt-MDH protein (detected by DiGE) and transcript (detected by QRT-PCR) first decreased, and then increased, after 6 h and 48 h

209

of exposure (respectively). Therefore, it was intriguing to explore role of cyt-MDH in more depth by measuring the activities of this enzyme after exposure to Al. The activities of cyt-MDH in total cytosolic fractions were higher in Al- treated plants compared to untreated controls for most of the time points. However, activities in cytosol enriched fractions decreased after 6 h exposure and then increased after 48 h exposure, a pattern that was consistent with changes at transcript abundance and protein abundance. Differences in the activities in two fractions could imply that total cytosolic fractions might contained membrane-bound proteins that had different activities compared to proteins in soluble fraction. Efraín Ramírez-Benítez *et al.* (2008) also reported decreased activity of cyt-MDH after exposure to Al.

My two DNA insertion lines for cyt-MDH were healthier than WT under Al stress. This observation was short-lived. Prolonged exposures (>2 weeks) to Al made *mdh-1* and *mdh-2* lines flower early and appeared stressed compare to WT. I confirmed the short-term data using a double layer agar assay, in which roots of WT plants did not penetrate the Al containing exposure medium while the roots of almost all *mdh* mutants grew into the exposure medium. This may suggest that mutants are more resistant to Al toxicity, or perhaps, in an alternative explanation, *mdh* mutants were slower to sense Al around the roots. Interestingly, cyt-MDH (At1g04410) maps close to a major Al-responsive quantitative trait loci (QTL; confirmed by personal communication from Dr. Hiroyuki Koyama) in Arabidopsis. This major Al resistant-QTL was found common in two independent studies (Kobayashi and Koyama 2002, and Hoekenga *et al.* 2003) using recombinant inbred lines (L.*er* x Col) by utilizing physiological mechanisms of resistance such as malate exudation and relative root growth.

# 5.3. Reverse genetics approach to identify role of Class III plant peroxidases under aluminum stress

I focused in the final part of my research on peroxidases because a large number of genes from Class III peroxidase family were differentially abundant after Al exposure and because of the interesting diversity in transcript abundance patterns that were detected within members of this family in my microarray data. Intriguingly, although a larger number of distinct transcripts were detected later (e.g. 48 h) than earlier (e.g. 6 h) in Al exposure, I observed a contrary pattern for peroxidases because more transcripts were differentially abundant after 6 h than 48 h exposure to Al.

QRT-PCR was used to validate the diverse transcript abundances of five peroxidases (PER2, PER27, PER34, PER62, and PER69) in a time course analysis after 1 h, 3 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, and 48 h exposure to Al. For most of the PERs, dynamic changes in transcript abundance were detected as early as 1 h with a decreased abundance after 48 h exposure. Although analysis of all published microarray data sets identified a limited number of genes as Al-responsive (as mentioned earlier), PERs were always represented in this small pool irrespective of the species and exposure conditions. This suggests that peroxidases may play an important in Al stress resistance. For comparison at the individual gene level, probe sequences printed on alfalfa, wheat, and maize microarrays were aligned (WU-BLAST) to identify putative orthologs in Arabidopsis. In maize, PER27 was one of 51genes (data not shown) found to be common between two studies. Also, *PER27* was found to be differentially abundant when sensitive and resistant varieties of maize were compared (Maron et al. 2008). Comparison to maize was particularly interesting because of a common time point (6 h) and the use of an Alresistant variety to detect transcriptome changes in control and treatment conditions for 50% of their microarray hybridizations. In alfalfa, *PER2* (common with my data)

decreased in abundance whereas *PER55* and *PER11* increased in abundance after exposure to Al (Chandran *et al.* 2008). In wheat, a gene with 59% identity to *PER15* increased in transcript abundance (Houde and Diallo 2008) after exposure to Al. When I blasted the given sequence (TC247326) with Arabidopsis TAIR sequences, it resulted in 59% identity to *PER12* rather than *PER15*. In any case, both *PER12* and *15* were not detected in my microarrays. In Arabidopsis, both *PER58* and *PER71* (mistakenly reported as *AtPOX 7* by authors) were reported to be decreased after Al exposure (Goodw in and Sutter 2009). In summary, two PERs namely *PER2* (Arabidopsis and alfalfa) and *PER27* (Arabidopsis and maize) were found common in at least two studies. Notably, both are root specific Class III peroxidases.

Interestingly, inhibition of root elongation correlates well with modifications in cell wall properties including reduced extensibility of cell walls (Tabuchi and Matsumoto 2001) and changes in distribution and content of cell wall polysaccharides such as pectin (Yang *et al.* 2008, Li *et al.* 2009). Peroxidases could form phenolic linkages in the wall consequently restricting cell growth (Cosio and Dunand 2009). Peroxidases reportedly have an indole-3-acetic acid oxidase activity as well (Gazaryan *et al.* 1996), and hence may control endogenous levels of auxin in the elongation zone (Cosio *et al.* 2009), resulting in regulation of root elongation through the catabolism of auxin in roots (Kawano 2003).

Encouraged by QRT-PCR data and a probable role of peroxidases is cell wall extensibility, I used a reverse genetics approach to determine whether knocking out PERs would have any effect on root elongation after exposure to Al. To test this hypothesis I selected *PER2*, *PER21*, and *PER69*, because two independent T-DNA insertions lines were available for each of these genes that I had previously found to be Al-responsive at the transcript level. Most *per* mutants studied exhibited a significantly greater root elongation after long-term stress (differences attributed to growth of lateral roots) but not after short-term (differences attributed to primary roots) as compared to WT. Detailed studies are required to determine if increased growth of lateral roots is a truly due to Al exposure (as opposed to technical problem of using surface for exposure in plates) because these results were not reproducible when primary rosette leaf area and dry weight measurements of *per* mutants were compared to WT. It would also be interesting to determine whether any differences exist in the accumulation of Al in lateral roots as compared to primary roots in these mutants. Two alternative theories may explain why most per mutants had longer roots as compared to WT after exposure to Al. First, reduced peroxidase activity could result in decreased cross-linking of cell wall components (such as linking arabino-xylans by diferulic acid bridges) or reduced lignification, thus enhancing the cell wall extensibility. Secondly, perhaps reduced peroxidase activity may decrease peroxidase-mediated catabolism of growth promoting hormones (such as auxin; Kawano 2003), thus affecting root elongation (Cosio et al. 2009). Most PERs are secretory proteins and some of the Arabidopsis peroxidases have an affinity for pectin in vivo (Shah et al. 2004). This attribute facilitates the distribution of these proteins within the cell wall network and could play a role in mediating changes in roots after exposure to stress.

Several different experimental designs can be applied to identify Al-responsive genes or proteins. For instance, one can compare sensitive and resistant genotypes, or stressed and unstressed tissues of the same genotype. I used an Al resistant genotype (Col- 0) to determine changes in transcript abundance. Maron *et al.* (2008) however, compared both sensitive and resistant genotypes of maize and also compared transcript abundance between stressed and control conditions in individual genotypes. Their data showed that substantially larger numbers of genes are differentially abundant at the

transcript level when sensitive and resistant genotypes were looked at individually as compared to when these responses were compared between the two. This indicates that different sets of genes are affected by Al in each genotype. For instance, more oxidat ive stress related genes were detected in the sensitive genotype than in a resistant genotype, suggesting that oxidative stress is probably a marker of toxicity as opposed to resistance. It appears that both strategies (i.e. comparisons between two genotypes and comparison within single genotypes) have their own limitations.

Irrespective of the genotypes used, one major problem with microarray-based or proteomics-based approaches is that both produce snapshots of changes at a particular time point. Since limited numbers of genes or proteins are expressed at a given time in a development stage, the use of several time points tightly spread over different developmental stages would help to better understand how plants cope with A1 toxic ity and resistance. Perhaps next generation sequencing (Ledford 2008) will make these experiments easier and more cost effective and would also sidestep some of the technical limitations of microarrays, such as their relatively low sensitivity.

In summary, this study: 1) provided a comprehensive dataset of Al-responsive genes and proteins in Arabidopsis; 2) suggested that oxidative stress, commonly associated with abiotic stresses, appears to be a marker of Al toxicity or injury; 3) showed that more genes and proteins are differentially regulated after long-term stress, indicating that Al injury could be more progressive over time; 4) provided evidence that the principle enzymes involved in organic acid synthesis in TCA cycle are not regulated at the level of transcription; 5) showed that protein abundance of cyt-MDH in response to Al treatment is regulated, in part, at the transcriptional level, and knocking out of the cyt-MDH gene results in resistance compared to WT after exposure to Al; and 6) showed that knocking out class III peroxidases result in less inhibition of root elongation after exposure to Al.

### 5.4. Future prospects

My proteomics and QRT-PCR data suggested that cyt-MDH may be regulated in part at the level of transcription. To test this hypothesis I would determine the time course of changes in protein abundance in response to Al stress using western blotting with cyt-MDH specific antibodies. This study would confirm abundance of cyt-MDH (independent of 2-D/ mass-spectrometry approach) and would help to clarify whether abundance of protein correlates with abundance of transcript (previously determined using QRT-PCR).

Furthermore, I proposed that one possible of role of cyt-MDH in response to Al is to fine tune malate exudation from roots by maintaining a pool of malate in cytosol through the action of cyt-MDH and malic enzyme. To test this hypothesis I would determine cytosolic and extracytosolic metabolite levels of malate in control and treated plants. The results would be analysed with the pattern of abundance of cyt-MDH protein obtained from time course western blotting. This experiment would help to understand if the differential abundance of cyt-MDH correlated with cytosolic and extra-cytosolic levels of malate. This would be an interesting experiment because although malate exudation is an accepted bonafide mechanism of Al stress resistance, the finer details of how cell regulate the pool of malate in cytosol has not been studied. There is a possibility that activities of cyt-MDH and/or the protein abundance may play a role in maintaining cytosolic pool of malate. Therefore, it would also be meaningful to measure activities of NAD dependent cyt-MDH. My enzyme activity data obtained from cytosol enriched fractions did not show much difference in the activity of cyt-MDH in response

to Al. I recognize that plant cells contain multiple iso-forms of MDH that differ in coenzyme specificity, sub-cellular localization and biological function. To differentiate the specific activities of Al responsive isoforms of cyt-MDH, a biochemical and genetic approach could be used. Zymograms have been used previously to differentiate different isoforms of malate dehydrogenase. Using a reverse genetics approach, measurement of cyt-MDH activities in T-DNA insertion mutants could help, however the redundancy within cyt-MDH isoforms might mean that observation of differences in activity is optimistic. Conceivably, use of double mutants could help to determine which isoform(s) is/are Al responsive. Personnel communications from Dr. Steven Smith (University of Western Australia) report that double mutants for NAD-dependent cyt-MDH are unhealthy compared to WT.

I also proposed that concomitant activities of cyt-MDH and cyt-ME together might help to generate NADPH by directing oxidation of malate either towards pyruvate synthesis. To test whether NADPH levels increase in response to Al, it would be interesting to determine NADPH levels after exposure to Al. This could be complicated due to the operation of the pentose phosphate pathway in roots, which generates NADPH (non-photosynthetically) in roots. The activity of cyt-MDH has been shown to be redoxregulated by formation of inactive homodimer which is activated by action of thioredoxin.

Decreased activities of peroxidases have recently been correlated with decreased cellular levels of  $H_2O_2$  and are postulated as a resistance mechanism in roots of Al resistant Melaleuca trees. This is in agreement with my Class III peroxidase (PER) mutant phenotype data. However, I did not measure the  $H_2O_2$  levels and peroxidase activity in roots. I could use Al resistant and sensitive ecotypes (*L.er*) of Arabidopsis and would measure  $H_2O_2$  levels and peroxidase activity in roots exposed to control and

treatment conditions. The diverse pattern of transcript abundance obtained for class III peroxidase was interesting, as was the fact that I could see phenotypes in single mutants. Previously, PER expression has been shown to be tissue-specific, however these data were from microarray analysis of protoplasts obtained from root tissue. To study the spatial and temporal expression pattern of peroxidases and to determine the upstream regulatory elements in selected Al-responsive peroxidases, I decided to fuse the PER promoter to reporter genes in the pCAMBIA 1303 vector. Due to time limitations, and my QRT data that suggested that PERs are down regulated after exposure to Al, this project was not completed. It would still be interesting to study the root-specific spatial expression for selected PERs. This can be done by fusion of 1kb upstream sequence to reporter gene or by using laser-capture-microdissection of specific root layer cells and performing gene specific QRT-PCR.

### 5.5. Literature cited

- Amme S, Matros A, Schlesier B, Mock HP (2006) Proteome analysis of cold stress response in Arabidopsis thaliana using DIGE-technology. J Exp Bot 57:1537-46
- Anoop VM, Basu U, McCammon MT, McAlister-Henn L, Taylor GJ (2003)

Modulation of citrate metabolism alters aluminum tolerance in yeast and transgenic canola overexpressing a mitochondrial citrate synthase. Plant Physiol **132**:2205-17

- Basu U, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Transgenic *Brassica napus* plants overexpressing aluminum-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminum. Plant Cell Environ 24:1269–78
- Chandran D, Sharopova N, Ivashuta S, Gantt JS, Vandenbosch KA, Samac DA (2008) Transcriptome profiling identified novel genes associated with aluminum toxicity, resistance and tolerance in *Medicago truncatula*. Planta **228**:151-66
- Chivasa S, Hamilton JM, Pringle RS, Ndimba BK, Simon WJ, Lindsey K, Slabas AR (2006) Proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins in fungal elicitor-treated Arabidopsis cell cultures. J Exp Bot 57:1553-62
- Cosio C, Dunand C (2009) Specific functions of individual class III peroxidase genes. J Exp Bot 60:391-08
- Cosio C, Vuillemin L, De Meyer M, Kevers C, Penel C, Dunand C (2009) An anionic class III peroxidase from zucchini may regulate hypocotyl elongation through its auxin oxidase activity. Planta **229**:823-36
- Delisle G, Champoux M, Houde M (2001) Characterization of oxalate oxidase and cell

death in Al-sensitive and tolerant wheat roots. Plant Cell Physiol 42:324-33

- **Deyholos M** (2010) Making the most of drought and salinity transcriptomics. Plant Cell Environ 33:648-54
- Dunand C, Tognolli M, Overney S, von Tobel L, De Meyer M, Simon P, Penel C (2002) Identification and characterisation of Ca<sup>2+-</sup>pectate binding peroxidases in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J Plant Physiol **159**:1165-71
- Gazaryan IG, Lagrimini LM, Ashby GA, Thorneley RN (1996) Mechanism of indole-3-acetic acid oxidation by plant peroxidases: anaerobic stopped-flow spectrophotometric studies on horseradish and tobacco peroxidases. Biochem J 313:841-47
- Fukuda T, Saito A, Wasaki J, Shinano T, Osaki M (2007) Metabolic alterations proposed by proteome in rice roots grown under low P and high A1 concentration under low pH. Plant Sci 172:1157–65
- Goodwin SB, Sutter TR (2009) Microarray analysis of Arabidopsis genome response to aluminum stress. Biol Plant 53:85-99
- **Gygi SP, Rochon Y, Franza BR, Aebersold R** (1999) Correlation between protein and mRNA abundance in yeast. Mol Cell Biol **19**:1720-30
- Hayes JE, Ma JF (2003) Al-induced efflux of organic acid anions is poorly associated with internal organic acid metabolism in triticale roots. J Exp Bot 54:1753-59
- Hoekenga OA, Vision TJ, Shaff JE, Monforte AJ, Lee GP, Howell SH, Kochian LV (2003) Identification and characterization of aluminum tolerance loci in Arabidopsis (*Landsberg erecta* x Columbia) by quantitative trait locus mapping. A physiologically simple but genetically complex trait. Plant Physiol 132:936-48
- Hoekenga OA, Maron LG, Pineros MA, Cancado GM, Shaff J, Kobayashi Y, Ryan PR, Dong B, Delhaize E, Sasaki T, Matsumoto H, Yamamoto Y, Koyama H,

**Kochian LV** (2006) AtALMT1, which encodes a malate transporter, is identified as one of several genes critical for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:9738-43

- Hotte NS, Deyholos MK (2008) A flax fibre proteome: identification of proteins enriched in bast fibres. BMC Plant Biology 8:52
- Houde M, Diallo AO (2008) Identification of genes and pathways associated with aluminum stress and tolerance using transcriptome profiling of wheat near-isogenic lines. BMC Genomics 9:400
- Jiang Y, Deyholos MK (2006) Comprehensive transcriptional profiling of NaCl-stressedArabidopsis roots reveals novel classes of responsive genes. BMC Plant Biology6:25
- Kawano T (2003) Roles of the reactive oxygen species-generating peroxidase reactions in plant defense and growth induction. Plant Cell Rep 21:829-37
- Kobayashi Y, Koyama H (2002) QTL analysis of Al tolerance in recombinant inbred lines of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Physiol 43:1526-33
- Kreps JA, Wu Y, Chang HS, Zhu T, Wang X, Harper JF (2002) Transcriptome changes for Arabidopsis in response to salt, osmotic, and cold stress. Plant Physiol 130:2129-41
- Kumari M, Taylor GJ, Deyholos MK (2008) Transcriptomic responses to aluminum stress in roots of Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Genet Genomics 279:339-57
- Larsen PB, Geisler MJB, Jones CA, Williams KM, Cancel JD (2005) ALS3 encodes a phloem-localized ABC transporter-like protein that is required for aluminum tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant J **41**:353-63
- Ledford H (2008) The death of microarrays? Nature 455:847
- Li YY, Yang JL, Zhang YJ, Zheng SJ (2009) Disorganized distribution of

homogalacturonan epitopes in cell walls as one possible mechanism for aluminium induced root growth inhibition in maize. Ann Bot **104**:235-41

Liu J, Magalhaes JV, Shaff J, Kochian LV (2009) Aluminum-activated citrate and malate transporters from the MATE and ALMT families function independently to confer Arabidopsis aluminum tolerance. Plant J **57**:389-99

Maron LG, Kirst M, Mao C, Milner MJ, Menossi M, Kochian LV (2008) Transcriptional profiling of aluminum toxicity and tolerance responses in maize roots. New Phytol 179:116-28

- Mika A, Buck F, Luthje S (2008) Membrane-bound class III peroxidases: identification, biochemical properties and sequence analysis of isoenzymes purified from maize (Zea mays L.) roots. J Proteomics 71:412-24
- Passardi F, Cosio C, Penel C, Dunand C (2005) Peroxidases have more functions than a Swiss army knife. Plant Cell Rep 24:255-65

Ramire z-Benite z JE, Chee-Gonzale z L, Hernande z-Sotomayor SM (2008) Aluminium induces changes in organic acids metabolism in *Coffea arabica* suspension cells with differential Al-tolerance. J Inorg Biochem **102**:1631-37

- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol **116**:409-18
- Sasaki T, Yamamoto Y, Ezaki B, Katsuhara M, Ahn SJ, Ryan PR, Delhaize E, Matsumoto H (2004) A wheat gene encoding an aluminum-activated malate transporter. Plant J **37**:645-53
- Shah K, Penel C, Gagnon J, Dunand C (2004) Purification and identification of a Ca<sup>(2+)</sup>-pectate binding peroxidase from Arabidopsis leaves. Phytochemistry 65:307-12

Šimonovičová M, Tamás L, Huttová J, Mistrík I (2004) Effect of aluminium on

oxidative stress related enzymes activities in barley roots. Biol Plantarum: **48**:261-66

- Tabuchi A, Matsumoto H (2001) Changes in cell-wall properties of wheat (Triticum aestivum) roots during aluminum-induced growth inhibition. Physiol Plant 112:353-58
- Tesfaye M, Temple SJ, Allan DL, Vance CP, Samac DA (2001) Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa enhances organic acid synthesis and confers tolerance to aluminum. Plant Physiol 127:1836-44
- Tian Q, Stepaniants SB, Mao M, Weng L, Feetham MC, Doyle MJ, Yi EC, Dai H,
  Thorsson V, Eng J, Goodlett D, Berger JP, Gunter B, Linseley PS, Stoughton
  RB, Aebersold R, Collins SJ, Hanlon WA, Hood LE (2004) Integrated genomic
  and proteomic analyses of gene expression in mammalian cells. Mol Cell
  Proteomics 3:960-69
- Wang H, Miyazaki S, Kawai K, Deyholos M, Galbraith DW, Bohnert HJ (2003) Temporal progression of gene expression responses to salt shock in maize roots. Plant Mol Biol 52:873-91
- Yamamoto Y, Kobayashi Y, Devi SR, Rikiishi S, Matsumoto H (2002) Aluminum toxicity is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and the production of reactive oxygen species in plant cells. Plant Physiol 128:63-72
- Yang JL, Li YY, Zhang YJ, Zhang SS, Wu YR, Wu P, Zheng SJ (2008) Cell wall polysaccharides are specifically involved in the exclusion of aluminum from the rice root apex. Plant Physiol 146:602-11
- Yang Q, Wang Y, Zhang J, Shi W, Qian C, Peng X (2007) Identification of aluminumresponsive proteins in rice roots by a proteomic approach: cysteine synthase as a key player in Al response. Proteomics 7:737-49

- Zhang J, He Z, Tian H, Zhu G, Peng X (2007) Identification of aluminium-responsive genes in rice cultivars with different aluminium sensitivities. J Exp Bot **58**:2269-78
- Zhen Y, Qi JL, Wang SS, Su J, Xu GH, Zhang MS, Miao L, Peng XX, Tian D, Yang YH (2007) Comparative proteome analysis of differentially expressed proteins induced by Al toxicity in soybean. Physiol Plant 131:542-54